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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS RELEVANT TO FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
FOR THE PURPOSE OF “SAFE HARBOR” AS DEFINED IN THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED,
AND THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED
This annual report on Form 10-K of Blue Dolphin Energy Company (referred to herein, with its predecessors and subsidiaries, as
“Blue Dolphin,” “we,” “us” and “our”) contains forward-looking statements that are based on management’s current expectations,
estimates and projections related to Blue Dolphin’s operations, the energy industry and other-related industries. Words such as
“expect,” “plan,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “project,” “estimate” and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking
statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and other
factors, some of which are beyond Blue Dolphin’s control and are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and results may
differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements. It is not possible to identify all of these
risks, uncertainties or assumptions. Among the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the
forward-looking statements are: realization of anticipated benefits of acquired operations; volatility of refining margins; market
acceptance of our refined products; performance of third-party operators; potential downtime for maintenance and repairs;
environmental costs and liabilities associated with our operations; related party transactions and ownership; continued declines in
throughput volumes and production rates from our U.S. Gulf of Mexico leasehold properties; our ability to offset revenue from one key
customer; our ability to generate sufficient funds from operations or obtain financing from other sources; changing crude oil or natural
gas prices; changes in reserve estimates; local and regional events that may negatively affect our assets; competition from larger
companies; acquisition opportunities; operating hazards; insurance coverage limitations; retention and recruitment of key employees;
compliance with environmental and other regulations; the effects of greenhouse gas emissions regulation; and the factors set forth
under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report, as well as disclosures made under the caption “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of this report. Other unpredictable or unknown factors not
discussed in this report could also have material adverse effects on forward-looking statements. The reader should not place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report. Unless legally required, Blue Dolphin
undertakes no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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PART I
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

On February 15 2012, we acquired Lazarus Energy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“LE”) pursuant to a merger that has
the potential to expand the size and scope of our business (the “Acquisition”). Except as otherwise noted, the description of our
business contained in this Item 1 refers to the business of Blue Dolphin and its consolidated subsidiaries on a pre-acquisition basis.
Further, the financial results contained in this report, which is for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2011, do not include
any results from our crude oil and condensate processing operations which we acquired as part of the Acquisition.
The Company
Blue Dolphin, a Delaware corporation formed in 1986, manages the investments and conducts the operations of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. At December 31, 2011, Blue Dolphin operated two lines of business through its subsidiaries: (i) pipeline transportation
services to producers/shippers and (ii) oil and gas exploration and production.
At December 31, 2011, Blue Dolphin’s subsidiaries were as follows:
•

Blue Dolphin Pipe Line Company, a Delaware corporation (“BDPL”) (pipeline operations);

•

Blue Dolphin Petroleum Company, a Delaware corporation (“BDPC”) (exploration and production activities);

•

Blue Dolphin Exploration Company, a Delaware corporation (inactive);

•

Blue Dolphin Services Co., a Texas corporation (administrative services); and

•

Petroport, Inc., a Delaware corporation (inactive).

Our principal executive office is located at 801 Travis Street, Suite 2100, Houston, Texas, 77002, and our telephone number is
(713) 568-4725. At December 31, 2011, we had five (5) full-time employees at locations in Freeport and Houston, Texas and
regularly used the services of one (1) consultant. Our common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”) is publicly traded
on the OTCQX U.S. Premier under the ticker symbol “BDCO” Our corporate website address is http://www.blue-dolphin.com.
Certain terms that are commonly used in the oil and gas industry, including terms that define our rights and obligations with respect to
our interests in properties, are defined in the “Glossary of Certain Oil and Gas Terms” of this report.
Recent Developments
Acquisition of Lazarus Energy, LLC (“LE”). As previously reported, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “PSA”) with
Lazarus Energy Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“LEH”) and LEH’s wholly-owned subsidiaries to acquire one
hundred percent (100%) of the issued and outstanding membership interests of LE, (the “Acquisition”). LE’s primary asset is a 56acre crude oil processing facility, located near Nixon, Texas (the “Nixon Facility”). On February 15, 2012, we consummated the
Acquisition and issued, in reliance on the exemption provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act 8,393,560 shares of Common
Stock, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, to LEH as consideration for LE (the “Original BDEC Shares”). Additionally, on February 21,
2012, pursuant to the anti-dilution provisions contained in the PSA, and in reliance on the exemption provided by Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act, we issued 32,896 shares of Common Stock to LEH (the “Anti-Dilution Shares” and together with the Original BDEC
Shares, the “BDEC Shares”) effective February 15, 2012. As a result of our issuance of the BDEC Shares, LEH currently owns eighty
percent (80%) of our issued and outstanding Common Stock. The issuance of the BDEC Shares to LEH resulted in a change in
control of Blue
4
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Dolphin. Further, pursuant to the terms of the PSA, the composition of Blue Dolphin’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and
management changed. The Acquisition will be accounted for as a “reverse acquisition” in which LE is deemed to be the “Acquirer”
and accounting predecessor and Blue Dolphin is deemed to be the “Acquiree.” Following the Acquisition, the combined company will
continue to operate under the name Blue Dolphin Energy Company. See our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on July 22, 2011, February 2, 2012, February 21, 2012, February 28, 2012 and March 14, 2012, for more
information on the Acquisition.
Management of Blue Dolphin’s Assets. As part of LEH’s assignment of the membership interests of LE, on February 15, 2012, Blue
Dolphin, LE and LEH entered into a Management Agreement (the “Management Agreement”) pursuant to which LEH agreed to
manage and operate the Nixon Facility and Blue Dolphin’s other operations (collectively, the “Services”). Pursuant to the terms of the
Management Agreement, LEH shall retain, as compensation for the Services, the right to receive (i) weekly payments based on
revenues from the sale of diesel blend stocks processed by the Nixon Facility not to exceed $750,000 per month, (ii) reimbursement
for certain accounting costs related to the preparation of LE’s financial statements not to exceed $50,000 per month, (iii) $0.25 for
each barrel processed at the Nixon Facility during the term of the Management Agreement, up to a maximum quantity of 10,000
barrels per day determined on a monthly basis, and (iv) $2.50 for each barrel processed at the Nixon Facility during the term of the
Management Agreement, to the extent the quantity exceeds 10,000 barrels per day determined on a monthly basis. We further
agreed to reimburse LEH at cost for all reasonable expenses incurred while performing the services. All compensation owed to LEH
under the Management Agreement is to be paid to LEH within 30 days of the end of each calendar month. The Management
Agreement expires upon the earliest to occur of (a) the date of the termination of the Joint Marketing Agreement between LE and a
third party dated August 12, 2011, which has an initial term of three years and year-to-year renewals at the option of either party
thereafter, (b) August 12, 2014, or (c) upon written notice of either party to the Management Agreement of a material breach of the
Management Agreement by the other party. If the Management Agreement is renewed after the expiration of its initial term, then it will
thereafter be reviewed on an annual basis by the Board and may be terminated if the Board determines that the Management
Agreement is no longer in the best interest of Blue Dolphin.
LEH owns approximately eighty percent (80%) of our issued and outstanding Common Stock. Jonathan P. Carroll, our Chief
Executive Officer, President, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary, and Tommy L. Byrd, our interim Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer
and Assistant Secretary, are also a member and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of LEH and, as a result may, under certain
circumstances, have interests that differ from or conflict with our interests. Further, pursuant to the Management Agreement, LEH
manages and operates the Nixon Facility and Blue Dolphin’s other operations. As a result of their relationship with LEH, Messrs.
Carroll and Byrd may experience conflicts of interest in the execution of their duties on behalf of Blue Dolphin including with respect
to the Management Agreement. See “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this report related to related party transactions.
Lazarus Energy Development, LLC (“LED”) Acquisition. Pursuant to the terms of the PSA, we had the option to acquire all of the
issued and outstanding membership interests of LED, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of LEH.
Among other assets, LED holds approximately 46 acres of real property adjacent to the Nixon Facility. On February 7, 2012, we paid
LEH a refundable deposit of approximately $183,000 to exercise the option and as partial payment of the purchase price for LED. As
part of the acquisition, we agreed to assume an LED loan in the amount of $1.5 million collateralized by the real property adjacent to
the Nixon Facility. We expect to complete the acquisition of LED from LEH in the second quarter of 2012 for a total purchase price of
approximately $1.68 million. See “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this report related to acquisition opportunities, as well as “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” under “Part II, Item 7” of this report for additional information on how we plan to fund the acquisition of LED.
5
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Nasdaq Listing. On May 27, 2011, we received a letter from Nasdaq’s Listing Qualifications Department (the “Staff”) notifying us that
our stockholders’ equity had fallen below the $2.5 million minimum requirement for continued listing as set forth in Marketplace Rule
5550(b) (the “Stockholders’ Equity Requirement”). As a result of meeting the Stockholders’ Equity Requirement by a relatively slim
margin related to a previous deficiency, a Nasdaq Hearings Panel (the “Panel”) placed us on a one year monitoring period (the
“Panel Monitoring Period”). Receipt of Staff’s May 27, 2011 letter created an additional deficiency for the Panel’s consideration. We
submitted a plan to meet the Stockholders’ Equity Requirement to the Panel on May 31, 2011. On June 9, 2011, we were notified by
the Panel that our Common Stock would be delisted as a result of no longer meeting the Stockholders’ Equity Requirement. Although
we filed an appeal of the Panel’s decision to the Nasdaq Listing and Hearing Review Council (the “Review Council”), our Common
Stock ceased trading on The Nasdaq Capital Market effective with the open of business on Monday, June 13, 2011, and began
trading on the OTCQB Marketplace under the same ticker symbol immediately following suspension of trading on Nasdaq.
On July 21, 2011, we submitted a compliance plan to the Review Council based, in part, on the pending cash sale of certain of our
assets to Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P. (“Sunoco”), which would increase stockholders’ equity. On August 30, 2011,
following the consummation of the transaction with Sunoco, we received notification from the Panel, pursuant to instructions received
from the Review Council, that: (i) our Common Stock would resume trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market effective September 1,
2011 before the open of the markets and (ii) our continued compliance with the Stockholders’ Equity Requirement was subject to a
Panel Monitoring Period.
On January 3, 2012, we were notified by Staff that we failed to hold an annual meeting of shareholders, solicit proxies and provide
proxy statements to Nasdaq as set forth in Marketplace Rule 5620(a) and 5620(b) (the “Annual Meeting Requirement”). As we were
under a Panel Monitoring Period, receipt of Staff’s January 3, 2012 letter created an additional deficiency for the Panel’s
consideration. On January 18, 2012, we submitted a compliance plan to the Panel based on our then scheduled 2011 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) to be held on January 27, 2012. The definitive proxy statement for the Annual
Meeting was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on December 28, 2011. The Annual Meeting was
delayed beyond the 2011 calendar year as a result of the Acquisition, certain parameters of which required stockholder approval.
On December 8, 2011, the Staff determined that the Acquisition qualified as a “Business Combination” and that, pursuant to
Marketplace Rule 5110(a), we would have to apply and be approved for initial listing of our Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital
Market on a post-Acquisition basis (the “New Nasdaq Listing Application”). If closing of the Acquisition occurred prior to us receiving
approval of the New Nasdaq Listing Application, our Common Stock was subject to delisting pursuant to Marketplace Rule 5110(a).
We submitted the New Nasdaq Listing Application to the Staff on December 13, 2011 and have worked with the Staff to provide
additional information as requested. On February 15, 2012, we consummated the Acquisition. On February 24, 2012, we received
notification that the Panel had determined to delist our Common Stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market and suspend trading in the
shares effective at the open of business on February 28, 2012. Simultaneous with the Nasdaq delisting, our Common Stock began
trading on the OTCQX U.S. Premier tier of the OTC Markets under the ticker symbol “BDCO”. We plan to continue to file with the
SEC any and all reports as may be required under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)
following the delisting. Although we are attempting to relist our Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market, there can be no
assurance that the Staff will approve the New Nasdaq Listing Application.
Disposition of Pipeline Assets. On August 3, 2011, BDPL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Blue Dolphin completed the sale of its eightythree and one-third percent (83 1/3%) interest in the Buccaneer Pipeline to Sunoco for net proceeds of approximately $3.6 million in
cash. The Buccaneer Pipeline is located onshore in Brazoria County, Texas. Assets in the sale also included above ground storage
tanks, a barge loading terminal, a pumping station and related equipment. As a result of the sale, Blue Dolphin no longer handles the
onshore transportation and storage of oil.
6
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Crude Oil and Condensate Processing
The standard refining process is complex and involves numerous stages to create final products. By contrast, the Nixon Facility’s
operations are only involved in the first stage of the refining process. The Nixon Facility, which has an operating capacity of
approximately 15,000 barrels of oil per day, consists of tankage, a distillation unit, recovery facilities and the necessary utility
systems. As a “topping unit,” the Nixon Facility separates input crude oil and condensate into diesel and jet fuel for sale into nearby
markets, as well as naphtha and atmospheric gasoil for sale to nearby refineries for further processing. Input crude oil and
condensate is currently purchased on the spot market (month to month) and delivered by truck. However, the facility also has the
ability to receive crude oil and condensate via pipeline. Refined products are currently sold and delivered by truck. The Nixon
Facility’s assets are held by LE. Financial results contained in this report do not include those of our Nixon Facility’s operations.
Pipeline Operations
We gather and transport oil and natural gas for producers/shippers operating offshore in the vicinity of our pipelines in the U.S. Gulf of
Mexico and charge a fee based on anticipated throughput volumes. We handle the sale of gas through a chemical plant complex and
intrastate pipeline system tie-in. All of our pipeline assets are held by and the business conducted by BDPL. Unless otherwise stated
herein, all gas liquid volumes transported are attributable to production from third-party producers/shippers.
Pipeline Assets. The following provides a summary of our pipeline segments:
Pipeline
Segment

Market

BDPS
GA 350
Omega

U.S. Gulf of Mexico
U.S. Gulf of Mexico
U.S. Gulf of Mexico

•

Ownership

83.3%
83.3%
83.3%

Miles
of
Pipeline

Capacity
(MMcf/d)

38
13
18

180
65
110

Average Throughput
(MMcf/d)
2011
2010
2009

4.4
13.6
—

13.7
17.4
—

15.5
19.0
—

Blue Dolphin Pipeline System (“BDPS”) – The BDPS spans approximately 38 miles and runs from Galveston Area Block 288
offshore to our onshore facilities and the Dow Chemical Plant Complex in Freeport, Texas. The BDPS has an aggregate
capacity of approximately 180 MMcf of gas and 7,000 Bbls of crude oil and condensate per day. The BDPS is currently
transporting an aggregate of approximately 3 MMcf of gas per day, which represents 1% of throughput capacity.
The BDPS includes: (i) approximately 188 acres of land in Brazoria County, Texas where the Blue Dolphin Pipeline comes
ashore and where the BDPS’ onshore facilities, pipeline easements and rights-of-way are located, (ii) an offshore platform and
(iii) the Blue Dolphin Pipeline. The BDPS gathers and transports oil and gas from various offshore fields in the Galveston Area of
the U.S. Gulf of Mexico to our onshore facilities located in Freeport, Texas. The oil is processed, stored and sold by a thirdparty. The gas is transported to the Dow Chemical Plant Complex and a major intrastate pipeline system with further
downstream tie-ins to other intrastate and interstate pipeline systems and end users.

•

Galveston Area Block 350 Pipeline (the “GA 350”) – The GA 350 is an 8-inch, 13 mile offshore pipeline extending from
Galveston Area Block 350 to an interconnect with a transmission pipeline in Galveston Area Block 391 located approximately
14 miles south of the Blue Dolphin Pipeline. Current system capacity on the GA 350 is 65 MMcf of gas per day. The GA 350 is
currently transporting an aggregate of approximately 9 MMcf of gas per day, which represents 14% of throughput capacity.
7
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•

Omega Pipeline (the “Omega”) – The Omega originates in the High Island Area, East Addition Block A-173 and extends to West
Cameron Block 342, where it was previously connected to the High Island Offshore System. The Omega is currently inactive.
Reactivation of the Omega is dependent upon future drilling activity in the vicinity and successfully attracting producer/shippers
to the system.

Exploration and Production
Our oil and gas exploration and production activities include leasehold interests in properties located in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and
the North Sumatra Basin offshore Indonesia. Our leasehold interests, which are held in and the operations conducted by BDPC, are
subject to royalty and overriding royalty interests. We evaluate and manage oil and gas properties giving consideration to geography,
reserve life and hydrocarbon mix based on seismic and other data.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, our unamortized cost exceeded the present value of estimated future net revenues, and
we recorded an impairment to our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and gas properties of $252,706. Although our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and
gas properties may continue to operate over the next twelve to eighteen months, we expect the operating costs to exceed gross
revenues based on current reserves and net cash flow estimates making these properties uneconomic.
Exploration and Production Assets. The following provides a summary of our oil and gas properties:
Field

Operator

Interest

Indonesia:
North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field

Blue Sky Langsa, Ltd.

7% WI, 5.20625% NRI (+ reversion)

U.S. Gulf of Mexico:
High Island Block 115
Galveston Area Block 321
High Island Block 37

Rooster Petroleum, LLC
Black Elk Energy Offshore Operations LLC
Hilcorp Energy Company

2.5% WI, 2.008% NRI
0.5% ORRI
2.88% WI, 2.246% NRI

•

North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field – Located offshore Indonesia, the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field covers approximately
77 square kilometers and contains two oil fields – the “L” Field and the “H” Field. Four wells have been completed in each field.
All four wells in the “L” Field are currently shut-in. In the “H” Field, two of the wells have been plugged and abandoned, one is
suspended and one (the H-4 Well) is currently producing. The wells are completed subsea in 325 feet of water and productive
via flexible pipelines to a Floating Production Storage and Offloading barge. The H-4 Well is currently producing approximately
370 barrels of oil per day.

•

High Island Block 115 – High Island Block 115 is located approximately 30 miles southeast of Bolivar Peninsula in an average
water depth of approximately 38 feet. The block contains one active well, the B-1 ST2 Well. The B-1 ST2 Well is currently
producing approximately 2 MMcf of gas per day.

•

Galveston Area Block 321 – Galveston Area Block 321 is located approximately 32 miles southeast of Galveston in an average
water depth of approximately 66 feet. The block contains one active well, the A-4 Well. The A-4 Well is currently producing
approximately 2 MMcf of gas per day.

•

High Island Block 37 – High Island Block 37 is located approximately 15 miles south of Sabine Pass in an average water depth
of approximately 36 feet. The block contains no active wells.
8
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At December 31, 2011, there were no active drilling or development activities associated with our exploration and production assets.
Productive Wells and Acreage. The following table sets forth our ownership interest at December 31, 2011, in productive oil and
natural wells in the areas indicated. Wells are classified as oil or natural gas according to their predominant production stream. Gross
wells reflect the total number of producing wells in which we have an interest, and net wells are determined by multiplying gross wells
by our average working or royalty interest. Productive wells consist of producing wells and wells capable of production.
Oil
Gross

Indonesia
Working Interest
U.S. Gulf of Mexico
Working Interest
Overriding Royalty Interest

Net

Natural Gas
Gross
Net

Total
Gross
Net

1.0

0.1

—

—

1.0

0.1

—
—

—
—

2.0
1.0

0.1
—

2.0
1.0

0.1
—

1.0

0.1

3.0

0.1

4.0

0.2

The following table sets forth the approximate developed and undeveloped acreage that we held as leasehold interest at
December 31, 2011. Undeveloped acreage includes leased acres on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that
would permit the production of commercial quantities of oil or natural gas, regardless of whether or not such acreage contains proved
reserves.
Developed
Gross
Net

Indonesia
U.S. Gulf of Mexico

Undeveloped
Gross
Net

Total
Gross

Net

3,108
17,280

218
264

15,919
—

1,114
—

19,027
17,280

1,332
264

20,388

482

15,919

1,114

36,307

1,596

Reserve Categories. Reserves are classified as either proved, probable or possible according to the degree of certainty associated
with the estimates. This report contains no estimates of probable or possible reserves. Proved reserves as reported herein are further
sub-categorized as either developed or undeveloped depending on their development and production status. The quantities of proved
developed and undeveloped oil and gas reserves presented herein include only those amounts which we reasonably expect to
recover in the future from known oil and gas reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. Therefore, proved
developed and undeveloped reserves are limited to those quantities that are believed to be recoverable at prices and costs, and
under regulatory practices and technology, existing at the time of the estimate. Accordingly, changes in oil and gas prices, operation
and development costs, regulations, technology, future production and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, could
significantly affect the estimates of proved developed and undeveloped reserves and the discounted present value of future net
revenue attributable thereto.
Estimates of production and future net revenue cannot be expected to represent accurately the actual production or revenue that may
be recognized with respect to oil and gas properties or the actual present market value of such properties. See Note (11),
Supplemental Oil and Gas Information (Unaudited), in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for further information
concerning our proved developed and undeveloped reserves, changes in proved developed and undeveloped reserves, estimated
future net revenue and costs incurred in our oil and gas activities and the discounted present value of estimated future net revenue
from our proved developed and undeveloped reserves.
9
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Reserves Basis of Presentation. Our proved reserves and future net cash flows estimates for oil and natural gas were prepared by
independent petroleum engineering consulting firms registered with the Society of Petroleum Engineers, as follows:
Indonesia

U.S. Gulf of Mexico

Stephen A. Lieberman, P.E.
President
American Energy Advisors, Inc.

Richard R. Lonquist, P.E.
President
Lonquist & Co., LLC

Mr. Lieberman has 37 years of experience in petroleum engineering, petroleum studies and evaluations. He attended Colorado
School of Mines and Pennsylvania State University and earned a Bachelor of Science Degree in Petroleum and Natural Gas
Engineering. He is a registered and active member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers.
Mr. Lonquist has more than 23 years of experience in petroleum engineering, underground storage engineering, mining engineering
and financial consulting services for energy production, transmission and energy storage companies, banks, trusts and institutional
investors. He earned a Bachelor of Science in Petroleum Engineering from Texas A&M University. He is a registered and active
member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers and the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers.
Evaluations done by Messrs. Lieberman and Lonquist were done in accordance with the generally accepted petroleum engineering
and evaluation principles and the most recent definitions and guidelines established by the SEC. All reserve definitions contained
herein are in accordance with the SEC’s Rule 4-10(a)(1)-(32) of Regulation S-X.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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Estimated Proved Reserves and Future Net Cash Flows. The following table presents the estimates of proved developed and
undeveloped reserves (as hereinafter defined) and the discounted present value of future net revenue or expenses from proved
developed and undeveloped reserves after income taxes to our net interest in oil and gas properties as of December 31, 2011. The
discounted present value of future net revenue or expenses is calculated using the SEC Method (defined below) and is not intended
to represent the current market value of the oil and gas reserves we own.
Proved Natural Gas and Oil Reserves
as of December 31, 2011

Proved Developed
North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field
High Island Block 115
Galveston Area Block 321
High Island Block 37
Total Proved Developed Reserves
Proved Undeveloped
North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field
High Island Block 115
Galveston Area Block 321
High Island Block 37
Total Proved Undeveloped Reserves
(1)

Discounted
Present Value
of Future Net
Cash Inflows
(Outflows) (1)
(in thousands)

Net Oil
Reserves
(Mbbls)

Net Gas
Reserves
(MMcf)

31.6
—
—
—

—
13.0
—
—

$

1,339
1
—
(31)

31.6

13.0

$

1,309

151.0
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

$

8,018
—
—
—

151.0

—

$

8,018

The estimated present value of future net cash outflows from our proved reserves has been determined by using domestic
prices of $96.04 per barrel of oil and $4.18 per Mcf of gas and an international price of $114.95 per barrel of oil, representing the
12-month average price for oil and natural gas, respectively, calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-ofthe-month price for each month within the 12-month prior period to the end of the reporting period and discounted at a 10%
annual rate in accordance with requirements for reporting oil and gas reserves pursuant to regulations promulgated by the SEC
(the “SEC Method”).

We had total estimated proved undeveloped reserves of 175.3 Mbbls and 104.0 Mbbls as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. During 2011, we did not convert any proved undeveloped reserves to proved developed reserves. At December 31,
2011, no material amounts of proved undeveloped reserves have remained undeveloped for five years or more after they were initially
disclosed as proved undeveloped reserves.
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Internal Controls over Reserve Estimates. We engaged independent petroleum engineering consulting firms to prepare our final
reserve estimates and have relied on their expertise to ensure that our reserve estimates were prepared in compliance with SEC
guidelines and with generally accepted petroleum engineering principles. The technical persons primarily responsible for the
preparation of the reserve reports have been identified herein. We provided the independent petroleum engineering consulting firms
with estimate preparation material such as property interests, production, current operation costs, current production prices and other
information. This information was reviewed by our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer to ensure accuracy and
completeness of the data prior to submission to the petroleum engineering consulting firms.
Capital Expenditures for Proved Reserves. The following table presents information regarding the costs we expect to incur in activities
associated with our proved reserves. These expenditures represent costs associated with the plugging and abandonment of wells.
The information regarding proved reserves summarized in the preceding table assumes the following estimated undiscounted capital
expenditures in the years indicated (amounts in thousands).
Estimated Undiscounted Capital Expenditures
Associated with Plugging and Abandonment of Wells
Years Ending December 31,
2013
2014
2015

2012

North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field
High Island Block 115
Galveston Area Block 321
High Island Block 37
High Island A-7

$
$

—
—
—
68
135

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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$

—
39
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

2016

—
—
—
—
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Production, Price and Cost Data. The following table presents information regarding production volumes and revenue, average sales
prices and costs (after deduction of royalties and interests of others) with respect to crude oil, condensate and natural gas attributable
to our interests for each of the periods indicated.
Net Production, Price and Cost Data
2011

Crude Oil and Condensate:
Production (Bbls)
Revenue
Average production per day (Bbls)(*)
Average sales price per Bbl
Natural Gas:
Production (Mcf)
Revenue
Average production per day (Mcf)(*)
Average sales price per Mcf
Production Costs (**):
Per Mcfe:
(*)
(**)

Indonesia

U.S. Gulf of
Mexico

10,254
$1,222,378
28.1
$ 119.21

272
$ 25,991
0.7
$ 95.56

$

—
—
—
—

$

17.85

$

25,454
$ 94,349
69.7
$ 3.71
$

2.80

Years Ended December 31,
2010
U.S. Gulf
Indonesia
of Mexico

8,154
$720,348
22.3
$ 88.34

$

—
—
—
—

$

12.29

$

250
$ 20,377
0.7
$ 81.51
31,654
$121,960
86.7
$
3.85
$

2.19

2009
Indonesia

U.S. Gulf
of Mexico

—
—
—
—

250
$ 17,401
0.7
$ 69.60

$

—
—
—
—

33,630
$108,576
92.1
$
3.23

$

—

$

$
$

$

2.71

Average production is based on a 365 day year.
Production costs, exclusive of work-over costs, are costs incurred to operate and maintain wells and equipment and to pay
production taxes.

Drilling, Exploration and Development Activity. During 2011, there were no wells drilled or any other exploratory or development
activities conducted.
Other Assets
We own a non-hazardous Class I salt water disposal well located near the town of Mermentau, Jefferson Davis Parish, Louisiana.
The well is not currently operational.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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Customers
Revenue from customers exceeding 10% of our total revenue for 2011 and 2010 were as follows:
Natural Gas
and Oil Sales

Pipeline
Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2011:
Blue Sky Langsa, Ltd.

$1,222,378

$

Year Ended December 31, 2010:
Blue Sky Langsa, Ltd.
W&T Offshore
Black Elk Energy Offshore Operations, LLC

$ 720,348
$
—
$ 48,194

$
—
$557,419
$296,921

—

Customer
Total

% of
Total Revenue

$1,222,378

54%

$ 720,348
$ 557,419
$ 345,115

26%
20%
12%

Markets & Competition
Petroleum industry operations and profitability are influenced by many factors. Prices for crude oil, natural gas, petroleum products
and petrochemicals are generally determined by supply and demand. Demand for crude oil and its products and for natural gas is
largely driven by the conditions of local, national and global economies, although weather patterns and taxation relative to other
energy sources also play a significant part. Laws and governmental policies, particularly in the areas of taxation, energy and the
environment affect where and how companies conduct their operations and formulate their products and, in some cases, limit their
profits directly.
In view of the many uncertainties that affect petroleum industry operations, it is impossible to accurately predict the price and
marketability of our oil and natural gas production or the rates charged for our transportation services. Currently, our oil production is
sold at market prices at the time of lifting and our natural gas production is sold at market prices at the time of transmission to a major
intrastate pipeline.
Intellectual Property
We rely on intellectual property laws to protect our brand, as well as those of our subsidiaries. “Blue Dolphin” is a registered
trademark in the U.S. in name and logo form. “Petroport” is a registered trademark in the U.S. in name form. In addition, www.bluedolphin.com is a registered domain name. Previously held patents in Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, Great Britain, Greece,
Israel, Italy, the Netherlands and Spain related to an offshore storage facility and terminal were abandoned in 2010.
Governmental Regulation
We are subject to numerous environmental, legal and regulatory requirements related to our domestic and foreign operations, which
can have a significant impact upon our overall operations.
Domestic. In the United States, laws and regulations under which our operations are subject include, among others:
Federal Regulation of Natural Gas Transportation. Historically, the transportation and sales for resale of natural gas in interstate
commerce have been regulated by the Natural Gas Act (“NGA”), the Natural Gas Policy Act (“NGPA”) and the rules and regulations
promulgated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”). In the past, the federal government has regulated the prices at
which gas could be sold. In 1989, Congress enacted the Natural Gas Wellhead Decontrol Act, which removed all remaining NGA and
NGPA price and non-price controls affecting producer sales of gas, effective January 1, 1993. The Energy Policy Act of 2005 (the
“2005 Energy Act”) did not alter our non-FERC-jurisdictional status, but the 2005 Energy Act greatly expanded FERC’s enforcement
authority, including enforcement against
14
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market manipulation “in connection with” FERC-jurisdictional transactions. Under the 2005 Energy Act, FERC has undertaken
vigorous enforcement actions against a number of entities, including those not subject to direct FERC regulation, and, in an effort to
increase transparency in natural gas markets, has taken steps to require reporting by interstate, major non-interstate and potentially
certain intrastate pipelines. Additionally, energy pricing has attracted renewed political interest. Therefore Congress could reenact
regulatory controls in the future. The rates, terms and conditions applicable to interstate transportation of gas by pipelines are
regulated by FERC under the NGA, as well as under Section 311 of the NGPA. FERC has extended certain reporting requirements to
otherwise non-jurisdictional intrastate pipelines and to major non-interstate natural gas pipelines, including non-jurisdictional gathering
lines that deliver more than 50 million MMBtu per year, a cutoff that excludes us from this requirement. In February 2007, FERC
issued a policy order acknowledging its lack of jurisdiction over offshore gathering, but stated that FERC would intervene in the event
that interstate pipelines with affiliated offshore gathering lines engage in anti-competitive behavior, such as conditioning access to
interstate pipeline service upon use of the affiliated gathering line.
All of our pipelines located offshore in federal waters are subject to the requirements of the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act
(“OCSLA”), which was administered by the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement and, after October 1,
2011, its successors, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (the “BOEM”) and the Bureau of Safety and Environmental
Enforcement (the “BSEE”). Together with the FERC, the BOEM and BSEE require that all pipelines operating on or across the shelf
provide open-access, non-discriminatory service. There are currently no regulations implemented by the FERC under its OCSLA
authority on gatherers and other entities outside the reach of its NGA jurisdiction. Therefore, we do not believe that any FERC, BOEM
or BSEE action taken under OCSLA will affect us in a way that materially differs from the way it affects other natural gas producers,
gatherers and marketers with which we compete.
Aside from the OCSLA requirements and federal safety and operational regulations, regulation of gas gathering activities is primarily a
matter of state oversight. Regulation of gathering activities in Texas includes various transportation, safety, environmental and nondiscriminatory purchase/transport requirements.
Federal Regulation of Oil Pipelines. Our operation of the Buccaneer Pipeline previously subjected us to a variety of regulations
promulgated by FERC and imposed on all oil pipelines pursuant to federal law. The Buccaneer Pipeline was sold to Sunoco in
August 2011 and the associated FERC tariffs were adopted by Sunoco per its adoption notice FERC no. 191.0.0 issued August 25,
2011.
Safety and Operational Regulations. Our operations are generally subject to safety and operational regulations administered by the
BSEE, the Department of Transportation, the Coast Guard, FERC and/or various state agencies. The recently enacted Pipeline
Safety, Regulatory Certainty and Job Creation Act of 2011 requires that the Secretary of Transportation develop several new
regulatory programs to enhance pipeline safety over the coming years. In addition, the OCSLA authorizes regulations relating to
safety and environmental protection applicable to lessees and permittees operating on the OCS. Specific design and operational
standards may apply to OCS vessels, rigs, platforms and structures. Violations of lease conditions or regulations issued pursuant to
the OCSLA can result in substantial civil and criminal penalties, as well as potential court injunctions curtailing operations and the
cancellation of leases. Such enforcement liabilities can result from either governmental or private prosecution. Currently, we believe
that we are in material compliance with the various safety and operational regulations that we are subject to. However, as safety and
operational regulations are frequently changed, we are unable to predict the future effect changes in these regulations will have on
our operations, if any.
Federal Oil and Gas Leases. Our U.S. Gulf of Mexico exploration and production operations are currently located on federal oil and
gas leases in the OCS, which are administered by BOEM. Such leases are issued through competitive bidding, contain relatively
standardized terms and require compliance with detailed BOEM regulations and orders pursuant to the OCSLA that are subject to
interpretation and change by
15
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BOEM. For offshore operations, lessees must obtain BOEM approval for exploration plans and development and production plans
prior to the commencement of such operations. In addition to permits required from other agencies, such as the U.S. Coast Guard,
the Army Corps of Engineers and the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”), lessees must obtain a permit from BOEM prior to
the commencement of drilling. BOEM has promulgated regulations requiring offshore production facilities located on the OCS to meet
stringent engineering and construction specifications. To cover the various obligations of lessees on the OCS, BOEM generally
requires that lessees have substantial net worth or post bonds or other acceptable assurance that such obligations will be met. The
cost of such bonds or other surety can be substantial, and there is no assurance that bonds or other surety can be obtained in all
cases. We are currently in compliance with the bonding requirements of BOEM. Under some circumstances, BOEM may require any
of our operations on federal leases to be suspended or terminated. Any such suspension or termination could materially adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations.
With respect to our operations that are conducted on offshore federal leases, liability may generally be imposed under OCSLA for
clean-up costs and pollution damages resulting from such operations, generally excluding damages caused by acts of war or the
negligence of third parties. Under certain circumstances, including but not limited to conditions deemed a threat or harm to the
environment, BOEM may also require any of our operations on federal leases to be suspended or terminated in the affected area.
Furthermore, BOEM generally requires that offshore facilities be dismantled and removed within one year following production
cessation or lease expiration.
Environmental Regulation. Our activities with respect to: (i) exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas and
(ii) operation and construction of pipelines, plants and other facilities for the transportation of oil and natural gas are subject to
stringent environmental regulation by local, state and federal authorities, including the EPA. Such regulation has increased the cost of
planning, designing, drilling, operating and, in some instances, abandoning wells and related equipment. Similarly, such regulation
has also increased the cost of design, construction and operation of crude oil and natural gas pipelines and processing facilities.
Although we believe that compliance with existing environmental regulations will not have a material adverse effect on our operations
or earnings, there can be no assurance that significant costs and liabilities, including civil and criminal penalties, will not be incurred.
Moreover, future developments, such as stricter environmental laws and regulations or claims for personal injury or property damage
resulting from our operations, could result in substantial costs and liabilities. In the event significant changes in environmental
requirements occur, we may be required to expend amounts that are material relative to our total capital structure.
The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) imposes liability, without regard to fault or
the legality of the original conduct, on parties the statute defines as responsible for the release or threatened release of a “hazardous
substance” into the environment. Responsible parties, which include the present owner or operator of a site where the release
occurred, the owner or operator of the site at the time of disposal of the hazardous substance, and persons that disposed of or
arranged for the disposal of a hazardous substance, are liable for response and remediation costs and for damages to natural
resources. Petroleum and natural gas are excluded from the definition of hazardous substances; however, this exclusion does not
apply to all materials used in our operations. State statutes impose similar liability. At this time, neither we nor any of our
predecessors have been designated as a potentially responsible party under CERCLA or similar state statute.
The federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) and its state counterparts regulate solid and hazardous wastes and
impose civil and criminal penalties for improper handling and disposal of such wastes. EPA and various state agencies have
promulgated regulations that limit the disposal options for such wastes. Certain wastes generated by our oil and gas operations are
currently exempt from regulation as hazardous wastes, but in the future could be designated as hazardous wastes under RCRA or
other applicable statutes and therefore may become subject to more rigorous and costly requirements.
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We currently own or lease, or have in the past owned or leased, various properties used for the exploration and production of oil and
gas or used to store and maintain equipment regularly used in these operations. Although our past operating and disposal practices at
these properties were standard for the industry at the time, hydrocarbons or other substances may have been disposed of or released
on or under these properties or on or under other locations. In addition, many of these properties have been operated by third parties
whose waste handling activities were not under our control. These properties and any waste disposed thereon may be subject to
CERCLA, RCRA, and state laws which could require us to remove or remediate wastes and other contamination or to perform
remedial plugging operations to prevent future contamination.
The Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA”) and regulations promulgated thereunder include a variety of requirements related to the
prevention of oil spills and impose liability for damages resulting from such spills. OPA imposes liability on owners and operators of
onshore and offshore facilities and pipelines for removal costs and certain public and private damages arising from a spill. OPA
establishes a liability limit for onshore facilities of $350 million and offshore facilities of $75 million plus all clean-up costs. OPA
establishes lesser liability limits for vessels depending upon their size. A party cannot take advantage of the liability limits if the spill is
caused by gross negligence or willful misconduct or resulted from a violation of federal safety, construction or operating regulations. If
a party fails to report a spill or cooperate in the clean-up, liability limits do not apply. OPA imposes ongoing requirements on
responsible parties, including proof of financial responsibility for potential spills. The amount of financial responsibility required
depends upon a variety of factors, including the facility or vessel type, size, storage capacity, oil throughput, proximity to sensitive
areas, type of oil handled, discharge history, worst-case spill potential and other considerations. We believe we have established
adequate financial responsibility. While our financial responsibility requirements under OPA may be amended to impose additional
costs, we do not expect the impact of such a change to be any more burdensome on us than on others similarly situated.
The Clean Air Act and state air quality laws and regulations contain provisions that impose pollution control requirements on
emissions to the air and require permits for construction and operation of certain emissions sources, including sources located
offshore. We may be required to incur capital expenditures for air pollution control equipment in connection with maintaining or
obtaining construction and operating permits and approvals addressing emission-related issues, although we do not expect to be
materially adversely affected by such expenditures.
The Clean Water Act (“CWA”) regulates the discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States and imposes permit requirements
on such discharges, including discharges to wetlands. Federal regulations under the CWA and OPA require certain owners or
operators of facilities that store or otherwise handle oil, to prepare and implement spill prevention, control and countermeasure plans
and facility response plans relating to the possible discharge of oil into surface waters. With respect to certain of our operations, we
are required to prepare and comply with such plans and to obtain and comply with permits. The CWA also prohibits spills of oil and
hazardous substances to waters of the United States in excess of levels set by regulations and imposes liability in the event of a spill.
State laws further provide varying civil and criminal penalties and liabilities for the spills to both surface and ground waters. We
believe we are in substantial compliance with the requirements of the CWA, OPA and state laws, and that any non-compliance would
not have a material adverse effect on us.
Various federal and state programs regulate the conservation and development of coastal resources. The federal Coastal Zone
Management Act was passed to preserve and, where possible, restore the natural resources of the coastal zone of the United States
and to provide for federal grants for state management programs that regulate land use, water use and coastal development. Under
the Louisiana Coastal Zone Management Program, coastal use permits are required for certain activities, even if the activity only
partially infringes upon the coastal zone. Among other things, projects involving use of state lands and water bottoms, dredge or fill
activities that intersect with more than one body of water, mineral activities, including the exploration and production of oil and gas,
and pipelines for the gathering, transportation or
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transmission of oil, gas and other minerals require such permits. General permits, which entail a reduced administrative burden, are
available for a number of routine oil and gas activities. The Texas Coastal Coordination Act (“TCCA”) establishes the Texas Coastal
Management Program that applies in the nineteen Texas counties that border the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and its tidal bays. The TCCA
provides for the review of state and federal agency rules and agency actions for consistency with the goals and policies of the Coastal
Management Plan. These coastal programs may affect agency permitting of our facilities.
Legislation and Rulemaking. In October 1996, the U.S. Congress enacted the Coast Guard Authorization Act of 1996 (P.L. 104-324),
which amended the OPA to establish requirements for evidence of financial responsibility for certain offshore facilities. The evidence
of financial responsibility amount required is $35 million for certain types of offshore facilities located seaward of the seaward
boundary of a state, including properties used for oil transportation. We currently maintain the statutory $35 million coverage.
Federal and state legislation and regulations have been proposed that, if enacted or promulgated, could significantly affect operations
in the oil and gas industry. It is not possible to predict which of the proposals, if any, will be adopted and what effect, if any, they
would have on our operations. However, changes in various federal, state and local laws and regulations covering the discharge of
materials into the environment, occupational health and safety issues or otherwise relating to the protection of public health and the
environment, may affect our operations and costs to do business. Historically, the trend in such laws and regulations has been to
place more restrictions and limitations on activities that may impact the general or work environment, such as emissions of pollutants,
generation and disposal of wastes and use and handling of chemical substances, the cost of compliance of which has continued to
increase. It is not possible to predict which of the proposed federal, state and local laws and regulations, if any, will be adopted and
the impact such changes may have on our operations and capital structure. We will adopt measures that maintain our compliance.
Foreign. In Indonesia, our operations are subject to the government acts, laws and regulations of the Republic of Indonesia, as well
as to any international treaties or conventions to which the Republic of Indonesia is a signatory.
Employees
At December 31, 2011, we had five (5) full-time employees and regularly used the services of one (1) consultant. Our employees,
along with the expertise provided by our engineering consultant, manage our ongoing administrative, business development and
marketing operations. From time to time, we use third parties to assist with major maintenance, engineering and construction projects
and activities.
Environmental
A description of our environmental activities is included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Available Information
We make available, free of charge on or through our website (http://www.blue-dolphin.com), our annual, quarterly and current
reports, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as practical after these reports are filed with the SEC. The public may read
and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, Northeast, Washington, D.C.
20549, on official business days during the hours of 10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. The public may obtain information on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (800) SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains
reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.
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Information about each of our directors, as well as each of the Board’s standing committee charters, our corporate governance
guidelines and our code of business conduct are also available, free of charge, through our website. Information contained on our
website is not part of this report.
Glossary of Certain Oil and Gas Terms
The following are abbreviations and definitions of certain terms commonly used in the oil and gas industry.
Back-in After Payout Interest. A contractual right of a non-participating partner to participate in a well or wells after the wells have
produced enough for the participating partners to recover their capital costs of drilling, completing and operating the wells.
Bbl. One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons of liquid volume, used in reference to oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.
Bcf. One billion cubic feet of gas.
Btu or British Thermal Unit. The quantity of heat required to raise the temperature of one pound of water by one degree Fahrenheit.
Condensate. Hydrocarbons which are in the gaseous state under reservoir conditions and which become liquid when temperature or
pressure is reduced; a mixture of pentanes and higher hydrocarbons.
Development Well. A well drilled within the proved area of a gas or oil reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic horizon known to be
productive.
Exploratory Well. A well drilled to find and produce gas or oil in an unproved area, to find a new reservoir in a field previously found to
be productive of gas or oil in another reservoir or to extend a known reservoir.
Field. An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the same individual geological
structural feature and/or stratigraphic condition.
Leasehold Interest. The interest of a lessee under an oil and gas lease.
Mbbls. One thousand barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.
Mcf. One thousand cubic feet of gas.
Mcfe. One thousand cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of gas to one barrel of oil, condensate or gas liquids.
MMbtu. One million British Thermal Units.
MMcf. One million cubic feet of gas.
MMcfe. One million cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of gas to one Bbl of oil, condensate or gas liquids.
Net Revenue Interest. The percentage of production to which the owner of a working interest is entitled.
Non-operating Working Interest. A working interest, or a fraction of a working interest, in a lease where the owner is not the operator
of the lease.
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Overriding Royalty Interest. An interest in oil and gas produced at the surface, free of the expense of production that is in addition to
the usual royalty interest reserved to the lessor in an oil and gas lease.
Prospect. A specific geographic area which, based on supporting geological, geophysical or other data and also preliminary economic
analysis using reasonably anticipated prices and costs, is deemed to have potential for the discovery of oil, gas or both.
Proved Developed Reserves. Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and
operating methods. Proved developed reserves are further categorized into two sub-categories — proved developed producing
reserves and proved developed non-producing reserves.
Proved Developed Producing. Reserves sub-categorized as producing are expected to be recovered from completion intervals which
are open and producing at the time of the estimate.
Proved Developed Non-producing. Reserves sub-categorized as non-producing, which include shut-in and behind pipe reserves.
Shut-in reserves are expected to be recovered from: (i) completion intervals which are open at the time of the estimate but which
have not started producing, (ii) wells which were shut-in awaiting pipeline connections or as a result of a market interruption or
(iii) wells not capable of producing for mechanical reasons.
Proved Reserves. The estimated quantities of oil, gas and condensate that geological and engineering data demonstrate with
reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.
Proved reserves are further categorized into two sub-categories – proved developed and proved undeveloped depending on their
development and production status.
Proved Undeveloped Reserves. Reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells or from existing wells where a relatively
significant expenditure is required for recompletion.
Reversionary Interest. A form of ownership interest in property that reverts back to the transferor after expiration of an intervening
income interest or the occurrence of another triggering event.
Royalty Interest. An interest in a gas and oil property entitling the owner to a share of gas and oil production free of any of the
operational costs associated with the production.
Undivided Interest. A form of ownership interest in which more than one person concurrently owns an interest in the same oil and gas
lease or pipeline.
Working Interest. The operating interest that gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct operating activities on the property
and receive a share of production after the corresponding percentage of operational costs and royalties are paid.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

There are numerous factors that affect our business and operating results, many of which are beyond our control. The following is a
description of significant factors that might cause our future operating results to differ materially from those currently expected. The
risks described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not specified herein, not currently known to us
or currently deemed to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial position, operating results and/or
cash flows.
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Risks Related to our Business
The success of our acquisition of LE will depend on our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from integrating LE’s business into
our operations.
We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits from this integration on a timely basis, or at all, for a variety of reasons, including the
following:
•

difficulties expanding in new markets or geographies where we have no or limited direct prior experience;

•

failure to identify or assess the magnitude of certain liabilities we assumed in the acquisition, which could result in unexpected
litigation or regulatory exposure, unfavorable accounting treatment, unexpected increases in taxes due, a loss of anticipated tax
benefits or other adverse effects on our business, operating results or financial condition;

•

difficulties or delays in incorporating acquired technologies or integrating overall operations and business systems while
maintaining uniform standards, controls, processes and policies;

•

failure to successfully manage relationships with our combined supplier and customer base; and

•

difficulties in modifying LE’s existing accounting and internal control systems to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, to which LE is not currently subject, which could adversely impact the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting for the combined company.

Refining margins are volatile, and a reduction in anticipated refining margins will adversely affect the amount of cash we will have
available for working capital.
Historically, refining margins have been volatile, and they are likely to continue to be volatile in the future. Our financial results are
primarily affected by the relationship, or margin, between our specialty products prices and the prices for crude oil. The cost to acquire
crude oil and the price at which we can ultimately sell our refined products depend upon numerous factors beyond our control.
The prices at which we sell specialty products are strongly influenced by the commodity price of crude oil. If crude oil prices increase,
our specialty products segment margins will fall unless we are able to pass along these price increases to our wholesale customers.
Increases in selling prices for specialty products typically lag the rising cost of crude oil and may be difficult to implement when crude
oil costs increase dramatically over a short period of time.
The sale of refined products to the wholesale market is an important part of our business going forward, and if we fail to grow and
maintain our market share or gain market acceptance of our refined products, our operating results could suffer.
Selling refined products to the wholesale market is an important part of our business, and as our refined products revenue increases
as a portion of our overall revenue, our success in the wholesale market becomes increasingly important to our operating results. Our
success in the wholesale market depends in large part on our ability to grow and maintain our image and reputation as an
independent operator and to expand into and gain market acceptance of our refined products. Adverse perceptions of product quality,
whether or not justified, or allegations of product quality issues, even if false or unfounded, could tarnish our reputation and cause our
wholesale customers to choose refined products offered by our competitors.
We are dependent on third-party operators for the transportation of crude oil into and refined products out of our Nixon Facility, and if
these third-party operators become unavailable to us, our ability to process crude oil and sell refined products to wholesale markets
could be materially and adversely affected.
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We rely on trucks for the receipt of crude oil into and the sale of refined products out of our Nixon Facility. Since we do not own or
operate any of these trucks, their continuing operation is not within our control. If any of the third-party trucking companies that we
use, or the trucking industry in general, become unavailable to transport crude oil or our refined products because of acts of God,
accidents, government regulation, terrorism or other events, our revenue and net income would be materially and adversely affected.
Potential downtime for maintenance at the Nixon Facility could reduce our revenue and cash available for payments of our
obligations.
Although currently operating at anticipated levels, the Nixon Facility is still in a recommissioning phase and may require additional
unscheduled downtime for unanticipated maintenance or repairs. Any scheduled or unscheduled maintenance reduces our revenues
and increases our operating expenses during the period of time that our processing unit is not operating and could reduce our ability
to meet our payment obligations.
Our operations, including our operation of the Nixon Facility, subject us to the inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs
and liabilities.
There is inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities in the operation of the Nixon Facility due to our
handling of petroleum hydrocarbons and wastes, because of air emissions and water discharges related to our operations, and as a
result of historical operations and waste disposal practices of prior owners of our facilities. We currently own or operate properties that
for many years have been used for industrial activities, including refining or terminal storage operation. Private parties, including the
owners of properties adjacent to our operations and facilities where our petroleum hydrocarbons or wastes are taken for reclamation
or disposal, may also have the right to pursue legal actions to enforce compliance as well as to seek damages for non-compliance
with environmental laws and regulations or for personal injury or property damage. We may not be able to recover some or any of
these costs from insurance or other sources of indemnity. To the extent that the costs associated with meeting any or all of these
requirements are substantial and not adequately provided for, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.
Our relationship with LEH and our related party transactions with LEH and its affiliates may cause conflicts of interest that may
adversely affect us.
LEH owns approximately eighty percent (80%) of our issued and outstanding Common Stock. Jonathan P. Carroll, our Chief
Executive Officer, President, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary, and Tommy L. Byrd, our interim Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer
and Assistant Secretary, are also a member and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of LEH and as a result may, under certain
circumstances, have interests that differ from or conflict with our interests. Further, pursuant to the Management Agreement, LEH
manages and operates the Nixon Facility and Blue Dolphin’s other operations. As a result of their relationship with LEH, Messrs.
Carroll and Byrd may experience conflicts of interest in the execution of their duties on behalf of Blue Dolphin including with respect
to the Management Agreement.
LEH has no fiduciary duty to make decisions in our best interest. LEH is entitled to vote the Common Stock it owns in accordance
with its interests, which may be contrary to our interests and those of other stockholders. LEH has interests that differ from the
interests of our stockholders and, as a result, there is a risk that important business decisions will not be made in the best interest of
our stockholders. LEH and its other affiliates are not limited in their ability to compete with us and are not obligated to offer us
business opportunities. We believe that the transactions and agreements that we have entered into with LEH and its affiliates are on
terms that are at least as favorable as could reasonably have been obtained at such time from third parties. However, these
relationships could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts of interest when our Board is faced with decisions that could have
different implications for us and LEH or its affiliates. The appearance of conflicts, even if such conflicts do not materialize, might
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adversely affect the public’s perception of us, as well as our relationship with other companies and our ability to enter into new
relationships in the future, which may have a material adverse effect on our ability to do business.
LEH holds a significant interest in us.
LEH owns approximately eighty percent (80%) of our issued and outstanding Common Stock. Through its ownership of such a large
amount of Common Stock, LEH has significant influence over matters such as the election of our Board, control over our business,
policies and affairs and other matters submitted to our stockholders.
Declines in throughput volumes and production rates from our leasehold properties in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico are expected to
continue.
In recent years, throughput volumes on our pipelines and production rates from our leasehold properties in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico
have continued to decline as a result of decreased activity in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and depleting reserves. Following the April 2010
Deepwater Horizon explosion and oil spill, regulators have continued to move slowly in issuing new drilling permits in the U.S. Gulf of
Mexico. This has negatively impacted our ability to attract new producers/shippers to our pipelines and make additional investments
in new oil and gas properties. Although our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and gas properties may continue to operate over the next twelve to
eighteen months, we expect the operating costs to exceed gross revenues based on current reserves and net cash flow estimates
making these properties uneconomic.
During the past year, we have been primarily dependent on revenue from one key customer.
As a result of decreased revenue from pipeline operations and oil and gas sales related to our U.S. Gulf of Mexico leasehold
interests, revenue from the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field accounted for approximately 54% of our total revenue in 2011
compared to approximately 26% in 2010. Unless we are able to offset this revenue with revenue from the sale of refined products,
transportation throughput, interests in other oil and gas properties or other revenue generating assets at an acceptable cost, our
financial condition could be materially adversely affected if production from the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field declines sharply or
ceases.
If we are not able to generate sufficient funds from operations or obtain financing from other sources, we may not be able to continue
our operations.
In recent years we have used a portion of our cash reserves to fund working capital requirements that were not funded from our
operations. Continued pipeline underutilization, low commodity prices, production problems, reserve declines, unfavorable drilling
results and other factors beyond our control could further reduce funds from our operations. Currently, we project that our current
cash reserves will be sufficient to meet our obligations. If we are unable to realize the benefits of our acquisition of LE or obtain
additional funds, we may have to seek debt and/or equity financing to meet our working capital requirements. Our history of losses
may affect our ability to raise additional capital and increase the cost and terms of obtaining such financing. In the event we are not
able to raise additional capital, we may be forced to sell our assets or discontinue our operations.
A substantial and extended decline in the prices of oil or gas would have a material adverse effect on our operations.
Our revenue, profitability, operating cash flow and potential for growth are largely dependent on prevailing oil and natural gas prices.
Prices for oil and natural gas are subject to large fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the supply and demand for oil
and natural gas, uncertainties within the market and a variety of other factors beyond our control. These factors include:
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•

weather conditions;

•

the domestic and international economy;

•

Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries’ actions;

•

governmental regulation;

•

political stability in the Middle East, South America and elsewhere;

•

foreign supply of oil and natural gas;

•

price of foreign imports;

•

availability of alternate fuel sources; and

•

the value of the U.S. dollar in relation to other currencies.

In addition, low or declining oil and natural gas prices could have collateral effects that could adversely affect us, including the
following:
•

reducing the exploration for and development of oil and gas by third-party companies operating in the vicinity of our pipeline
systems;

•

increasing our dependence on external sources of capital to meet our cash needs; and

•

impairing our ability to obtain needed capital.

Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may prove to be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in our reserve
estimates or underlying assumptions could cause the quantities and net present value of our reserves to be overstated.
Estimating reserves of oil and gas is complex. The process relies on interpretations of available geologic, geophysical, engineering
and production data. The extent, quality and reliability of this data can vary. The process also requires certain economic assumptions,
some of which are mandated by the SEC, including oil and natural gas prices, drilling and operating expenses, capital expenditures,
taxes and availability of funds. The accuracy of a reserve estimate is a function of:
•

the quality and quantity of available data;

•

the interpretation of that data;

•

the accuracy of various mandated economic assumptions; and

•

the judgment of the persons preparing the estimate.

The proved reserve information set forth in this report is based on estimates prepared by third-party petroleum engineering consulting
firms based on information that we provided. Although our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and gas properties may continue to operate over
the next twelve to eighteen months, we expect the operating costs to exceed gross revenues based on current reserves and net cash
flow estimates making these properties uneconomic. Actual quantities of recoverable oil and gas reserves, future production, oil and
gas prices, taxes, development expenditures, abandonment costs and operating expenses prepared by others will likely vary from
these estimates. Any significant variance could materially affect the quantities and net present value of our reserves. Furthermore,
the present value of future net cash flows will most likely not equate to the current market value of their estimated proved oil and gas
reserves. In accordance with SEC requirements, the estimated discounted future net cash flows from proved reserves were based on
the historical 12-month average price (based on the first of the month pricing for the most recently ended fiscal year) and costs in
effect at December 31, 2011. Actual future prices and costs may be materially different from the prices and costs they used.
We cannot control the activities on properties we do not operate.
Currently, third parties operate or control the development and operation of the oil and gas properties in which we have an interest.
As a result, we depend on these third-parties to properly conduct lease acquisition, drilling, completion and production operations.
The failure of any such third party operator or drilling contractors, as well as other service providers working on their behalf, to
properly perform services or to act in ways that are in our best interest, could adversely affect our interests.
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We own and generally anticipate that we will continue to own substantially less than a 50% working interest in our oil and gas
prospects and properties and will therefore engage in joint operations with other working interest owners. Since we own or control
less than a majority of the working interest, decisions affecting our interest could be made by the owners of a majority of the working
interest. For instance, if we are unwilling or unable to participate in the costs of operations approved by owners of a majority of the
working interests in a well, our working interest in the well (and possibly other wells on the property) will likely be subject to
contractual “non-consent penalties.” These penalties may include, full or partial forfeiture of our interest in the well or a
relinquishment of our interest in production from the well in favor of the participating working interest owners until the participating
working interest owners have recovered a multiple of the costs which would have been borne by us if we had elected to participate,
which often ranges from 400% to 600% of such costs.
The geographic concentration of our assets may have a greater effect on us compared to other companies.
The majority of our onshore assets are located in the eagle Ford Shale and Gulf Coast areas of Texas, while the majority of our
offshore assets are located in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. As a result, we are at a greater risk of being impacted by local and regional
conditions compared to oil and gas companies that have their assets more geographically diversified. Any negative regional event,
including commodity price fluctuations, natural disasters and restrictive governmental regulations could adversely impact our
business.
Strong competition from larger companies may negatively impact our ability to continue our operations.
The oil and gas industry is highly competitive. Our competitors include major integrated oil and gas companies, large independent
energy companies, affiliates of major interstate and intrastate pipelines and national and local refinery operators and gatherers, many
of which possess greater financial and other resources than we do. Our ability to successfully compete in the marketplace is affected
by many factors, including our ability to access capital and absorb risks. We believe these factors largely put us at a competitive
disadvantage in consummating transactions and acquiring new assets.
We intend to continue pursuing acquisitions. Our business may be adversely affected if we cannot effectively integrate acquired
operations.
One of our business strategies is to acquire operations that are complementary to our existing business operations. The evaluation of
opportunities involves time and expense, and acquiring operations and assets involves financial, operational and legal risks,
including, but not limited to:
•

inadvertently becoming subject to liabilities of the acquired company that were unknown to us at the time of the acquisition, such
as later asserted litigation matters or tax liabilities;

•

the difficulty of assimilating operations, systems and personnel of the acquired businesses; and

•

maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies.

Competition from other potential buyers could cause us to pay a higher price than we otherwise might have paid and reduce our
acquisition opportunities. We are often out-bid by larger, better capitalized companies for the acquisition opportunities that we pursue.
Operating hazards may adversely affect our ability to conduct business.
Our operations are subject to inherent risks normally associated with oil and gas operations, including, but not limited to:
•

fires and explosions;
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•

pollution;

•

pipeline ruptures;

•

sudden violent expulsions of oil, gas and mud while drilling a well, commonly referred to as a blowout;

•

a cave in and collapse of the earth’s structure surrounding a well, commonly referred to as cratering; and

•

other environmental risks.

If any of these events were to occur, we could suffer substantial losses from injury and loss of life, damage to and destruction of
property and equipment, pollution and other environmental damage and suspension of operations. Our offshore operations are also
subject to a variety of operating risks exclusive to the marine environment, such as hurricanes or other adverse weather conditions
and restrictive governmental regulation. These regulations may, in certain circumstances, impose strict liability for pollution damage
or result in the interruption or termination of operations.
Our pipelines and other assets face operating hazards, and the potential limits on insurance coverage could expose us to potentially
significant liability costs.
Our pipelines, exploration and production and other assets are subject to certain operating hazards, and our cash flow from those
operations, if any, could decline as a result of a major accident, explosion or fire, severe weather or other natural disaster, or
otherwise is forced to curtail its operations or shut down. These operating hazards could result in substantial losses due to personal
injury and/or loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment and pollution or other environmental damage
and may result in significant curtailment or suspension of our related operations.
Although we maintain insurance policies, including personal and property damage and business interruption insurance for each of our
facilities with insurers in amounts and with coverage and deductibles that we, with the advice of our insurance advisors and brokers,
believe are reasonable and prudent, we cannot ensure that this insurance will be adequate to protect us from all material expenses
related to potential future claims for personal and property damage or significant interruption of operations. Furthermore, we may be
unable to maintain or obtain insurance of the type and amount we desire at reasonable rates. As a result of market conditions,
premiums and deductibles for certain of our insurance policies have increased and could escalate further. In some instances, certain
insurance could become unavailable or available only for reduced amounts of coverage. In addition, we are not fully insured against
all risks incident to our business because certain risks are not fully insurable, coverage is unavailable or premium costs, in our
judgment, do not justify such expenditures. For example, we are not insured for environmental accidents at all of our facilities.
Our business requires the retention and recruitment of a skilled workforce and the loss of key employees could result in the failure to
implement our business plan.
The success of our business operations depends largely upon the efforts of key executive officers and technical personnel. Given our
small size, we may not be able to retain required personnel on acceptable terms due to the competition for experienced personnel
from other companies in the industry.
Compliance with environmental and other government regulations could be costly and could negatively impact our operations.
Our operations are subject to numerous laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise
relating to environmental protection. These laws and regulations may:
•

require the acquisition of a permit before operations can be commenced;
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•

restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the environment from drilling and
production activities;

•

limit or prohibit drilling and pipeline activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas;

•

require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former operations, such as plugging abandoned wells and abandoning
pipelines; and

•

impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations.

The recent trend toward stricter standards in environmental legislation and regulation is likely to continue. The enactment of stricter
legislation or the adoption of stricter regulations could have a significant impact on our operating costs, as well as on the oil and gas
industry in general.
Our operations could result in liability for personal injuries, property damage, oil spills, discharge of hazardous materials, remediation
and clean-up costs and other environmental damages. We could also be liable for environmental damages caused by previous
property owners. As a result, substantial liabilities to third parties or governmental entities may be incurred which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. We maintain insurance coverage for our operations,
including limited coverage for sudden and accidental environmental damages. However, we do not believe that insurance coverage
for all environmental damages that occur over time or complete coverage for sudden and accidental environmental damages is
available at a reasonable cost. Accordingly, we may be subject to liability or may lose the privilege to continue to operate our
properties if certain environmental damages occur.
The EPA imposes a variety of regulations on “responsible parties” related to the prevention of oil spills. The implementation of new, or
the modification of existing, environmental laws or regulations, including regulations promulgated pursuant to the EPA, could have a
material adverse impact on us.
Regulation of greenhouse gas emissions could increase our operational costs and reduce demand for our products.
Continued political attention to issues concerning climate change, the role of human activity in it, and potential mitigation through
regulation could have a material impact on our operations and financial results.
International agreements and national or regional legislation and regulatory measures to limit greenhouse emissions are currently in
various stages of discussion or implementation. These and other greenhouse gas emissions-related laws, policies and regulations
may result in substantial capital, compliance, operating and maintenance costs. The level of expenditure required to comply with
these laws and regulations is uncertain and is expected to vary depending on the laws enacted in each jurisdiction, our activities in
the particular jurisdiction and market conditions. Greenhouse gas emissions that could be regulated include those arising from the
conversion of crude oil into refined products, the transportation of crude oil and natural gas, and the exploration and production of
crude oil and natural gas. Some matters related to these activities, such as actions taken by our competitors in response to such laws
and regulations, are beyond our control.
The effect of regulation on our financial performance will depend on a number of factors including, among others, the sectors
covered, the greenhouse gas emissions reductions required by law, the extent to which we would be entitled to receive emission
allowance allocations or would need to purchase compliance instruments on the open market or through auctions, the price and
availability of emission allowances and credits and the impact of legislation or other regulation on our ability to recover the costs
incurred through the pricing of our products. Material price increases or incentives to conserve or use alternative energy sources
could also reduce demand for products we currently sell and adversely affect our sales volumes, revenues and margins.
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ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

Information appearing in “Item 1. Business” describing our business activities is incorporated herein by reference.
Our principal executive office, which is leased, is located at 801 Travis Street, Suite 2100, Houston, Texas 77002.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Pursuant to a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release by and among Blue Dolphin, LEH and Lazarus Louisiana Refinery II, LLC
(“LLRII”) effective February 15, 2012, the parties agreed to settle and compromise all disputes between them in connection with
closing of the Acquisition. LEH has agreed to file a non-suit with prejudice of all pending claims against Blue Dolphin under Cause
No. 210-32561, styled Blue Dolphin Energy Company v. Lazarus Energy Holdings, L.L.C. and Lazarus Louisiana Refinery II, L.L.C.,
in the 129 th District Court of Harris County, Texas (the “Lawsuit”). Blue Dolphin has agreed that it will not execute or attempt to
execute on an order that was signed on May 16, 2011 in the Lawsuit severing LEH’s counterclaims into Cause No. 2010-32561-A,
which resulted in a Partial Summary Judgment becoming a final judgment in Blue Dolphin’s favor.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Price for Common Stock
Our Common Stock is quoted on the OTCQX U.S. Premier tier under the ticker symbol “BDCO.” As of March 30, 2012, we had 292
record holders of our Common Stock. Based on the record date for our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders, which was held on
January 27, 2012, we had approximately 3,000 beneficial holders of our Common Stock.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low prices for our Common Stock as reported by the Nasdaq and
the OTC Markets. The quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without adjustment for retail mark-ups, markdowns or commissions and
may not represent actual transactions.
Quarter Ended

2011
December 31
September 30
June 30
March 31
2010 (1)
December 31
September 30
June 30
March 31
(1)
(2)

High

Low

$4.47
$3.50
$8.91
$9.09

$2.00
$2.19
$1.30
$2.21

$2.88
$3.64
$4.90
$3.71

$1.70
$0.99
$1.33
$2.24

Prices for September 30, June 30 and March 31, 2010 have been adjusted to reflect our 1-for-7 reverse stock split, which
occurred in the quarter ended September 30, 2010.
Between June 13, 2011 and September 1, 2011, our Common Stock traded on the OTCQB.

Simultaneous with the delisting of our Common Stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market on February 28, 2012, our Common Stock
began trading on the OTCQX U.S. Premier tier of the OTC Markets under the ticker symbol “BDCO” See “Recent Developments” in
“Part I, Item 1. Business” of this report for additional information related to Nasdaq’s decision to delist our Common Stock.
Dividend Policy
We have not declared or paid any dividends on our Common Stock since our incorporation. We currently intend to retain earnings for
our capital needs and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on the Common Stock in the
foreseeable future. We expect that any loan agreements we enter into in the future will likely contain restrictions on the payment of
dividends on our Common Stock. Future policy with respect to dividends will be determined by the Board based upon our earnings
and financial condition, capital requirements and other considerations. We are a holding company that conducts substantially all of
our operations through our subsidiaries. As a result, our ability to pay dividends on the Common Stock will also be dependent upon
the cash flow of our subsidiaries.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information for all equity compensation plans as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, under
which our equity securities were authorized for issuance:
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders
Total

Number of Securities to
be Issued Upon Exercise
of Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights
(a)

28,887

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights
(b)

$

—

13.29

—

28,887

$

13.29

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding Securities
Reflected in Column (a))
(c)

80,495

—
80,495
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Quarters Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

December 31

Total

2011
Revenue from operations:
Pipeline operations
Oil and gas sales

$ 342,630
349,704

$ 267,375
353,027

692,334

620,402

221,334
258,443
146,708
—
473,391
33,086
—

245,032
271,836
136,828
—
349,245
32,993
—

1,132,962

1,035,934

Total revenue from operations
Cost of operations:
Pipeline operating expenses
Lease operating expenses
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Impairment of oil and gas properties
General and administrative expenses
Accretion expense
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment
Total cost of operations
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense), including income tax
expense

(440,628)

$

$

520,423

(415,532)

8,540

219,006
301,417

1,598

102,489
338,570

$

931,500
1,342,718

441,059

2,274,218

532,931
286,439
123,355
—
293,567
32,805
(3,267,070)

9,562
357,534
185,036
252,706
458,161
32,806
186,017

1,008,859
1,174,252
591,927
252,706
1,574,364
131,690
(3,081,053)

(1,997,973)

1,481,822

2,518,396

(1,040,763)

5,138

(18,814)

1,652,745
621,473
(3,538)

Net income (loss)

$ (432,088)

$ (413,934)

$ 2,523,534

$(1,059,577)

$

617,935

Income (Loss) per share:
Basic

$

(0.21)

$

(0.20)

$

1.20

$

(0.50)

$

0.30

$

(0.21)

$

(0.20)

$

1.20

$

(0.50)

$

0.29

$

502,369
237,940

$

Diluted
2010
Revenue from operations:
Pipeline operations
Oil and gas sales

$ 429,087
19,022

$ 462,392
21,199

485,038
584,524

$ 1,878,886
862,685

Total revenue from operations
Cost of operations:
Pipeline operating expenses
Lease operating expenses
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Recovery of allowance for doubtful
loanreceivable
General and administrative expenses
Stock based compensation
Accretion expense

448,109

483,591

740,309

1,069,562

2,741,571

286,988
21,188
117,846

325,323
7,824
128,855

243,531
221,019
217,105

242,755
423,737
155,523

1,098,597
673,768
619,329

—
479,222
40,320
29,058

—
359,027
13,440
29,057

(201,000)
306,288
—
30,563

—
283,266
—
31,316

(201,000)
1,427,803
53,760
119,994

Total cost of operations
Other income (expense), including income tax
expense

974,622

863,526

817,506

759

9,998

1,136,597

8,115

8,913

Net loss

$ (525,754)

$ (369,937)

$

(69,082)

$

(58,122)

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted

$

$

$

(0.04)

$

(0.03)

(0.26)
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3,792,251
27,785
$(1,022,895)
$

(0.55)
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ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following is a review of certain aspects of our financial condition and results of operations and should be read in conjunction with
“Item 1, Business” and “Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” as well as the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.”
Executive Summary
As of December 31, 2011, we operated two lines of business through our subsidiaries: (i) pipeline transportation services to
producers/shippers, and (ii) oil and gas exploration and production. Our pipeline assets are located primarily offshore in the Texas
Gulf Coast area and our leasehold interests in properties are located in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and the North Sumatra Basin
offshore Indonesia.
Pipeline Operations.
•

BDPS – The BDPS is currently transporting an aggregate of approximately 3 MMcf of gas per day, which represents 1% of
throughput capacity.

•

GA 350 – The GA 350 is currently transporting an aggregate of approximately 9 MMcf of gas per day, which represents 14% of
throughput capacity.

Exploration and Production.
•

North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field – The H-4 Well is currently producing approximately 370 barrels of oil per day.

•

High Island Block 115 – The B-1 ST2 Well is currently producing approximately 2 MMcf of gas per day.

•

Galveston Area Block 321 – The A-4 Well is currently producing approximately 2 MMcf of gas per day.

•

High Island Block 37 – The block contains no active wells.

In recent years, throughput volumes on our pipelines and production rates from our leasehold properties in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico
have continued to decline as a result of decreased activity in the Gulf of Mexico and depleting reserves. Following the April 2010
Deepwater Horizon explosion and oil spill, regulators have moved slowly to issue new drilling permits in the Gulf of Mexico. This has
negatively impacted our ability to attract new producers/shippers to our pipelines and to acquire additional leasehold interests.
Although our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and gas properties may continue to operate over the next twelve to eighteen months, we expect
the operating costs to exceed gross revenues based on current reserves and net cash flow estimates making these properties
uneconomic. As a result of the Acquisition, we anticipate that our core focus going forward will be crude oil and condensate
processing.
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Results of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2011 (the “current period”), we reported net income of $617,935 compared to a net loss of
$1,022,895 for the year ended December 31, 2010 (the “previous period”). For the three months ended December 31, 2011 (the
“current quarter”), we reported a net loss of $1,059,577 compared to a net loss of $58,122 for the three months ended December 31,
2010 (the “previous quarter”).
2011 Compared to 2010
Revenue from Pipeline Operations. Revenue from pipeline operations decreased by $947,386, or 50%, in the current period to
$931,500. Revenue in the current period from the BDPS totaled approximately $659,500 compared to approximately $1,538,000 in
the previous period primarily due to lower volumes of transported gas. Daily gas volumes transported through the BDPS averaged
approximately 5 MMcf of gas per day in the current period compared to approximately 14 MMcf of gas per day in the previous
period. Revenue on the GA 350 decreased by approximately $69,000 to approximately $272,000 in the current period primarily due
to natural production declines. Daily gas volumes transported through the GA 350 decreased to approximately 14 MMcf of gas per
day in the current period from approximately 17 MMcf of gas per day in the previous period.
Revenue from Oil and Gas Sales. Revenue from oil and gas sales increased by $480,033, or 56%, to $1,342,718 in the current period
primarily due to production from the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field.
Our average realized gas price per Mcf in the current period was $3.71 compared to $3.85 in the previous period. The sales mix by
product was 93% oil and 7% gas. Our average realized price per barrel of oil was $118.59 in the current period compared to $88.14
in the previous period.
Revenue breakdown for the current period by field was approximately $1,222,400 for the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field, $84,200
for High Island Block 115, $26,900 for Galveston Area Block 321 and $9,200 for High Island Block 37. Revenue breakdown for the
previous period by field was approximately $720,300 for the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field, $48,900 for High Island Block 115,
$48,200 for Galveston Area Block 321 and $45,300 for High Island Block 37.
Pipeline Operating Expenses. Pipeline operating expenses decreased by $89,738, or 8%, to $1,008,859 in the current period. The
decrease was primarily due to decreases in insurance expense, chemicals, saltwater disposal transportation costs, property taxes
and other operating expenses. The decreases were partially offset by an increase in legal expenses, related to the sale of the
Buccaneer Pipeline.
Lease Operating Expenses. Lease operating expenses increased $500,484, or 74%, in the current period to $1,174,252 primarily due
to expenses from the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field. Lease operating costs associated with North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field
totaled approximately $1,098,500 for the current period.
Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization. Depletion, depreciation and amortization decreased by $27,402, or 4%, in the current
period to $591,927 primarily due to lower depletion of the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field.
Impairment of Oil and Gas Properties. We utilize the full cost method of accounting to account for our oil and natural gas exploration
and development activities. Under this method of accounting, we are required on a quarterly basis to determine whether the book
value of our oil and natural gas properties (excluding unevaluated properties) is less than or equal to the “ceiling,” based upon the
expected after tax present value (discounted at 10%) of the future net cash flows from our proved reserves, calculated using
prevailing oil and natural gas prices on the last day of the period, or a subsequent higher price under certain circumstances. Any
excess of the net book value of our oil and natural gas properties over the ceiling must be recognized as a non-cash impairment
expense. Our ceiling for the current period was
33

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

calculated using domestic prices of $96.04 per barrel of oil and $4.18 per Mcf of gas and an international price of $114.95 per barrel
of oil. At December 31, 2011, our costs exceeded our ceiling limitation, resulting in a write-down of our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and
gas properties of $252,706. Our ceiling for the previous period was calculated using prices of $79.61 per barrel of oil and $4.33 per
Mcf of gas.
General and Administrative Expenses and Stock Based Compensation. General and administrative expenses and stock based
compensation expenses increased by $146,561, or 10%, in the current period to $1,574,364 primarily due to increases in franchise
tax, employee bonuses, employee insurance, shareholder reporting expenses and software maintenance fees. The increases were
partially offset by decreases in officer salaries, consulting and audit expense.
Gain on Sale of Property and Equipment. During the current period, BDPL sold its eighty-three and one-third percent
(83 1/3%) undivided interest in the Buccaneer Pipeline to Sunoco for proceeds of approximately $3.6 million in cash. The gain on the
sale was approximately $3.1 million
Recovery of Allowance for Doubtful Loan Receivable. Recovery for allowance for doubtful loan receivable reduced by $201,000 in the
current period primarily due to the addition of a disposal well, with a fair market value of $201,000, which was recorded as a recovery
of a bad debt expense on an outstanding loan receivable, net of credited and recovered amounts in the previous period.
Three Months Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended December 31, 2010
Revenue from Pipeline Operations. Revenue from pipeline operations decreased by $382,549, or 79%, in the current quarter to
$102,489 primarily due to the decrease in oil volumes transported. Revenue in the current quarter from the BDPS decreased to
approximately $34,700 compared to approximately $397,500 in the previous quarter. Daily gas volumes transported on the BDPS
averaged 1 MMcf of gas per day in the current quarter compared to 12 MMcf of gas per day in the previous quarter. Revenue on the
GA 350 decreased to approximately $67,800 compared to approximately $87,500 in the previous quarter due to a decrease in
average daily gas volumes transported of 13 MMcf of gas per day in the current quarter from 17 MMcf of gas per day in the previous
quarter.
Revenue from Oil and Gas Sales. Revenue from oil and gas sales decreased by $245,945, or 42% to $338,570 in the current quarter
primarily due to a reduction in production from the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field and High Island Block 115 in the same period.
Pipeline Operating Expenses. Pipeline operating expenses in the current quarter decreased by $233,193, or 96%, to $9,562 due to
certain costs in the current quarter associated with the sale of the Buccaneer Pipeline and related assets to Sunoco that occurred in
third quarter of 2011. Excluding this, pipeline operating expenses in the current quarter decreased $47,176, or 19%, due to decreases
in pipeline repairs and maintenance costs, property taxes, saltwater disposal transportation costs and contract labor, which was offset
by an increase in legal expenses.
Lease Operating Expenses. Lease operating expenses decreased in the current quarter by $66,203, or 15%, to $357,534 primarily as
a result of decreased production from the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field.
Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization. Depletion, depreciation and amortization increased by $29,513, or 19%, in the current
quarter to $185,036 primarily due to additional depletion on the domestic oil and gas properties.
General and Administrative Expenses and Stock Based Compensation. General and administrative expenses and stock based
compensation expenses increased by $174,895, or 62%, to $458,161 in the current quarter primarily due to increases in shareholder
reporting expenses, franchise tax, employee insurance, software maintenance fees and employee bonuses. The increases were
partially offset by decreases in consulting expense.
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Impairment of Oil and Gas Properties. During the fourth quarter of the current period we recorded a full cost ceiling impairment of
$252,706 on our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and gas properties.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash. Our primary source of cash is cash flow from operations and cash on hand. During 2011, we had positive
cash flow from operations of approximately $1,686,797 mainly due to the sale of the Buccaneer Pipeline and related assets to Sunoco
for proceeds of approximately $3.6 million in cash.
The Nixon Facility will provide Blue Dolphin with positive cash flow. We expect to fund our operations, any additional capital
expenditures related to the Nixon Facility and the potential acquisition of LED with the proceeds from the sale of refined products.
Further, we expect our overall liquidity to increase in 2012 due to the revenue generated by the Nixon Facility.
We do not enter into any hedges or any type of derivatives to offset changes in commodity prices. We also do not have any
outstanding debt or a credit facility with a bank or institution that may restrict us from issuing debt or Common Stock. At
December 31, 2011, our current available cash was $1,941,221.
For Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Cash flow from operations
Loss from operations
Change in current assets and liabilities
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Total cash flow from operations (including gain on
disposal)
Cash outflows
Capital expenditures and advance of loan receivable
Payments on financing activities
Total cash outflows

$(1,426,795)
(450,391)
3,563,983
1,686,797
(246,494)
(124,936)
(371,430)

Total change in cash flows

$ 1,315,367

$(350,812)
226,219
—
(124,593)
(58,719)
(207,317)
(266,036)
$(390,629)

In recent years, we have used a portion of our cash reserves to fund our working capital requirements that were not funded from
operations.
Critical Accounting Policies
The selection and application of accounting policies is an important process that has developed as our business activities have
evolved and as the accounting rules have changed. Accounting rules generally do not involve a selection among alternatives, but
involve an implementation and interpretation of existing rules, and the use of judgment, to the specific set of circumstances existing in
our business. We make every effort to properly comply with all applicable rules at or before their adoption, and believe the proper
implementation and consistent application of accounting rules is critical. However, not all situations are specifically addressed in the
accounting literature. In these cases, we must use our best judgment to adopt a policy for accounting for these situations. We
accomplish this by comparatively analyzing similar situations and reviewing the accounting guidance governing them, and may
consult with our independent registered independent accounting firm about the appropriate interpretation and application of these
policies. Our most critical accounting policies currently relate to the accounting for the impairment of long-lived assets, which include
primarily our oil and gas properties and our pipeline assets, as of December 31, 2011 and the accounting for future asset retirement
costs.
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Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) on accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, we initiate a review for impairment of our longlived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of an asset is measured by comparison of its carrying amount to the expected future undiscounted cash
flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of that asset, excluding future interest costs that would be recognized
as an expense when incurred. Any impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds its fair market value. Significant management judgment is required in the forecasting of future operating results which
are used in the preparation of projected cash flows and, should different conditions prevail or judgments be made, material
impairment charges could be necessary. Currently, our pipeline assets are significantly underutilized and such underutilization is an
indicator of possible impairment at December 31, 2011. Accordingly, in reviewing our expected future cash flows as of December 31,
2011, we expect to be generated positive cash flow from our pipeline assets based on certain assumptions. The most significant
assumption made in connection with the preparation of expected future cash flows is that pipeline throughput volumes will increase
over the next few years due to increased leasing and drilling activities surrounding our pipelines from current and prospective oil and
gas companies. Based on the results of the impairment test, which indicates expected future undiscounted cash flows are in excess
of the pipeline assets net carrying value, no impairment was recorded at December 31, 2011.
Asset Retirement Obligations. The accounting for future abandonment costs changed in August 2001, with the adoption of guidance
on accounting for asset retirement obligations. This guidance requires that a liability for the discounted fair value of an asset
retirement obligation be recorded in the period in which it is incurred and the corresponding cost capitalized by increasing the
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The liability is accreted towards its future value each period, and the capitalized cost is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. If the liability is settled for an amount other than the recorded amount, a gain or
loss is recognized. Future asset retirement costs include costs to dismantle, relocate or dispose of our offshore platforms, pipeline
systems and related onshore facilities, plugging and abandonment of wells and land and sea bed restoration costs. We develop these
cost estimates for each of our assets based upon regulatory requirements, platform structure, water depth, reservoir characteristics,
reservoir depth, equipment market demand, current procedures and construction and engineering consultations. Because these costs
typically extend many years into the future, estimating these future costs are difficult and require management to make judgments
that are subject to future revisions based upon numerous factors, including changing technology, political and regulatory
environments. We review our assumptions and estimates of future abandonment costs on a quarterly basis.
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. The current guidance clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized
in an enterprise’s financial statements. It also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The standard also provides
guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition.
The evaluation of a tax position in accordance with the guidance is a two-step process. The first step is a recognition process
whereby the enterprise determines whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. In evaluating whether a tax
position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the enterprise should presume that the position will be examined by
the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The second step is a measurement process
whereby a tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is calculated to determine the amount of benefit to
recognize in the financial statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provisions of the guidance are to be applied to all tax positions. Only tax positions that
meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are recognized.
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The provisions of the guidance have been applied to all of our material tax positions taken through the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011. We have determined that all of our material tax positions taken in our income tax returns and the positions we
expect to take in our future income tax filings meet the more likely-than-not recognition threshold prescribed by the guidance. In
addition, we determined that, based on our judgment, none of these tax positions meet the definition of “uncertain tax positions” that
are subject to the non-recognition criteria set forth in the pronouncement.
Fair Value Measurements. We follow guidance on fair value measurements, which clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and expands the disclosures on fair value measurements.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable.
Remainder of page intentionally left blank
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Blue Dolphin Energy Company
Houston, Texas
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Blue Dolphin Energy Company and Subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2011. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
/s/ UHY LLP
Houston, Texas
March 30, 2012
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BLUE DOLPHIN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,
2011

2010

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
Loan receivable, net of allowance for loan receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$ 1,941,221
534,873
—
302,236

Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost:
Oil and gas properties (full-cost method)
Pipelines
Onshore separation and handling facilities
Land
Other property and equipment

1,437,316

2,321,913
4,373,262
1,344,455
473,225
557,374

2,222,535
4,659,686
1,919,402
860,275
503,813

9,070,229
5,449,061

10,165,711
5,630,730

3,621,168
9,463

4,534,981
9,463

$ 6,408,961

$ 5,981,760

$

$

Total property and equipment, net
Other assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Note payable—insurance
Asset retirement obligation—current portion
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Asset retirement obligations, net of current portion
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock ($0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 2,098,390 and
2,078,514 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholder’s equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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625,854
598,391
—
213,071

2,778,330

Less: Accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization

Total assets

$

441,699
—
203,448
18,679

543,327
124,936
192,470
2,142

663,826

862,875

2,483,701

2,535,386

2,483,701

2,535,386

3,147,527
—

3,398,261
—

20,984
33,753,061
(30,512,611)

20,785
33,693,260
(31,130,546)

3,261,434

2,583,499

$ 6,408,961

$ 5,981,760
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BLUE DOLPHIN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Revenue from operations:
Pipeline operations
Oil and gas sales

$

Total revenue from operations
Cost of operations:
Pipeline operating expenses
Lease operating expenses
Depletion, depreciation and amortizaton
Impairment of oil and gas properties
Recovery of allowance for doubtful loan receivable
General and administrative expenses
Stock-based compensation
Accretion expense
Gain on sale of property and equipment, less disposal costs
Total cost of operations

931,500
1,342,718

$ 1,878,886
862,685

2,274,218

2,741,571

1,008,859
1,174,252
591,927
252,706
—
1,574,364
—
131,690
(3,081,053)

1,098,597
673,768
619,329
—
(201,000)
1,427,803
53,760
119,994
—

1,652,745

Income (loss) from operations

3,792,251

621,473

Other income (expense):
Interest and other income

(1,050,680)

17,383

32,370

Total other income (expense)

17,383

32,370

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense

638,856
(20,921)

(1,018,310)
(4,585)
$(1,022,895)

Net income (loss)

$

617,935

Income (loss) per common share:
Basic

$

0.30

$

(0.55)

$

0.29

$

(0.55)

Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2,093,840

1,864,354

2,096,497

1,864,354
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BLUE DOLPHIN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Balance at December 31, 2009
Common stock issued for acquisition
Common stock issued for services
Stock-based compensation
Retirement of fractional shares
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2010
Common stock issued for services
Net income
Balance at December 31, 2011

Common
Stock
Shares

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

1,696,710

$16,967

$32,880,208

$(30,107,651)

$ 2,789,524

342,857
39,987
—
(1,040)
—

3,429
400
—
(11)
—

682,285
79,600
53,760
(2,593)
—

2,078,514

20,785

33,693,260

19,876
—

199
—

59,801
—

2,098,390

$20,984

$33,753,061

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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—
—
—
—
(1,022,895)

685,714
80,000
53,760
(2,604)
(1,022,895)

(31,130,546)

2,583,499

—
617,935
$(30,512,611)

60,000
617,935
$ 3,261,434
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BLUE DOLPHIN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Recovery of previous allowance for doubtful loan receivable
Impairment of oil and gas properties
Accretion expense
Stock-based compensation
Common stock issued for services
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Settlement of asset retirement obligations
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

617,935

$(1,022,895)

591,927
(3,081,053)
—
252,706
131,690
—
60,000

619,329
—
(201,000)
—
119,994
53,760
80,000

63,518
(89,165)
(339,653)
(85,091)

(170,267)
302,949
(45,525)
139,062

Net cash used in operating activities

(1,877,186)

(124,593)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

(246,494)
3,563,983

(58,719)
—

3,317,489

(58,719)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments on notes payable
Retirement of fractional shares
Net cash used in financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(124,936)
—

(204,713)
(2,604)

(124,936)

(207,317)

1,315,367

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

(390,629)

625,854

1,016,483

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

$ 1,941,221

$

625,854

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Financing of insurance premiums

$

—

$

156,170

Purchase of property and equipment with company stock

$

—

$

685,714

Property and equipment acquired as partial settlement of loan receivable

$

—

$

201,000

Increase in asset retirement obligation and property and equipment

$

$

391,369

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BLUE DOLPHIN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(1)

Organization and Significant Accounting Policies
Organization
Blue Dolphin Energy Company (“Blue Dolphin,” “we” and “our”) was incorporated in Delaware in January 1986 to engage in oil
and gas exploration, production and acquisition activities and oil and gas transportation and marketing services. We were
formed pursuant to a reorganization effective June 9, 1986.
Principles of Consolidation
Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Reverse Stock Split
On June 9, 2010 our stockholders approved a reverse stock split of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the
“Common Stock”) at a ratio within a range from 1 for 5 (1:5) to 1 for 10 (1:10), at the discretion of the Board, at any time prior to
September 1, 2010. The Board set the reverse stock split ratio at 1 for 7 (1:7) on June 30, 2010. The effective date for the
reverse stock split was July 16, 2010. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse stock split. Each holder of
Common Stock who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fractional share of Common Stock was, in lieu of such fractional
share, paid in cash at fair market value. We paid approximately $2,604 for the repurchase of fractional shares.
In addition, the Board elected not to alter the number of authorized shares or change the par value of the Common Stock, such
number of authorized shares remaining at 100,000,000 shares and such par value remaining a $0.01 per share. Earnings per
share, common stock outstanding and weighted average common stock outstanding as referred to in these consolidated
financial statements have been restated, where applicable, to give retroactive effect of the reverse stock split.
Accounting Estimates
We have made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of consolidated assets and liabilities and to the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) as codified by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) in its Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). This includes assessing the realization of the note receivable, the estimated useful life of pipeline
assets, valuation of stock-based payments and reserve information, which affects the depletion calculation as well as the full
cost ceiling limitation. While we believe current estimates are reasonable and appropriate, actual results could differ from those
estimated.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less. We maintain cash and cash
equivalent balances at one financial institution that is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”). Cash
balances are maintained in depository and overnight investment accounts with financial institutions which at times, exceed
insured limits. We monitor the financial condition of the financial institutions and have experienced no losses associated with
these accounts.
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BLUE DOLPHIN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
In October 2008, the FDIC amended its deposit insurance provisions to increase the basic limit amount from $100,000 to
$250,000 per depositor. The coverage increase, which was intended to be temporary, was to revert back to $100,000 per
depositor limit on December 31, 2009. However, in May 2009, the FDIC extended the coverage date through December 31,
2013. The temporary increase was made permanent in 2010 by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act.
Oil and Gas Properties
Oil and gas properties are accounted for using the full-cost method of accounting, whereby all costs associated with acquisition,
exploration, and development of oil and gas properties, including directly related internal costs, are capitalized on a cost center
basis. We use one cost center for our U.S. Gulf of Mexico properties and one cost center for our Indonesian properties.
Amortization of such costs and estimated future development costs are determined using the unit-of-production method. Costs
directly associated with the acquisition and evaluation of unproved properties are excluded from the amortization computation
until it is determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to the properties or impairment has occurred.
Estimated proved oil and gas reserves are based upon reports prepared by third-party petroleum engineering consulting firms.
The net carrying value of oil and gas properties, less related deferred income taxes, is limited to the lower of unamortized cost or
the cost center ceiling, defined as the sum of the present value (10% discount rate applied) of estimated future net revenue from
proved reserves, after giving effect to income taxes, and the lower of cost or estimated fair value of unproved properties. Since
our unamortized cost exceeded the present value of estimated future net revenue from domestic operations, we recorded an
impairment to our U.S. Gulf of Mexico oil and gas properties of $252,706 in 2011. We recorded no such impairment in 2010.
Disposition of oil and gas properties is recorded as adjustments to capitalized costs, with no gain or loss recognized unless
such adjustments would significantly alter the relationship between capitalized costs and proved reserves.
We capitalize interest on expenditures made in connection with significant exploration and development projects that are not
subject to current amortization. Interest is capitalized only for the period that activities are in progress to bring these projects to
their intended use. No interest has been capitalized for the years reflected herein.
Pipelines and Facilities
Pipelines and facilities are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives
ranging from 10 to 22 years.
In accordance with the ASC on accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, assets are grouped and evaluated
for impairment based on the ability to identify separate cash flows generated therefrom. We did not have any impairment of our
pipelines and facilities for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. During the year, BDPL sold its eighty-three and onethird percent (83 1/3%) undivided interest in the Buccaneer Pipeline to Sunoco Partners Marketing and Terminals L.P.
1 3%
(“Sunoco”). BDPL still maintains its 83 1/3% undivided interest in the Galveston Area Block 350 Pipeline, as well as an 83/
undivided interest in the Omega Pipeline.
Other Property and Equipment
Depreciation of furniture, fixtures and other equipment is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives
ranging from 3 to 10 years.
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Asset Retirement Obligations
We follow the guidance on accounting for asset retirement obligations, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for
obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. The standard
applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction,
development and/or normal use of the asset.
The guidance requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is
incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The fair value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the
associated asset and this additional carrying amount is depreciated over the life of the asset. If the obligation is settled for other
than the carrying amount of the liability, a gain or loss on settlement is recognized.
We have asset retirement obligations associated with the future abandonment of our pipelines and related facilities and our
offshore oil and gas properties. The following table summarizes our asset retirement obligation transactions during the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Beginning asset retirement obligations
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities settled
Accretion expense

$2,727,856
167,256
(339,653)
131,690

$2,262,018
391,877
(46,033)
119,994

Ending asset retirement obligations

$2,687,149

$2,727,856

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation is recognized in our consolidated financial statements based on the fair value, on the date of grant
or modification, of the equity instrument awarded. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated
financial statements on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award.
Recognition of Oil and Gas Revenue
Sales from producing wells are recognized on the entitlement method of accounting, which defers recognition of sales when,
and to the extent that, deliveries to customers exceed our net revenue interest in production. Similarly, when deliveries are
below our net revenue interest in production, sales are recorded to reflect the full net revenue interest. Our imbalance liability at
December 31, 2011 was not material.
Recognition of Pipeline Transportation Revenue
Revenue from our pipelines is derived from fee-based contracts and is typically based on transportation fees per unit of volume
transported multiplied by the volume delivered. Revenue is recognized when volumes have been physically delivered for the
customer through the pipeline.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents
our estimate of the amount of probable credit losses existing in our accounts receivable. We have a limited number of customers
with individually large amounts due at any given date. Any unanticipated change in any one of these customers’ credit
worthiness or other matters affecting the collectability of amounts due from such customers could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations in the period in which such changes or events occur. We regularly review all aged accounts
receivables for collectability and establish an allowance as necessary for individual customer balances. As of December 31,
2011 and 2010, we did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts.
Income Taxes
We provide for income taxes using the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and
tax credit carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
The evaluation of a tax position is a two-step process. The first step is a recognition process whereby the enterprise determines
whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related
appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the enterprise should presume that the position will be examined by the appropriate
taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The second step is a measurement process whereby a tax
position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is calculated to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in
the financial statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being
realized upon ultimate settlement.
Earnings Per Share
We apply the provisions of the ASC for computing earnings per share. The guidance requires the presentation of basic earnings
per share (“EPS”) which excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. The guidance requires dual presentation of
basic EPS and diluted EPS on the face of the consolidated statement of operations and requires a reconciliation of the
numerators and denominators of basic EPS and diluted EPS. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to
common shareholders by the diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding, which includes the potential
dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were converted to common stock that then shared
in the earnings of the entity.
Employee stock options and stock warrants outstanding were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for
the year ended December 31, 2010, because their assumed exercise and conversion would have an anti-dilutive effect on the
computation of diluted income (loss) per share.
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The following table provides reconciliation between basic and diluted income (loss) per share:
2011

2010

$ 617,935

$(1,022,895)

Basic and Diluted
Net income (loss)
Basic
Weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding
Per share amount

2,093,840
$

Effect of dilutive stock options

0.30

1,864,354
$

2,657

Diluted
Weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding and potential dilutive shares of common stock
Per share amount
Employee stock options excluded from computation of diluted
EPS because effect would be anti-dilutive

—

2,096,497
$

0.29
26,803

(0.55)

1,864,354
$

(0.55)
30,390

Environmental
We are subject to extensive domestic and foreign environmental laws and regulations. These laws, which are constantly
changing, regulate the discharge of materials into the environment and may require us to remove or mitigate the environmental
effects of the disposal or release of petroleum or chemical substances at various sites. Environmental expenditures are
expensed or capitalized depending on their future economic benefit. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by
past operations and that have no future economic benefits are expensed. Liabilities for expenditures of a noncapital nature are
recorded when environmental assessment and/or remediation is probable, and the costs can be reasonably estimated. Such
liabilities are generally recorded at their undiscounted amounts unless the amounts and timing of payments is fixed or reliably
determinable. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, no environmental violation was recorded on our consolidated balance
sheets.
(2)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other
current liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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(3)

Loan Receivable
We recorded an allowance for doubtful loan receivable of $1.5 million at December 31, 2009. The loan receivable is associated
with a $2.0 million loan, net of credited and recovered amounts (the “Loan”), made to Lazarus Louisiana Refinery II, LLC
(“LLRII”) on July 31, 2009 and due on January 31, 2010. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we maintained an allowance for the
uncollected balance of the Loan.
Pursuant to a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release dated February 15, 2012, by and among Blue Dolphin, Lazarus Energy
Holdings, LLC (“LEH”) and LLRII, the parties agreed to settle and compromise all disputes between them in connection with
closing of the Acquisition in the subsequent period. LEH has agreed to file a non-suit with prejudice of all pending claims against
Blue Dolphin under Cause No. 210-32561, styled Blue Dolphin Energy Company v. Lazarus Energy Holdings, L.L.C. and
Lazarus Louisiana Refinery II, L.L.C., in the 129th District Court of Harris County, Texas (the “Lawsuit”). Blue Dolphin has
agreed that it will not execute or attempt to execute on an order that was signed on May 16, 2011 in the Lawsuit severing LEH’s
counterclaims into Cause No. 2010-32561-A, which resulted in a Partial Summary Judgment becoming a final judgment in Blue
Dolphin’s favor.

(4)

Income Taxes
Income tax expense consisted of $20,921 and $4,585 and was related to state income tax for the years ended 2011 and 2010,
respectively.
The income tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities at December 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below:
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards
AMT credit carryforward
Basis differences in property and equipment

2011

2010

$ 6,693,850
—
(519,890)

$ 7,236,636
11,564
(661,540)

6,173,960
(6,173,960)

6,586,660
(6,586,660)

Total deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net

$

—

$

—

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, we determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will be realized. A full valuation allowance against our deferred tax asset was recognized at
December 31, 2011 and 2010 due to our uncertainty as to the utilization of the deferred tax assets in the foreseeable future. The
net change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2011 was a decrease of $412,700 in 2011 and an
increase $329,864 in 2010.
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Our effective tax rate applicable to continuing operations in 2011 and 2010 is as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Expected tax rate
Change in valuation allowance recognized in earnings

34.00%
(30.73%)

(34.00%)
34.42%

3.27%

0.42%

For federal tax purposes, we had net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $19.7 million at December 31,
2011. These NOLs must be used prior to their expiration, which will occur between 2018 and 2030.
We adopted the provisions of the ASC guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. The guidance clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. The guidance also prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The standard also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
The provisions of the guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes have been applied to all of our material tax
positions taken for all open tax years on the date of adoption through the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. We have
determined that all of our material tax positions taken in our income tax returns and the positions we expect to take in our future
income tax filings meet the more likely-than-not recognition threshold. In addition, we have determined that, based on our
judgment, none of these tax positions meet the definition of “uncertain tax positions” that are subject to the non-recognition
criteria set forth in the guidance.
The State of Texas has a business tax that is imposed on gross revenue to replace its prior franchise tax regime. Although the
Texas margins tax (“TMT”) is imposed on an entity’s gross revenue rather than on its net income, certain aspects of the tax
make it similar to an income tax. In accordance with the accounting guidance, we have properly determined the impact of the
TMT in the determination of our reported state current and deferred income tax liability.
As part of this guidance, we record income tax related interest and penalties, if applicable, as a component of the provision for
income tax expense. However, there were no amounts recognized relating to interest and penalties in the consolidated
statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Furthermore, none of our federal and state income
tax returns are currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or state authorities. As of December 31,
2011, fiscal years 2008 and later remain subject to examination by the IRS and fiscal years 2007 and later remain subject to
examination by State of Texas. We believe there are no uncertain tax positions for both federal and state income taxes.
(5)

Stock Options
We adopted the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”) effective April 14, 2000, under which we make stock-based
compensation awards. In 2007, the number of shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”),
reserved for grants of incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and other stock-based awards under the 2000 Plan was increased to
1,200,000 shares. In July 2010, our stockholders approved a 1-for-7 reverse-stock-split of our Common Stock, which reduced
the number of shares available for grant under the 2000 Plan from 1,200,000 shares to 171,128 shares. As of December 31,
2011, we had 80,495 shares of Common Stock available for future grants. Options granted under the 2000 Plan have
contractual terms ranging
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from six to ten years. The exercise price of ISOs cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of a share of our Common
Stock as determined on the grant date. With the exception of certain ISOs granted in 2007 and 2008, all ISO awards vested
immediately. Specifically, 200,000 ISOs granted in May 2007 and 75,000 ISO’s granted in August 2008 have a three year
vesting period and 150,000 ISOs granted in October 2007 have a two year vesting period. An additional 28,500 options were
granted in October 2007 that vested immediately. Although the 2000 Plan provides for the granting of other incentive awards,
only ISOs and non-statutory stock options have been issued under the 2000 Plan. The 2000 Plan is administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board.
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2011, our stockholders approved two amendments to the 2000 Plan: (i) resetting
the expiration date from April 14, 2010 to April 14, 2020 and (ii) increasing the number of shares of Common Stock available for
issuance from 171,128 shares to 1,000,000 shares.
We are permitted a corporate income tax deduction for certain stock options that are exercised by our employees. The corporate
income tax deduction is the amount of income recognized by the employee as a result of exercising the stock option. The
income tax benefit, when taken, is shown on our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as financing cash inflows. For the
foreseeable future, any tax deductions we receive from the exercise of stock options will be applied to the valuation allowance in
determining our net operating loss carry forward.
Additionally, we used the alternate transition method (simplified method) for calculating the beginning balance in the pool of
excess tax benefits in accordance with ASC’s guidance on transition election related to accounting for the tax effects of sharebased payment awards.
We estimate the fair value of stock options granted on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model.
There were no options granted during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Expected volatility when used in the
model is based on the historical volatility of our Common Stock and is weighted 50% for the historical volatility over a past
period equal to the expected term and 50% for the historical volatility over the previous two years prior to the grant date.
The expected term of options granted used in the model represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be
outstanding. The method used to estimate the expected term is the “simplified” method as allowed under the provisions of SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. This number is calculated by taking the average of the sum of the vesting period and the
original contract term. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effect at the date of the grant. As we have not declared dividends on our Common Stock since we
became a public entity, no dividend yield is used. No forfeiture rate is assumed due to the forfeiture history for this type of
award. Actual value realized, if any, is dependent on the future performance of our Common Stock and overall stock market
conditions. There is no assurance that the value realized by an optionee will be at or near the value estimated by the BlackScholes-Merton option-pricing model.
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At December 31, 2011, there were a total of 28,887 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance upon exercise of
outstanding options under the 2000 Plan. A summary of the status of our stock options granted to key employees, officers and
directors, for the purchase of shares of Common Stock, is as follows:

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Options outstanding at December 31, 2009
Options granted
Options exercised
Options expired or cancelled

60,645
—
—
(30,255)

$
$
$
$

17.69
0.00
0.00
22.10

Options outstanding at December 31, 2010
Options granted
Options exercised
Options expired or cancelled

30,390
—
—
(1,503)

$
$
$
$

13.29
0.00
0.00
13.30

2.8

Options outstanding at December 31, 2011

28,887

$

13.29

1.9

Options exercisable at December 31, 2011

28,887

$

13.29

1.9

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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The following table summarizes additional information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2011:

Range of Exercise
Prices

$2.45 to $5.60
$10.85 to $13.30
$19.67

Number
Outstanding

10,118
1,843
16,926

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(Years)

1.3
0.2
2.4

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$
$
$

3.06
10.85
19.67

28,887

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

10,118
1,843
16,926

$ 3.06
$ 10.85
$ 19.67

28,887

The following summarizes the net change in non-vested stock options for the years shown:

Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Non-vested at December 31, 2009
Granted
Canceled or expired
Vested

9,714
—
—
(9,714)

$ 16.46
$ 0.00
$ 0.00
$ 16.46

Non-vested at December 31, 2010
Granted
Canceled or expired
Vested

—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

—

$

0.00

Non-vested at December 31, 2011

As of December 31, 2011, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted under the
2000 Plan.
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(6)

Leases
We have various operating leases that extend through 2013. The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments
under non-cancelable operating leases exceeding one year at December 31, 2011:

Years Ending
December 31,

Future
Minimum
Lease
Payments

2012
2013

137,874
480
$138,354

Rent expense on operating leases for the years indicated are as follows:
Years Ended
December 31,

Lease
Expense

2011
2010
(7)

$113,585
$115,837

Commitments and Contingencies
We are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In our opinion, the ultimate
disposition of these matters will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

(8)

Business Segment Information
At December 31, 2011, our operations were conducted in two business segments: (i) pipeline transportation services and (ii) oil
and gas exploration and production. These segments were managed jointly due to our size. We use earnings before interest
expense and income taxes (“EBIT”) to assess the operating results and effectiveness of our business segments, which consist
of our consolidated businesses and investments. We believe EBIT is useful to our investors because it allows them to evaluate
our operating performance using the same performance measure analyzed internally by our management. We define EBIT as
net income (loss) adjusted for (i) items that do not impact our income or loss from continuing operations, such as the impact of
accounting changes, (ii) income taxes and (iii) interest expense (income). We exclude interest expense (income) and other
expense or income not pertaining to the operations of our segments from this measure so that investors may evaluate our
current operating results without regard to our financing methods or capital structure. We understand that EBIT may not be
comparable to measurements used by other companies. Additionally, EBIT should be considered in conjunction with net income
and other performance measures such as operating cash flows.
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Below is a reconciliation of our EBIT (by segment) for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:
Year Ended December 31, 2011
Segment
Oil and Gas
Pipeline
Exploration &
Corporate &
Transportation
Production
Other(1)

Revenues
Operation cost(2)
Impairment expense
Depletion, depreciation and amortization

$

EBIT

(1)
(2)
(3)

931,500
1,591,617
—

$1,342,718
1,848,013
252,706

380,248

205,826

$

—
449,535
—
—
5,853

Total

$ 2,274,218
3,889,165
252,706
591,927

$(1,040,365)

$ (963,827)

$(455,388)

$(2,459,580)

Capital expenditures

$

8,105

$ 184,828

$ 53,561

$

Identifiable assets

$ 4,454,500

$1,461,740

$ 492,721

$ 6,408,961

(3)

246,494

Includes unallocated G&A costs associated with corporate maintenance costs and legal expenses. It also includes as
identifiable assets corporate available cash of $0.1 million.
Allocable G&A costs are allocated based on revenue.
Identifiable assets contain related legal obligations of each segment including cash, accounts receivable and payable and
recorded net assets.
Year Ended December 31, 2010
Segment

(1)
(2)
(3)

Pipeline
Transportation

Oil and Gas
Exploration &
Production

Revenues
Operation cost(2)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization

$1,878,886
1,943,216
418,923

$ 862,685
1,013,575
195,438

$

EBIT

$ (483,253)

$ (346,328)

$(422,099)

$(1,251,680)

Capital expenditures

$

$1,135,802

$ 201,000

$ 1,336,802

Identifiable assets

$4,303,719

$1,347,628

$ 330,413

$ 5,981,760

(3)

—

Corporate &
Other(1)

—
417,131
4,968

Total

$ 2,741,571
3,373,922
619,329

Includes unallocated G&A costs associated with corporate maintenance costs and legal expenses. It also includes as
identifiable assets corporate available cash of $0.6 million.
Allocable G&A costs are allocated based on revenue.
Identifiable assets contain related legal obligations of each segment including cash, accounts receivable and payable and
recorded net assets.
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We are exposed to concentrations of credit risk as 100% of our customers are within the oil and gas industry. Our customers
may be similarly affected by changes in economic, regulatory or other factors. Trade receivables are generally not
collateralized. However, our customers’ historical and future credit positions are thoroughly analyzed prior to extending credit.
Revenue from customers exceeding 10% of our total revenue was as follows for the periods indicated:
Oil and Gas
Sales

Year Ended December 31, 2011:
Blue Sky
Year Ended December 31, 2010:
Blue Sky
W&T Offshore
Maritech Resources
(9)

Pipeline
Operations

$1,222,378

$

—

$ 720,348
$
—
$ 48,194

$
—
$557,419
$296,921

Customer
Total

% of
Total Revenue

$1,222,378

54%

$ 720,348
$ 557,419
$ 345,115

26%
20%
12%

Disposition of Assets
1 3%) undivided interest in the
Pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement, BDPL sold its eighty-three and one-third percent (83/
Buccaneer Pipeline, as well as some related assets, to Sunoco for proceeds of approximately $3.6 million in cash. The
transaction closed on August 3, 2011.

(10) Subsequent Events
Acquisition of LE. As previously reported, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “PSA”) with LEH and LEH’s
wholly-owned subsidiaries to acquire one hundred percent (100%) of the issued and outstanding membership interests of LE.
LE’s primary asset is the 56-acre Nixon Crude Oil Processing Facility (the “Nixon Facility”).
On February 15, 2012, we acquired LE and issued, in reliance on the exemption provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), 8,393,560 shares of Common Stock, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, to LEH as
consideration for LE (the “Original BDEC Shares”). Additionally, on February 21, 2012, pursuant to the anti-dilution provisions
contained in the PSA, and in reliance on the exemption provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, we issued 32,896 shares
of Common Stock to LEH (the “Anti-Dilution Shares” and together with the Original BDEC Shares, the “BDEC Shares”) effective
February 15 th, 2012. As a result of our issuance of the BDEC Shares, LEH currently owns eighty percent (80%) of our issued
and outstanding Common Stock. The issuance of the BDEC Shares to LEH resulted in a change in control of Blue Dolphin.
Further, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the composition of the Board and management changed.
See our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 22, 201, February 2,
2012, February 21, 2012, February 28, 2012 and March 14, 2012, for more information on the Acquisition.
Management of Blue Dolphin’s Assets. As part of LEH’s assignment of the membership interests of LE, on February 15, 2012,
Blue Dolphin, LE and LEH entered into a Management Agreement (the “Management Agreement”) pursuant to which LEH
agreed to manage and operate the Nixon Facility and Blue Dolphin’s other operations (collectively, the “Services”). Pursuant to
the terms of the Management Agreement, LEH shall retain, as compensation for the Services, the right to receive (i) weekly
payments based on revenues from the sale of diesel blend stocks processed by the Nixon Facility not to exceed $750,000 per
month, (ii) reimbursement for certain accounting
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costs related to the preparation of LE’s financial statements not to exceed $50,000 per month, (iii) $0.25 for each barrel
processed at the Nixon Facility during the term of the Management Agreement, up to a maximum quantity of 10,000 barrels per
day determined on a monthly basis, and (iv) $2.50 for each barrel processed at the Nixon Facility during the term of the
Management Agreement, to the extent the quantity exceeds 10,000 barrels per day determined on a monthly basis. We further
agreed to reimburse LEH at cost for all reasonable expenses incurred while performing the Services. All compensation owed to
LEH under the Management Agreement is to be paid to LEH within 30 days of the end of each calendar month. The
Management Agreement expires upon the earliest to occur of (a) the date of the termination of the Joint Marketing Agreement
between LE and a third party dated August 12, 2011, which has an initial term of three years and year-to-year renewals at the
option of either party thereafter, (b) August 12, 2014, or (c) upon written notice of either party to the Management Agreement of
a material breach of the Management Agreement by the other party. If the Management Agreement is renewed after the
expiration of its initial term, then it will thereafter be reviewed on an annual basis by the Board and may be terminated if the
Board determines that the Management Agreement is no longer in the best interest of Blue Dolphin.
LEH owns approximately eighty percent (80%) of our issued and outstanding Common Stock. Jonathan P. Carroll, our Chief
Executive Officer, President, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary, and Tommy L. Byrd, our interim Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Assistant Secretary, are also a member and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of LEH and, as a result may,
under certain circumstances, have interests that differ from or conflict with our interests. Further, pursuant to the Management
Agreement, LEH manages and operates the Nixon Facility and Blue Dolphin’s other operations. As a result of their relationship
with LEH, Messrs. Carroll and Byrd may experience conflicts of interest in the execution of their duties on behalf of Blue Dolphin
including with respect to the Management Agreement. See “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this report related to related party
transactions.
Lazarus Energy Development, LLC (“LED”) Acquisition. Pursuant to the terms of the PSA, we had the option to acquire all of the
issued and outstanding membership interests of LED, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
LEH. Among other assets, LED holds approximately 46 acres of real property adjacent to the Nixon Facility. On February 7,
2012, we paid LEH a refundable deposit of approximately $183,000 to exercise the option and as partial payment of the
purchase price for LED. As part of the acquisition, we agreed to assume an LED loan in the amount of $1.5 million collateralized
by the real property adjacent to the Nixon Facility. We expect to complete the acquisition of LED from LEH in the first half of
2012 for a total purchase price of approximately $1.68 million. See “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this report related to
acquisition opportunities, as well as “Liquidity and Capital Resources” under “Part II, Item 7” of this report for additional
information on how we plan to fund the acquisition of LED.
(11) Supplemental Oil and Gas Information (Unaudited)
The following supplemental information regarding our oil and gas activities is presented pursuant to the disclosure requirements
promulgated by the SEC and the FASB.
Associated with our non-operating interest in the North Sumatra Basin-Langsa Field, we recognized gas and oil sales revenue
of approximately $1,222,400 and $720,300 in 2011 and 2010, respectively, and lease operating expenses of approximately
$1,098,500 and $601,200 in 2011 and 2010, respectively. We have a working interest of 7.0% and a net revenue interest of
5.20625%, subject to reversion, in the oil field.
Associated with our non-operating interest in High Island Block 115, we recognized gas and oil sales revenue of approximately
$84,200 and $48,900 in 2011 and 2010, respectively, and lease operating expenses of approximately $35,100 and $32,900 in
2011 and 2010, respectively. We have a working interest of 2.5% and a net revenue interest of 2.008% in one zone of a single
well in the lease.
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Associated with our non-operating interest in Galveston Area Block 321, we recognized gas and oil sales revenue of
approximately $26,900 and $48,200 in 2011 and 2010, respectively. We did not incur lease operating expenses in 2011 and
2010. We have an overriding royalty interest of 0.5% in an exploratory well in the lease.
Associated with our non-operating interest in High Island Block 37, we recognized gas and oil sales revenue of approximately
$9,200 and $45,300 in 2011 and 2010, respectively, and lease operating expenses of approximately $27,500 and $39,500 in
2011 and 2010, respectively. We have a working interest of 2.88% and a net revenue interest of 2.246% in the block.
Estimated Quantities of Proved Oil and Gas Reserves (Unaudited)
We retained independent petroleum engineering consulting firms to provide year-end estimates of our future net recoverable oil
and natural gas. Estimated proved net recoverable reserves as indicated herein include only those quantities that can be
expected to be commercially recoverable. Estimated reserves for the year ended December 31, 2011 were computed using
benchmark prices based on the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month prices for oil and natural gas during
each month of 2011, as required by SEC Release No. 33-8995, “Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting,” effective
December 31, 2009. Costs were estimated using costs in effect at the balance sheet dates under existing regulatory practices
and with conventional equipment and operating methods.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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Set forth below is a summary of the changes in the estimated quantities of our crude oil and condensate, and gas reserves for
the periods indicated, as estimated by us at December 31, 2011 and 2010. Our reserves are located in the North Sumatra Basin
offshore Indonesia and U.S. Gulf of Mexico. Proved reserves cannot be measured exactly because the estimation of reserves
involves numerous judgmental determinations. Accordingly, reserve estimates must be continually revised as a result of new
information obtained from drilling and production history, new geological and geophysical data and changes in economic
conditions.
Proved reserves are estimated quantities of gas, crude oil, and condensate that geological and engineering data demonstrate,
with reasonable certainty, are recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating
conditions. Proved developed reserves are proved reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with
existing equipment and operating methods.
Oil
(Bbls)

Natural Gas
(Mcf)

Quantity of Proved Oil and Gas Reserves
Total proved reserves at December 31, 2009

758

Revisions to previous estimates
Extensions, discoveries, improved recovery and other additions
Purchase of reserves in place
Sales of reserves in place
Production
Total proved reserves at December 31, 2010
Revisions to previous estimates
Extensions, discoveries, improved recovery and other additions
Purchase of reserves in place
Sales of reserves in place
Production
Total proved reserves at December 31, 2011
Proved developed reserves:
December 31, 2011
December 31, 2010
Total proved reserves:
December 31, 2011
December 31, 2010
59

127,849

(232)
—
139,915
—
(6,319)

59,269
—
—
—
(31,634)

134,122

155,484

(74,684)
131,040
—
—
(7,904)

(117,100)
—
—
—
(25,454)

182,574

12,930

31,564
30,171

12,930
155,484

182,574
134,122

12,930
155,484
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Capitalized Costs of Oil and Gas Producing Activities
The following table sets forth the aggregate amounts of capitalized costs relating to our oil and gas producing activities and the
aggregate amount of related accumulated depletion, depreciation, amortization as of:
December 31,
2011

Unproved properties and prospect generation costs not being
amortized
Proved properties being amortized
Total capitalized costs
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization
Net capitalized costs

$

2010

—

$

—

2,321,913

2,222,535

2,321,913

2,222,535

(1,269,305)

(1,063,480)

$ 1,052,608

$ 1,159,055

Costs Incurred in Oil and Gas Producing Activities
The following table reflects the costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, disposition, exploration and development
activities during the periods indicated:
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Costs incurred:
Acquisition of proved properties
Acquisition of unproved properties

$

Exploration costs
Development costs
Total costs incurred
60

—
—

$685,714
—

—
184,828

58,719
—

$184,828

$744,433
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Results of Operations for Oil and Gas Producing Activities
The results of operations from oil and gas producing activities below exclude non-oil and gas revenue, general and
administrative expenses, interest expense and interest income.
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Revenues from oil and gas producing activities
Production costs
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Impairment of oil and gas properties
Pretax income from producing activities
Income tax expense/estimated loss carryforward benefit
Results of oil and gas producing activities (excluding corporate
overhead and interest costs)

$ 1,342,718
(1,174,252)
(205,825)
(252,706)

$ 862,685
(673,768)
(195,438)
—

(290,065)

(6,521)

4,583
$ (285,482)

103
$

(6,418)

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows (Unaudited)
The following table reflects the Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows relating to our interest in proved oil
and gas reserves for:
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Future cash inflows
Future development costs
Future production costs
Future dismantlement and abadonment costs
Future income taxes
10% discount factor
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash inflows
(outflows)

$21,046,360
(2,333,450)
(7,329,560)
(573,600)
—
(1,482,310)

$11,449,829
(700,000)
(3,165,036)
—
—
(2,219,392)

$ 9,327,440

$ 5,365,401

Future net cash flows at each year end, as reported in the above schedule, were determined by summing the estimated annual
net cash flows computed by: (i) multiplying estimated quantities of proved reserves to be produced during each year by yearend prices and (ii) deducting estimated expenditures to be incurred during each year to develop and produce the proved
reserves (based on year-end costs).
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Income taxes were computed by applying year-end statutory rates to pretax net cash flows, reduced by the tax basis of the
properties and available net operating loss carry-forwards. The annual future net cash flows were discounted, using a prescribed
10% rate, and summed to determine the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flow.
We caution readers that the standardized measure information which places a value on proved reserves is not indicative of
either fair market value or present value of future cash flows. Other logical assumptions could have been used for this
computation which would likely have resulted in significantly different amounts. Such information is disclosed solely in
accordance with authoritative guidance and the requirements promulgated by the SEC to provide readers with a common base
for use in preparing their own estimates of future cash flows and for comparing reserves among companies. We do not rely on
these computations when making investment and operating decisions. Principal changes in the Standardized Measure of
Discounted Future Net Cash Flows attributable to our proved oil and gas reserves for the periods indicated are as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Beginning balance
Sales and transfers, net of production costs
Net change in sales and transfer prices, net of production costs
Extension, discoveries and improved recovery, net of future
production and development costs
Development costs incurred during the period that reduced future
development costs
Changes in estimated future development cost
Revisions of quantity estimates
Accretion of discount
Net change in income taxes
Change in production rates (timing) and other
Net change
Ending balance
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$ 5,365,401
(168,466)
2,258,537
7,301,830

$ 336,296
(188,917)
421,761
—

(56,967)
(544,099)
(3,293,469)
(536,540)
—
(998,787)

(45,500)
(32,186)
(39,618)
33,630
—
4,879,935

3,962,039

5,029,105

$ 9,327,440

$5,365,401
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of the end of the year covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of
our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act).
Based upon this evaluation, as of December 31, 2011, the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act, are recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-5(f) under the Exchange Act). Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Our
management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2011, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on
these criteria. This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm
regarding internal control over financial reporting pursuant to the permanent exemption for smaller reporting companies that
permit us to provide only management’s report.
Our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, does not expect our internal control
over financial reporting to prevent all error or fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control
system must take into account resource constraints. The benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because
of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues
and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Our internal control over financial reporting, however, is designed to provide
reasonable assurance that the objectives of internal control over financial reporting are met.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During the quarter ended December 31, 2011, there were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act), that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2012 annual
meeting of stockholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last
fiscal year.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2012 annual
meeting of stockholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last
fiscal year.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2012 annual
meeting of stockholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last
fiscal year.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2012 annual
meeting of stockholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last
fiscal year.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2012 annual
meeting of stockholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the last
fiscal year.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) List of documents filed as part of this report
3. Exhibits. We hereby file as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K the Exhibits listed in the attached Exhibit Index.
No.

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Blue Dolphin.(1)

3.2

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Blue Dolphin.(2)

4.1

Specimen Stock Certificate. (3)

4.2

Form of Promissory Note issued pursuant to the Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated September 8, 2004.(4)

4.3

Promissory Note of Lazarus Louisiana Refinery II, LLC, payable to Blue Dolphin dated July 31, 2009.(5)

10.1

Blue Dolphin 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. (6) *

10.2

First Amendment to the Blue Dolphin 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. (7) *

10.3

Second Amendment to the Blue Dolphin 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. (8) *

10.4

Fourth Amendment to the Blue Dolphin 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. (9) *

10.5

Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between Blue Dolphin Pipe Line Company and MCNIC, dated February 1, 2002.(10)

10.6

Sale of American Resources Offshore, Inc. Common Stock Agreement between Blue Dolphin Exploration Co. and Ivar
Siem, dated September 8, 2004. (4)

10.7

Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between Blue Dolphin, WBI Pipeline & Storage Group, Inc. and SemGas LP, dated
October 29, 2004. (11)

10.8

Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement by and among MCNIC Offshore Pipeline and Processing Company and Blue
Dolphin Pipe Line Company dated February 28, 2005. (12)

10.9

Placement Agency Agreement by and between Blue Dolphin and Starlight Investments, LLC dated May 27, 2005.(13)

10.10

Form of Stock Purchase Agreement between Blue Dolphin and Osler Holdings Limited, Gilbo Invest AS, Spencer Energy
AS, Spencer Finance Corp., Hudson Bay Fund, LP, Don Fogel and SIBEX Capital Fund, Inc. dated March 8, 2006. (14)

10.11

Loan and Option Agreement by and among Lazarus Energy Holdings, LLC, Lazarus Louisiana Refinery II, LLC, Lazarus
Energy, LLC, Lazarus Environmental, LLC, and Blue Dolphin dated July31, 2009. (15)

10.12

Sale and Purchase Agreement by and among Blue Dolphin Exploration Company, Blue Sky Langsa Limited and Blue Sky
Energy and Power Inc. dated July 21, 2010. (16)
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10.13

Option Agreement by and among Blue Dolphin Exploration Company, Blue Sky Langsa Limited and Blue Sky Energy
and Power Inc. dated July 21, 2010. (17)

10.14

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated July 12, 2011 by and among Blue Dolphin, Lazarus Energy Holdings, LLC,
Lazarus Louisiana Refinery II, LLC, Lazarus Texas Refinery II, LLC, Lazarus Environmental, LLC, Lazarus Energy,
LLC and Lazarus Energy Development, LLC. (18)

10.15

Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P. and Blue Dolphin Pipe Line
Company and Bitter Creek Pipelines, LLC dated August 3, 2011.**

10.16

Management Agreement by and between Lazarus Energy Holdings, LLC, Lazarus Energy, LLC and Blue Dolphin
effective as of February 15, 2012. (19)

14.1

Code of Ethics applicable to the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officer.(20)

21.1

List of Subsidiaries of Blue Dolphin. **

23.1

Consent of UHY LLP. **

23.2

Consent of American Energy Advisors, Inc. **

23.3

Consent of Lonquist & Co., LLC. **

31.1

Jonathan P. Carroll Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **

31.2

Tommy L. Byrd Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002. **

32.1

Jonathan P. Carroll Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **

32.2

Tommy L. Byrd Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002. **

99.1

Report of American Energy Advisors, Inc., Petroleum Engineer Consultant. **

99.2

Report of Lonquist & Co. LLC, Petroleum Engineer Consultant. **

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.**

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Schema Document.**

101.CAL

XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.**

101.LAB

XBRL Label Linkbase Document.**

101.PRE

XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.**

101.DEF

XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.**

*
**
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Management Compensation Plan.
Filed herewith
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 filed in connection with the Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated June 2, 2009 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act dated
December 26, 2007 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to exhibits filed in connection with Form 10-K of Blue Dolphin for the year ended December 31,
1989 under the Exchange Act dated March 30, 1990 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act dated
September 14, 2004 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
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(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated August 6, 2009 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix 1 filed in connection with the Proxy Statement of Blue Dolphin under the
Exchange Act dated April 20, 2000 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix B filed in connection with the definitive Proxy Statement of Blue Dolphin
under the Exchange Act dated April 16, 2003 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A filed in connection with the definitive Proxy Statement of Blue Dolphin
under the Exchange Act dated April 27, 2006 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit B filed in connection with the definitive Proxy Statement of Blue Dolphin under
the Exchange Act dated December 28, 2011 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 filed in connection with Form 10-KSB of Blue Dolphin under the
Exchange Act dated March 21, 2003 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated November 3, 2004 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated March 3, 2005 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filed in connection with Form 10-KSB of Blue Dolphin for the year ended
December 31, 2005 under the Exchange Act dated March 30, 2006 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 filed in connection with Form 10-KSB of Blue Dolphin for the year ended
December 31, 2005 under the Exchange Act dated March 30, 2006 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated August 6, 2009 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated July 21, 2010 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated July 21, 2010 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed in connection with Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin under the Exchange Act
dated July 22, 2011 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed in connection with Amendment No. 1 to Form 8-K of Blue Dolphin
under the Exchange Act dated March 14, 2012 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14.1 filed in connection with Form 10-KSB of Blue Dolphin for the year ended
December 31, 2004 under the Exchange Act dated March 25, 2005 (Commission File No. 000-15905).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
BLUE DOLPHIN ENERGY COMPANY
(Registrant)
By: /s/ JONATHAN P. CARROLL
Jonathan P. Carroll
Chief Executive Officer, President
Assistant Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 30, 2012
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ JONATHAN P. CARROLL
Jonathan P. Carroll

Chief Executive Officer, President,
Assistant Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 30, 2012

/s/ TOMMY L. BYRD
Tommy L. Byrd

Interim Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Assistant Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 30, 2012

/s/ IVAR SIEM
Ivar Siem

Chairman of the Board,
Director

March 30, 2012

/s/ LAURANCE N. BENZ
Laurence N. Benz

Director

March 30, 2012

/s/ JOHN N. GOODPASTURE
John N. Goodpasture

Director

March 30, 2012

/s/ A. HAAG SHERMAN
A. Haag Sherman

Director

March 30, 2012

/s/ HERBERT N. WHITNEY
Herbert N. Whitney

Director

March 30, 2012
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
By and Among
SUNOCO PARTNERS MARKETING & TERMINALS L.P.
and
BLUE DOLPHIN PIPE LINE COMPANY
and
BITTER CREEK PIPELINES, LLC
August 3, 2011
--
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of August 3, 2011, by and among Blue
Dolphin Pipe Line Company, a Delaware corporation (“Blue Dolphin”), and Bitter Creek Pipelines, LLC, a Colorado limited liability
company (“Bitter Creek”), Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek are collectively referred to herein as the S
“ eller”), and Sunoco Partners
Marketing & Terminals L.P., a Texas limited partnership (the “Buyer”). The Seller and the Buyer are sometimes referred to collectively
herein as the “Parties” and each individually as a “Party.”
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Seller owns the Assets (as hereinafter defined); and
WHEREAS, this Agreement contemplates a transaction in which the Buyer will purchase from the Seller, and the Seller will sell
to the Buyer, all of the Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the Assets in return for the consideration specified herein;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein made, and in consideration of the representations,
warranties, and covenants herein contained, the Parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Definitions.
“Adverse Consequences” means all actions, suits, proceedings, hearings, investigations, charges, complaints, claims, demands,
injunctions, judgments, orders, decrees, rulings, damages, dues, penalties, fines, costs, reasonable amounts paid in settlement,
liabilities, obligations, Taxes, liens, losses, expenses, and fees, including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses,
but excluding punitive, exemplary, special or consequential damages, unless such punitive, exemplary, special or consequential
damages are payable in connection with a Third Party Claim by an Indemnified Party.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any Person which directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under a
common control with such Person. The term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) as used
in the preceding sentence means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management
and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise.
“Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).
“Bill of Sale” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(f)(i).
1

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, federal holiday or state holiday in Houston, Texas, or any other
day on which national banks with offices in Houston, Texas, are authorized or required by Applicable Law to be closed.
“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the preface hereto.
“Buyer Easements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d).
“Buyer Parties” means the Buyer, its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, members, shareholders, employees and
agents, and their successors and permitted assigns.
“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(h).
“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(h).
“Closing Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c).
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor Law.
“Deeds” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(f)(ii).
“Dow Plant” means the Dow Chemical Freeport, TX processing plant where the Seller’s onshore natural gas pipeline terminates.
“Encumbrance” means any mortgage, deed of trust, lease, pledge, option, easement, right of way, encroachment, conditional
sales agreement, lien, encumbrance, charge, security interest, charge or restriction of any kind, or other defect in title.
“Environmental Law” or “Environmental Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 4(g)(i).
“Facility” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(b)(x).
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as in effect from time to time and consistently
applied.
“GIGS Valve Site” has the meaning set forth in Section 5(h).
“Governmental Authority” means the United States and any department, commission, board, bureau, court, agency or any other
instrumentality of any federal, state, provincial, county, city, municipal or other political subdivision, agency, court or instrumentality,
whether foreign or domestic.
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“Hazardous Substances” means all hazardous or toxic materials, substances and wastes which are regulated under any
Environmental Law or which may form the basis for liability under any Environmental Law.
“Identified Environmental Issue” shall have the meaning given said term in Section 4(g).
“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(e)(i).
“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(e)(i).
“Knowledge” means, in the case of the Seller, the actual knowledge of the officers and directors of Blue Dolphin after reasonable
investigation and inquiry and with respect to Bitter Creek, the actual knowledge of the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer without any requirement to investigate.
“Laws” means any statute, code, constitution, law, regulation, rule, writ, injunction, judgment, directive, order, decree, ruling,
charge, or other restriction of any applicable Governmental Authority.
“Material Adverse Effect” means any change or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with other changes or effects, is
materially adverse to the Assets and/or would cost in excess of $450,000 to cure or remedy, provided that in determining whether a
Material Adverse Effect has occurred, changes or effects relating to (i) the natural gas pipeline industry generally (including the price
of natural gas and the costs associated with the drilling and/or production of natural gas), (ii) United States or global economic
conditions or financial markets in general, or (iii) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, shall not be considered.
“Ordinary Course of Business” means the ordinary course of business consistent with the Seller’s commercially reasonable past
custom and practice (including with respect to quantity and frequency).
“Party” and “Parties” have the meanings set forth in the preface.
“Permitted Encumbrances” means any of the following: (i) any liens for Taxes not yet delinquent or, if delinquent, that are being
contested in good faith in the ordinary course of business; (ii) any obligations or duties reserved to or vested in any municipality or
other Governmental Authority to regulate any of the Assets in any manner including all applicable Laws; (iii) the terms and conditions
of all permits, licenses and other agreements set forth in Schedule 1; (iv) easements, rights of way, servitudes, permits, surface
leases and other rights with respect to surface obligations, pipelines, conditions, covenants or other restrictions, so long as
individually or in the aggregate they are not such as are reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect; and (v) materialmen’s,
mechanics’, repairmen’s, and other similar liens or
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charges arising in the ordinary course of business incidental to construction, maintenance or operation of the Assets (A) if they have
not been filed pursuant to law, (B) if filed, they have not yet become due and payable or (C) if their validity is being contested in good
faith in the ordinary course of business by appropriate action. For the purposes of clarity, the liabilities underlying the Permitted
Encumbrances described in subclauses (i) and (v) are Excluded Liabilities notwithstanding such liens or charges being Permitted
Encumbrances.
“Person” means any individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, association, joint stock company, trust, joint
venture, unincorporated organization, Governmental Authority or any other legal entity.
“Product Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(e).
“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(c).
“ROW Assignments” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(f)(ii).
“Seller” has the meaning set forth in the preface hereto.
“Seller Easements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(d).
“Seller Parties” means the Seller, its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, members, shareholders, employees and
agents, and their successors and permitted assigns.
“Seller’s Representative” has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).
“Tax” or “Taxes” means (i) any federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise,
severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Code §59A), custom duties, capital
stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar excises), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property,
sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax, assessment, charge, duty, levy
or other similar governmental charge of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether disputed or
not, together with all estimated taxes, deficiency assessments, additions to tax, penalties and interest; (ii) any liability for the payment
of any amount of a type described in clause (i) arising as a result of being or having been a member of any consolidated, combined,
unitary or other group or being or having been included or required to be included in any Tax Return related thereto; and (iii) any
liability for the payment of any amount of a type described in clause (i) or clause (ii) as a result of any obligation to indemnify or
otherwise assume or succeed to the liability of any other Person.
“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, estimate, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to
Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.
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“Third Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 6(e)(i).
2. Purchase and Sale.
(a) Assets. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Seller agrees to sell, and the Buyer agrees to purchase
from the Seller, the following assets (the “Assets”):
(i) that certain pipeline system located onshore in Brazoria County, Texas, which is commonly known as the “Buccaneer
Pipeline,” including the easements and rights-of-way listed on Exhibit 2(a)(i), and all pipelines, pumping station, barge terminal,
including loading birth, resting dolphins and related equipment and fixtures primarily used in the operation of the Buccaneer Pipeline;
(ii) those certain tracts or parcels of real estate described in Exhibit 2(a)(ii) (the L“ and”), including (A) all right-of-ways,
ingress and egress, easements, rights, benefits, privileges, hereditaments, tenements, remainders, interests, reversions and
appurtenances thereto belonging or in any way appertaining to the Land, (B) to the extent transferable, all access, air, water, riparian,
development, utility and solar rights related to the Land, and (C) any unused, undeveloped or abandoned platted street, road, alley,
highway, right-of-way or avenue, which is not on the Retained Land, opened or proposed, within, in front of, abutting or adjoining the
Land, to the centerline thereof;
(iii) all improvements upon the Land, including any buildings, storage tanks, including the onshore tanks numbered S-1000,
S-1001, S-1002, and S-1003, fixtures, facilities and other fixed assets located on and/or affixed to the Land and related equipment,
internal transfer pipelines and fixtures which are located on the Land on the date of this Agreement;
(iv) all other tangible personal property and fixtures that are used by the Seller primarily in the operation of the Assets,
including all pipes, piping, pumps, motors, valves, fittings, miscellaneous equipment, automation systems, personal computers,
printers and servers, electrical facilities, improvements, storage tanks, buildings and all other fixed assets and personal property;
(v) all books, files, maps, records and reports (including electronic data files that would not violate any license or Law)
pertaining primarily to the Assets other than income Tax Returns, income Tax work papers and other income Tax records, including
all pipeline and plant construction and testing records, vessel and pipe certifications and weld x-rays, equipment specifications and
operating manuals and inspection reports, real and personal property and ad valorem Tax records and information relating to the
other Assets, and reports and filings to and with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, the state of Texas or any other
Governmental Authority or agency thereof; and
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(vi) all permits, licenses, orders, concessions, certificates of occupancy and other governmental authorizations and
approvals obtained by the Seller pertaining or relating to the Assets, including those set forth on Exhibit 2(a)(vi) hereto, to the extent
legally assignable or transferable.
(b) Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding any provision of Section 2(a) hereof, the Assets do not include, and the Seller shall retain
all right, title and interest in and to the following assets (the “Excluded Assets”):
(i) all cash and cash equivalents of the Seller;
(ii) all accounts and notes receivable arising out of, resulting from or relating to the business and operations of the Assets
for periods up to the Closing Date, and all claims, causes of action and rights relating thereto and proceeds thereof;
(iii) all rights under insurance policies of the Seller and its Affiliates relating to the Assets;
(iv) all computer equipment;
(v) Tax credits, Tax refunds or other Tax assets relating to whole or partial taxable periods on or before the Closing Date;
(vi) Tax Returns, Tax work papers and other Tax records and information other than real and personal property and ad
valorem Tax records and information relating to the Assets;
(vii) All equipment located in the Seller’s offices;
(viii) The 20 inch liquids and natural gas pipeline offshore and onshore pipeline which terminates at the Facility which is
commonly known as the “Blue Dolphin Pipeline;”
(ix) Any real estate interests which are not expressly included in the Land (the “Retained Land”);
(x) The processing facility located on the Retained Land (the “Facility”);
(xi) The 16 inch natural gas pipeline which begins at the Facility and which terminates at the Dow Plant; and
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(xv) All inventory of crude oil and crude products located in any of the onshore tanks; and
(xvii) All other assets of Seller not specifically described in paragraph 2(a).
(c) Purchase Price. In consideration for the sale of the Assets, the Buyer agrees to pay to the Seller at the Closing $4,500,000
(the “Purchase Price”), less the Seller’s allocation for ad valorem and real property Taxes as set forth on the written agreement by the
Parties made in accordance with Section 2(j)(ii) (the resulting amount, the “Closing Payment”), payable by wire transfer of
immediately available funds as follows: 16 2/3% of the Closing Payment shall be paid to Bitter Creek, and 83 1/3% of the Closing
Payment shall be paid to Blue Dolphin.
(d) Easements. At the Closing, (i) the Seller shall deliver to the Buyer easements (the “Buyer Easements”) with respect to the
Retained Land in the form of Exhibit 2(d)-1, and (ii) the Buyer shall deliver to the Seller easements with respect to the Land (the
“Seller Easements”), in the form of Exhibit 2(d)-2.
(e) Product Agreement. At the Closing, Blue Dolphin and the Seller will enter into an agreement in the form of Exhibit 2(e) (the
“Product Agreement”).
(f) Conveyance Documents.
(i) At the Closing, the sale, transfer, assignment, conveyance and delivery of all tangible and intangible personal property,
any assignable permits and the books and records included in the Assets shall be effected pursuant to a bill of sale and assignment
agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit 2(f)(i) (“Bill of Sale”).
(ii) At the Closing, the transfer of the Land and improvements on the Land shall be effected pursuant to (1) one or more
special warranty deeds substantially in the form of Exhibit 2(f)(ii)-1 (the “Deeds”) and (2) one or more assignments of easements and
rights of way substantially in the form of Exhibit 2(f)(ii)-2 (the “ROW Assignments”).
(g) Excluded Liabilities. The Buyer shall not assume, and the Seller shall retain and be responsible for and shall pay and
discharge when due, any liabilities or obligations arising out of, resulting from or relating to any of the Assets, whether absolute,
contingent, matured or unmatured, arising or relating to events or circumstances occurring prior to or on the Closing Date
(collectively, the “Excluded Liabilities”), and specifically (but not by way of limitation), the Buyer shall not assume the following
liabilities and obligations:
(i) any accounts and notes payable arising out of, resulting from or relating to the Assets to the extent relating to or for
periods up to and including the Closing Date;
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(ii) all indebtedness of the Seller for borrowed money;
(iii) all Taxes arising out of, resulting from or relating to the Assets for whole or partial taxable periods on or before the
Closing Date; and
(iv) all Liabilities relating to the ownership, use, operation or disposition of the Assets prior to the Closing Date.
(h) The Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of
Stewart Title Company on the date hereof, or on such other date as the Buyer and the Seller’s Representative may mutually
determine (the “Closing Date”). The Closing will be effective as of 1:00 p. m. on the Closing Date.
(i) Deliveries at the Closing. At the Closing, (i) Blue Dolphin will deliver the Product Agreement and the Seller will deliver to the
Buyer the Buyer Easements, Bill of Sale, Deeds, ROW Assignments and various other certificates, instruments, and documents
required to be delivered by it pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) the Buyer will deliver to Blue Dolphin the Product Agreement and will
deliver to the Seller the Seller Easements and various other certificates, instruments, and documents required to be delivered by it
pursuant to this Agreement, (iii) the Seller will deliver to the Buyer such other instruments of assignment and transfer as shall be
necessary to transfer to the Buyer all of the Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the Assets free and clear of any Encumbrance
other than any Permitted Encumbrance, and (iv) the Buyer will deliver to the Seller the Closing Payment.
(j) Apportionments.
(i) Subject to Section 2(j)(ii) below, all charges, expenses, ad valorem and property Taxes and other costs payable with
respect to operating or owning any or all of the Assets, including water, electricity, sewage, gas, and all other utilities shall be prorated
between the Seller and the Buyer as of the Closing Date. Any charges, expenses, ad valorem and property Taxes and other costs
payable shall be deemed to have accrued when the event giving rise to such charge, expense, ad valorem and property Tax and
other cost payable occurred (whether or not such charge, expense, ad valorem and property Tax and other cost payable was invoiced
or paid at the Closing Date). All proceeds attributable to the operation, ownership, use or maintenance of or otherwise relating to the
Assets prior to the Closing Date shall be the property of the Seller. In the event, through inadvertence, mistake or otherwise, any such
proceeds are transferred to or received by the Buyer, the Buyer shall promptly and fully disclose, account for and transmit the same to
the Seller’s Representative (which shall distribute 1/6th of the proceeds to Bitter Creek and 5/6ths of the proceeds to Blue Dolphin). All
proceeds attributable to the operation, ownership, use or maintenance of or otherwise relating to the Assets after the Closing Date
shall be the property of the Buyer. In the event, through inadvertence, mistake or otherwise, any such proceeds are transferred to or
received by the Seller, the Seller shall promptly and fully disclose, account for and transmit the same to the Buyer.
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(ii) The Buyer shall be responsible for the actual payment of all ad valorem and property Taxes with respect to the Assets
for the calendar year in which the Closing occurs; provided, however, that the Seller shall reimburse the Buyer for its pro rata share of
such Taxes to the extent not previously paid by the Seller. An estimate of such ad valorem and property Taxes, based upon the prior
year’s ad valorem and property Tax assessments plus five percent (5%), together with a resulting calculation of the Closing Payment,
is attached hereto as Exhibit 2(j)(ii). Such amount shall be binding on the Parties as a final allocation of ad valorem and property
Taxes notwithstanding the actual amount of Taxes paid by the Buyer and shall be included as an adjustment to the Purchase Price
reflected in the Closing Payment, as described in Section 2(c). The ad valorem and property Taxes for the year of Closing for which
the Seller is responsible shall be determined by applying a fraction based on the number of days in the calendar year prior to the
Closing Date to such Taxes for the calendar year.
(k) Purchase Price Allocation. The Seller’s Representative and the Buyer shall, within thirty (30) days prior to the filing the
respective 2011 federal Tax Returns of Blue Dolphin, Bitter Creek and the Buyer attempt in good faith to agree to an allocation of the
Purchase Price among the Assets. Should the allocation be agreed to, the Buyer, Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek will (i) report the
federal, state and local income and other Tax consequences of the transactions contemplated herein, and in particular report the
information required by Section 1060(b) of the Code, and jointly prepare Form 8594 (Asset Acquisition Statement under Section 1060)
in a manner consistent with such allocation and (ii) not to take any position inconsistent therewith upon examination of any Tax
Return, in any refund claim, or in any litigation or investigation or otherwise, unless required by applicable Laws or with the consent of
the other Parties. Blue Dolphin, Bitter Creek and the Buyer agree that each will furnish to the others a copy of Form 8594 proposed to
be filed with the Internal Revenue Service by such Party or any Affiliate thereof within ten (10) days prior to the filing of such form with
the Internal Revenue Service. Should the Parties not agree as to the allocation, they shall so indicate the same on their respective
Form 8594 to the extent required by the Asset Acquisition Statement under IRC Section 1060. The Buyer further agrees that if the
amount of the Purchase Price allocated to any of the Assets by the Seller and the Buyer increases (or decreases) after the taxable
year that includes the Closing Date, the Seller and the Buyer shall file “Supplemental Asset Acquisition Statements” on Form 8594
with their respective income Tax Returns for the taxable year in which the increase (or decrease) is properly taken into account.
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3. Representations and Warranties Concerning the Transaction.
(a) Representations and Warranties of the Seller. Blue Dolphin hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer, with respect to
Blue Dolphin, and Bitter Creek hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer, with respect to Bitter Creek, as follows:
(i) Organization of the Seller. Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek are each, and on the Closing Date each will be, a corporation
and a limited liability company respectively, duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing, in the case of Blue Dolphin under
the Laws of the state of Delaware, and in the case of Bitter Creek under the Laws of the state of Colorado, and are each duly qualified
or licensed to do business as a foreign entity in all states where it is necessary and required to be so qualified or licensed in order to
perform the obligations and effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(ii) Authorization of Transaction. Each of Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek has full power and authority to (i) own and operate
the Assets and to carry on its business with respect to the Assets as currently conducted and (ii) execute and deliver this Agreement
and to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, and all other documents required hereunder
to be executed and delivered by the Seller, and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly
authorized by such action, corporate or otherwise, necessary on behalf of each of Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek. This Agreement
constitutes, and each document required to be executed and delivered by each of Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek hereunder shall
constitute, the valid and legally binding obligation of each of Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek, enforceable in accordance with its terms
and conditions, subject, however, to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws affecting
creditors’ rights generally, and to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding
in equity or at law). Except as set forth on Schedule 3(a)(ii), the Seller need not give any notice to, make any filing with, or obtain any
authorization, consent, or approval of any Governmental Authority in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.
(iii) Noncontravention. Except for the approvals and filings specified in Schedule 3(a)(ii), or as set forth in Schedule 3(a)(iii),
neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the performance by Seller of its obligations hereunder, nor the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will (A) violate any provision of the constituent organizational documents of
either Blue Dolphin or Bitter Creek, (B) violate any statute, regulation, rule, injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, charge, or
other restriction of any Governmental Authority to which either each of Blue Dolphin or Bitter Creek is subject or any provision of its
charter or bylaws, or (C) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party
the right to accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or require any notice, approval or consent under any agreement, contract, lease,
license, instrument, or other arrangement to which either Blue Dolphin or Bitter Creek is a party
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or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, except for such violations, defaults, breaches, or other occurrences
that do not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of the Seller to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.
(iv) Brokers’ Fees. The Seller has no liability or obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder, agent or
any other Person with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for which the Buyer could become liable or
obligated.
(b) Representations and Warranties of the Buyer. The Buyer hereby represents and warrants to the Seller as follows:
(i) Organization of the Buyer. The Buyer is, and on the Closing Date will be, a limited partnership duly organized, validly
existing, and in good standing under the Laws of the state of Texas, and is duly qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign entity
in all states where it is necessary and required to be so qualified or licensed in order to perform the obligations and effect the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(ii) Authorization of Transaction. The Buyer has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to
perform its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, and all other documents required hereunder to be
executed and delivered by Buyer, and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly
authorized by such action, limited partnership or otherwise, necessary on behalf of the Buyer. This Agreement constitutes, and each
document required to be executed and delivered by Buyer hereunder shall constitute, the valid and legally binding obligation of the
Buyer, enforceable in accordance with its terms and conditions, subject, however, to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium, or similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and to general principles of equity (regardless of
whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law). The Buyer need not give any notice to, make any filing
with, or obtain any authorization, consent, or approval of any Governmental Authority in order to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.
(iii) Noncontravention. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the performance by Buyer of its
obligations hereunder, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will (A) violate any provision of the constituent
organizational documents of Buyer, (B) violate any statute, regulation, rule, injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, charge, or
other restriction of any Governmental Authority to which the Buyer is subject, or (C) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a
default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or require any
notice, approval or consent under any agreement, contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement to which the Buyer is a
party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, except for such violations, defaults, breaches, or other
occurrences that do not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Buyer to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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(iv) Brokers’ Fees. The Buyer has no liability or obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder, agent or
any other Person with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for which the Seller could become liable or
obligated.
(v) Financing. The Buyer has sufficient financial resources to enable it to make payment of the Closing Payment at Closing
without encumbrance or delay and without causing the Buyer to become insolvent or to declare insolvency.
4. Representations and Warranties Concerning the Assets. The Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer as follows:
(a) Noncontravention. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, will (i) violate any Law or other restriction of any Governmental Authority to which the Assets are subject or
(ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to
accelerate, terminate, modify, or cancel, or require any notice or trigger any rights to payment or other compensation under any
agreement, contract, lease, license, instrument, or other arrangement to which any of the Assets is subject (or result in the imposition
of any Encumbrance upon any of the Assets), except where the violation, conflict, breach, default, acceleration, termination,
modification, cancellation, failure to give notice, right to payment or other compensation, or Encumbrance would not have a Material
Adverse Effect, or would not materially adversely affect the ability of the Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, or (iii) result in the cancellation, forfeiture, revocation, suspension or modification of any Assets or any existing permits or
other governmental authorizations pertaining to the Assets.
(b) Title to Assets. Seller has good and defensible title to the Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except for (i) Permitted
Encumbrances, and (ii) the Encumbrances disclosed in Schedule 4(b). Blue Dolphin has an undivided 5/6 interest in the Assets, and
Bitter Creek has an undivided 1/6 interest in the Assets; no other party has any interest in the Assets.
(c) Material Change. Except as set forth in Schedule 4(c), since February 28, 2011:
(i) there has not been any Material Adverse Effect;
(ii) the Assets have been prudently operated and maintained in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(iii) there has not been any material damage, destruction or loss to any material portion of the Assets, whether or not
covered by insurance;
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(iv) there has been no change affecting any of the Assets with any customers, licensors, suppliers, distributors or sales
representatives, except for changes that do not have a Material Adverse Effect; and
(v) there is no contract, commitment or agreement by Seller to do any of the foregoing, except as expressly permitted
hereby.
(d) Legal Compliance. The Assets are in legal compliance with all applicable Laws of all Governmental Authorities as they are
currently enforced, except where the failure to comply would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The Seller makes no
representations or warranties in this Section 4(e) with respect to Environmental Laws, for which the sole representations
and warranties of the Seller are set forth in Section 4(g).
(e) Contracts and Commitments. There are no material contracts or commitments with respect to the Assets (including any
contract, lease, agreement or commitment, written or oral, providing for receipt or payment, contingent or otherwise, of $25,000 or
more, or which may not be terminated without payment or penalty, or containing any indemnity obligation, or relating to indebtedness
or guarantee obligations, or concerning the transportation or processing of the products of any party by means of the Assets) to which
the Seller or any of its Affiliates is a party, or which concerns the Assets as of the date hereof, with respect to which the Buyer will
have any legal obligation to perform after Closing.
(f) Litigation. Schedule 4(f) sets forth each instance in which either Blue Dolphin or Bitter Creek (with respect to the Assets) or
the Assets (i) is subject to any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge or (ii) is a party to or the subject of
any action, suit, proceeding, hearing, or investigation of, in, or before any court or quasi-judicial or administrative agency of any
federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction, or is the subject of any pending or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened claim, demand,
or notice of violation or liability from any party.
(g) Environmental Matters. Except as set forth in Schedule 4(g):
(i) The Seller (with respect to the Assets) is in compliance with all applicable Laws (including common law) relating to
(A) the control of any pollution or protection of human health and the environment (including the air, water, land surface or substrata),
(B) solid, gaseous or liquid waste generation, handling, treatment, storage, disposal or transportation, (C) releases of or exposure to
any Hazardous Substances and (D) the protection of the environment, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. section 9601, et seq. (“CERCLA”), the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act of 1976, as amended, 42 U.S.C. section 6901, et seq., the Clean Air Act, as
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amended, 42 U.S.C. section 7401, et seq., the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. section 1251, et seq., and
the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, 33 U.S.C. section 2701, et seq. (collectively, the “Environmental Laws” and individually an
“Environmental Law”), except for such instances of noncompliance that individually or in the aggregate do not have a Material
Adverse Effect.
(ii) The Seller (with respect to the Assets) has obtained all permits, licenses, franchises, authorities, consents, and
approvals, and has made all filings and maintained all material information, documentation, and records, as necessary under
applicable Environmental Laws for operating the Assets and all such permits, licenses, franchises, authorities, consents, approvals,
and filings remain in full force and effect, except for such matters that individually or in the aggregate do not have, or would not
reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.
(iii) There are no pending or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened, claims, demands, actions, administrative proceedings
or lawsuits against the Seller (with respect to the Assets), and neither the Seller nor any of the Assets are subject to any outstanding
injunction, judgment, order, decree or ruling under any Environmental Laws.
(iv) The Seller has not received any written notice that it is or may be a potentially responsible party under CERCLA or any
analogous state law in connection with any site actually or allegedly containing or used for the treatment, storage or disposal of
Hazardous Substances.
(v) The Seller acknowledges, as of the Closing Date, the presence of the environmental conditions and/or potential
noncompliance with Environmental Laws with respect to benzene levels identified in the Limited Phase II Environmental Assessment
– Blue Dolphin Processing Facility dated July 7, 2011 and prepared by Groundwater & Environmental Services, Inc. for Sunoco
Logistics Partners, L.P., which is referred to herein as the “Identified Environmental Issue.” The Identified Environmental Issue shall
be subject to Section 5(f).
The Seller makes no representation or warranty regarding any compliance or failure to comply with, or any actual or contingent
liability under, any Environmental Law, except as expressly set forth in this Section 4(g).
(h) Permits. Except as set forth in Schedule 4(h), the Seller owns or holds all franchises, licenses, permits, consents, approvals,
and authorizations of all Governmental Authorities necessary for the conduct of the business conducted with the Assets (collectively,
the “Permits”), except for Permits whose absence would not have a Material Adverse Effect. Each Permit is in full force and effect,
and the Seller (with respect to the Assets) is in compliance with all of its obligations with respect to each Permit, except where the
failure to be in full force and effect or to be in compliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect, and, to the Seller’s
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Knowledge, no event has occurred that permits, or upon the giving of notice or the lapse of time or otherwise would permit,
revocation or termination of any Permit except such as would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
(i) Pipeline Rights-of-Way. Except as expressly set forth in Schedule 4(i), the Seller has not received written notice from any
third party and does not have Knowledge of any deficiency in any rights-of-way or other easements with respect to the entire route of
all pipelines owned and used or held for use with respect to the Assets. The Seller has not sold or assigned any such rights-of-way
and/or easements, in whole or in part, or any undivided interest therein, to any party whatsoever.
(j) Condition of Assets. Except as set forth in Schedule 4(j), the Assets constitute all of the tangible assets, real and personal,
and permits reasonably necessary for Seller to operate the Assets as of the date hereof. Except as set forth in Schedule 4(j), to the
Knowledge of Seller, the Assets: (i) are in serviceable and functional condition, (ii) have been maintained to normal industry
standards,(iii) are suitable for the purposes used by the Seller, and there is no imminent repair or replacement pending with respect
to the Assets.
(k) Taxes. Except as set forth in the Schedule 4(k), the Seller has timely filed all material federal, state, local and foreign Tax
returns related to the Assets and has paid (except amounts being diligently contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and
disclosed in Schedule 4(k)) when due all Taxes arising from or related to the Assets, including any interest, penalties or additions
attributable thereto shown as due on all such filings. Taxes which the Seller was required by applicable Laws to withhold or collect
arising from or related to the Assets have been withheld or collected and have been paid over to the proper Governmental Authority
or are properly held by the Seller for such payment when due and payable.
(l) Disclaimer of Representations and Warranties Concerning Personal Property, Equipment, and Fixtures. The Buyer
acknowledges that (i) it has had and pursuant to this Agreement will have before Closing access to the Seller and the Assets, and the
officers and employees of the Seller and (ii) in making the decision to enter into this Agreement and consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby, the Buyer has relied solely on the basis of its own independent investigation and upon the express
representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements set forth in this Agreement and in the other agreements referred to herein.
Accordingly, the Buyer acknowledges that, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement and in the other agreements referred to
herein, the Seller has not made, and THE SELLER MAKES NO AND DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY,
WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AND WHETHER BY COMMON LAW, STATUTE, OR OTHERWISE, REGARDING (A) THE
QUALITY, CONDITION, OR OPERABILITY OF ANY PERSONAL PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT, OR FIXTURES, (B) ITS
MERCHANTABILITY, (C) ITS FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, (D) ITS CONFORMITY TO MODELS, SAMPLES OF
MATERIALS OR MANUFACTURER DESIGN, AND ALL PERSONAL
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT IS DELIVERED “AS IS, WHERE IS” IN THE CONDITION IN WHICH THE SAME EXISTS, OR
(E) ANY INFORMATION, DATA OR OTHER MATERIALS (WRITTEN OR ORAL) FURNISHED TO BUYER BY OR ON BEHALF OF
SELLER (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, IN RESPECT OF THE EXISTENCE OR EXTENT OF OIL, GAS OR OTHER
MINERAL RESERVES, THE RECOVERABILITY OF OR THE COST OF RECOVERING SUCH RESERVES, OR THE LIKELIHOOD
THAT SUCH RESERVES, IF RECOVERED, WILL BE TRANSPORTED OR PROCESSED BY MEANS OF THE ASSETS).
5. Post-Closing Covenants. The Parties agree as follows:
(a) General. In case at any time after the Closing any further action is necessary to carry out the purposes of this Agreement,
each of the Parties will take such further action (including the execution and delivery of such further instruments and documents) as
the other Party reasonably may request, all at the sole cost and expense of the requesting Party (unless the requesting Party is
entitled to indemnification therefore under Section 6, in which case the allocation of such cost and expense shall be in accordance
with Section 6).
(b) Litigation Support. In the event and for so long as any Party actively is contesting or defending against any action, suit,
proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand in connection with (i) any transaction contemplated under
this Agreement or (ii) any fact, situation, circumstance, status, condition, activity, practice, plan, occurrence, event, incident, action,
failure to act, or transaction involving the Assets, the other Party shall reasonably cooperate with the contesting or defending Party
and its counsel in the defense or contest, make available its personnel, and provide such testimony and access to its books and
records (other than books and records which are subject to privilege or to confidentiality restrictions) as shall be reasonably
necessary in connection with the defense or contest, all at the sole cost and expense of the contesting or defending Party (unless the
contesting or defending Party is entitled to indemnification therefor under Section 6, in which case the allocation of such cost and
expense shall be in accordance with Section 6), but there shall be no cost to the contesting or defending Party for the direct labor
cost of employees of the other Party.
(c) Delivery and Retention of Records. On or promptly after the Closing Date, the Seller will deliver or cause to be delivered to
the Buyer all files, records, ad valorem and real property Tax records, information and data relating to the Assets, together with all of
the Seller’s and its subsidiaries’ contractual rights to request other such files, records, information, and data from any third party
(other than income Tax Returns, income Tax workpapers and other income Tax records and information that are in the possession or
control of the Seller and its subsidiaries) (the “Records”). The Buyer agrees (i) to hold the Records and not to destroy or dispose of
any thereof for a period of 4 years from the Closing Date or such longer time as may be required by Law, provided that, if it desires to
destroy or dispose of such Records during such period, it will first offer in writing at least 60 days before such destruction or
disposition to
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surrender them to the Seller’s Representative and if the Seller’s Representative does not accept such offer in writing within 20 days
after receipt of such offer, the Buyer may take such action and (ii) following the Closing Date to afford the Seller’s Representative, its
accountants, and counsel, during normal business hours, upon reasonable request, at any time, full access to the Records and to the
Buyer’s employees to the extent that such access may be requested for any legitimate purpose at no cost to the Seller’s
Representative (other than for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses), so long as such access does not unreasonably interfere with
Buyer’s operations, is conducted during normal business hours and is limited solely to such legitimate purpose; provided that such
access will not be construed to require the disclosure of Records that would cause the waiver of any attorney-client, work product or
like privilege; provided, further, that in the event of any litigation nothing herein shall limit either Party’s rights of discovery under
applicable Law. The Buyer shall have the same rights, and the Seller shall have the same obligations, as are set forth in this
Section 5(c) with respect to any copies of the records of the Seller pertaining to the Assets that are retained by the Seller, provided
that such access will not be construed to require the disclosure of records that would cause the waiver of any attorney-client, work
product, or like privilege.
(d) Mail; Communications.
(i) The Seller hereby authorizes the Buyer from and after the Closing to receive and open all mail and other
communications relating to the business conducted with the Assets, and to act with respect to such communications in such manner
as the Buyer may elect to the extent that such communications relate to the rights and obligations of the Buyer with respect to the
Assets. If any communication does not relate exclusively to the rights and obligations of the Buyer with respect to the Assets, the
Buyer shall forward the original or a copy of such communication promptly to the Seller’s Representative.
(ii) The Seller shall promptly deliver to the Buyer the original or a copy of any mail or other communication received by it
after the Closing pertaining to the Assets.
(e) Certificate of Non-foreign Status. On the Closing Date, each of Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek shall provide the Buyer
with a properly executed certificate of non-foreign status in accordance with Treasury Regulation §1.1445-2(b) certifying under
penalties of perjury that such Party is not a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445(f) of the Code and Treasury Regulation
§1.1445-2(b).
(f) Identified Environmental Issue. As promptly as may be practicable following Closing, the Seller shall perform such
remediation work to the extent required to obtain a closure letter from the Texas Railroad Commission with respect to the Identified
Environmental Issue. Such remediation work shall be done at the expense and risk of the Seller. The Buyer shall cooperate with the
Seller with respect to such remediation work to the extent reasonably required by Seller. Upon the obtainment of such closure letter,
Seller shall no longer have any liability or responsibility for the Identified Environmental Issue.
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(g) Division of Tax Parcels. The Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to effectuate the division of any tax
parcels of land for which Seller does not acquire a 100% interest in as part of the Land, including (i) Lot 1 of the Brazos County
Investment Company Subdivision No. 10, in the F.J. Calvit League, Abstract 51, Brazoria County, Texas and (ii) a 105.52 acre tract
out of the F.J. Calvit League, Abstract 51, Brazoria County, Texas, said tract being more particularly described by metes and bounds
in a deed from Shell Oil Company recorded in Volume 1058, Page 783 of the Deed Records, Brazoria County, Texas, as promptly as
may be practicable following Closing.
(h) GIGS Valve Site Easement. Within 90 days of the Closing Date, Blue Dolphin shall perform a survey of the “GIGS”
pipeline constructed pursuant to the easement granted to TPC Transmission, Inc. and Buccaneer Land Partnership dated
September 12, 1980 recorded in the Official Real Property Records of Brazoria County, Texas in Volume (89)730, Page 366, and
shall determine an appropriate valve site on the Land (if any) for a connection between Seller’s Blue Dolphin Pipeline and the “GIGS”
pipeline, which shall be for a parcel of land of a size no less than 30 feet by 30 feet and no more 100 feet by 100 feet (the “GIGS
Valve Site”); provided that (i) Blue Dolphin shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize the amount of land required for the
GIGS Valve Site and (ii) the GIGS Valve Site shall not unreasonably interfere with the operations of the Buccaneer Pipeline as of the
Closing Date. After Blue Dolphin has determined the GIGS Valve Site, Buyer shall execute in favor of Seller an easement in
substantially the same form as Exhibit 2(d)-2 “Pipeline and Valve Site Easement” for a 2-year term; provided that such easement shall
provide that when Seller completes construction of a stub-up/GIGS connection, such stub-up/GIGS connection to be reasonably
acceptable to Buyer, such easement shall become permanent with no additional fee, subject to abandonment and removal provisions
in the easement; provided further, that such easement shall provide that Seller may renew the easement for successive one-year
periods prior to the expiration of the term by paying to Buyer $10,000 per calendar year, escalated 3% annually, due 30 days prior to
the expiration of the easement.
6. Remedies for Breaches of this Agreement.
(a) Claim Relating to Pre-Closing and Post Closing Obligations. From and after the Closing the Seller will indemnify the
Buyer Parties against any Adverse Consequences relating to claims brought by Third Parties which arise from the operation of the
Assets prior to the Closing. From and after the Closing the Buyer will indemnify the Seller Parties against any Adverse Consequences
relating to claims brought by Third Parties which arise from the operation of the Assets subsequent to the Closing.
(b) Survival of Representations, Warranties and Certain Covenants. (i) All of the
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representations and warranties of the Seller contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing hereunder for a period of one year
after the Closing Date, provided that the representations of the Seller contained in Sections 3(a)(i), 3(a)(ii), 3(a)(iv) and 4(b) shall
survive the Closing indefinitely, and the representations made by the Seller in Section 4(k) shall survive until 60 days following the
expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (taking into account any extensions thereof). The representations and warranties of
the Buyer contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing for a period of one year after the Closing Date, provided that the
representations of the Buyer contained in Sections 3(b)(i), 3(b)(ii) and 3(b)(iv) shall survive the Closing indefinitely. The covenants
contained in this Agreement to be performed after the Closing shall survive the Closing indefinitely.
(c) Indemnification Provisions for Benefit of the Buyer.
(i) From and after the Closing, in the event that: (x) the Seller breaches any of its representations and warranties contained
herein (other than the representations and warranties in Section 3(a)(i), (ii) and (iv) and Section 4(b)); and (y) a Buyer Party makes a
written claim for indemnification against the Seller pursuant to Section 10(g) within the applicable survival period as set forth in
Section 6(b), then the Seller shall indemnify the Buyer Parties from and against any Adverse Consequences to the extent in excess
of $10,000 per breach to the extent they are caused proximately by the breach and suffered by the Buyer Parties; provided, that the
Seller shall not have any obligation to indemnify the Buyer Parties from and against any such Adverse Consequences (A) until the
Buyer Parties have suffered Adverse Consequences by reason of all such breaches in excess of a $100,000 aggregate deductible
(after which point the Seller will be obligated only to indemnify the Buyer Parties from and against further such Adverse
Consequences) or thereafter (B) to the extent the Adverse Consequences the Buyer Parties have suffered by reason of all such
breaches exceeds a $1,125,000 aggregate ceiling (after which point the Seller will have no obligation to indemnify the Buyer Parties
from and against further such Adverse Consequences). Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek’s liability is several and not joint and as such,
Blue Dolphin’s aggregate ceiling is $937,500 and Bitter Creek’s aggregate ceiling is $187,500.
(ii) From and after the Closing, in the event the Seller breaches any of its representations and warranties in Section 3(a)(i),
(ii) or (iv) or Section 4(b) or its post-Closing covenants contained herein (other than the covenants in Section 2(g)), then the Seller
shall indemnify the Buyer Parties from and against the entirety of any Adverse Consequences caused proximately by the breach and
suffered by the Buyer Parties through and after the date of the claim for indemnification, up to a maximum aggregate indemnification
amount equal to the Purchase Price. Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek’s liability is several and not joint and as such, Blue Dolphin’s
aggregate indemnification amount is 5/6 ths of the indemnification amount and Bitter Creek’s aggregate indemnification amount is 1/6th
of the indemnification amount.
(iii) Except for (A) the rights of indemnification provided in Section 6(a), this
19

Section 6(c), Section 6(d) and in the Product Agreement, (B) the covenants in Section 6(a), which the Buyer may specifically enforce,
(C) rights with respect to any agreement entered into by the Parties after the Closing Date, and (D) claims arising out of the Seller’s
actual fraud or willful misconduct, the Buyer hereby waives any claim or cause of action pursuant to common or statutory law or
otherwise against the Seller regarding obligations and liabilities of any nature whatsoever that are attributable to the Assets, whether
arising before or after the Closing Date.
(d) Indemnification Provisions for Benefit of the Seller.
(i) From and after the Closing, in the event that: (x) the Buyer breaches any of its representations and warranties contained
herein (other than the representations and warranties in Section 3(b)(i), (ii) and (iv)); and (y) a Seller Party makes a written claim for
indemnification against the Buyer pursuant to Section 6(g) within the applicable survival period as set forth in Section 6(b), then the
Buyer shall indemnify the Seller Parties from and against any Adverse Consequences to the extent in excess of $10,000 per breach
to the extent they are caused proximately by the breach and suffered by the Seller Parties; provided, that the Buyer shall not have
any obligation to indemnify the Seller Parties from and against any such Adverse Consequences (A) until the Seller Parties have
suffered Adverse Consequences by reason of all such breaches in excess of a $100,000 aggregate deductible (after which point the
Buyer will be obligated only to indemnify the Seller Parties from and against further such Adverse Consequences) or thereafter (B) to
the extent the Adverse Consequences the Seller Parties have suffered by reason of all such breaches exceeds a $1,125,000
aggregate ceiling (after which point the Buyer will have no obligation to indemnify the Seller Parties from and against further such
Adverse Consequences).
(ii) From and after the Closing, in the event the Buyer breaches any of its representations and warranties in Section 3(b)(i),
(ii) or (iv) or its post-Closing covenants contained herein, then the Buyer shall indemnify the Seller Parties from and against the
entirety of any Adverse Consequences caused proximately by the breach and suffered by the Seller Parties through and after the
date of the claim for indemnification, up to a maximum aggregate indemnification amount equal to the Purchase Price.
(iii) Except for (A) the rights of indemnification provided in Section 6(a), this Section 6(d), and in the Product Agreement,
(B) the covenants in Section 6(a), which the Seller may specifically enforce, (C) rights with respect to any agreement entered into by
the Parties after the Closing Date, and (D) claims arising out of the Buyer’s actual fraud or willful misconduct, the Seller hereby
waives any claim or cause of action pursuant to common or statutory law or otherwise against the Buyer regarding obligations and
liabilities of any nature whatsoever that are attributable to the Assets, whether arising before or after the Closing Date.
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(e) Matters Involving Third Parties.
(i) If any third party shall notify any Seller Party or Buyer Party (the “Indemnified Party”) with respect to any matter (a “Third
Party Claim”) that may give rise to a claim for indemnification against any Party (the “Indemnifying Party”) under this Section 6, then
the Indemnified Party shall promptly (and in any event within 10 Business Days after receiving notice of the Third Party Claim) notify
the Indemnifying Party thereof in writing. The failure of any Indemnified Party to give notice of any such Third Party Claim on a timely
basis shall not affect the rights of the Indemnified Party to indemnification hereunder unless the Indemnified Party demonstrates
actual and material Adverse Consequences caused by such failure, in which case the Indemnified Party’s right to be indemnified shall
be reduced to the extent the Indemnifying Party demonstrates actual and material Adverse Consequences caused by such failure.
(ii) The Indemnifying Party (provided that for purposes of this Section 6(e) the Seller’s Representative shall have the sole
and exclusive right to act on behalf of the Seller as Indemnifying Party) will have the right to assume and thereafter conduct the
defense of the Third Party Claim with reputable counsel of its choice reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party; provided that,
prior to the Indemnifying Party assuming control of such defense it shall first verify to the Indemnified Party in writing that such
Indemnifying Party shall be fully responsible (with no reservation of any rights) for all Adverse Consequences relating to such claim
for indemnification and that (subject to all monetary limitations set forth herein) it shall provide full indemnification (subject to the
monetary limitations set forth herein) to the Indemnified Party with respect to such Third Party Claim giving rise to such claim for
indemnification hereunder; provided further, however, that notice of the intention to so contest and defend shall be delivered by the
Indemnifying Party to the Indemnified Party within 30 calendar days following receipt of the notice of the Third Party Claim.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to assume control of such defense (unless otherwise
agreed to in writing by the Indemnified Party) and shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel retained by the Indemnified
Party if (A) the claim for indemnification relates to or arises in connection with any criminal or quasi criminal Proceeding; (B) the claim
seeks an injunction or equitable or other non-monetary relief against the Indemnified Party; (C) the Indemnified Party has been
advised by counsel that a reasonable likelihood exists of a conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified
Party that would make it inappropriate in the reasonable judgment of such counsel, that the same counsel represent both the
Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party; (D) upon petition by the Indemnified Party, the appropriate court rules that the
Indemnifying Party failed or is failing to vigorously prosecute or defend such claim; or (E) the Indemnified Party reasonably believes
that the Adverse Consequences relating to the Claim could exceed the maximum amount that such Indemnified Party could then be
entitled to recover under the applicable provisions of this Section 6. The Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in such
Third Party Claim and to be represented by counsel of its own choosing at its own cost and expense. The Indemnifying Party will not
consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third Party Claim without the prior written
consent of the Indemnified Party (not to be withheld unreasonably), unless the judgment or proposed
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settlement (A) involves only the payment of money damages and does not impose an injunction or other equitable relief upon the
Indemnified Party, (B) does not involve a payment of money damages that exceeds the maximum amount that such Indemnified Party
could then be entitled to recover under the applicable provisions of this Section 6, and (C) provides that the Indemnified Party will be
fully and completely released from any further liability or obligation with respect to the matters which are the subject of such Third
Party Claim, in which case consent shall not be required.
(iii) Unless and until the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of the Third Party Claim as provided in subsection 6(d)
(ii), the Indemnified Party may defend against the Third Party Claim in any manner it reasonably may deem appropriate, and the
Indemnifying Party shall be responsible for all costs incurred in connection therewith.
(iv) In no event will the Indemnified Party consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to
the Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party, which consent shall not be withheld unreasonably;
provided that, (A) if the Indemnifying Party does not give notice to the Indemnified Party of its election to contest and defend any such
Third Party Claim in accordance with Section 6(d)(ii), then no such consent shall be required and the Indemnifying Party shall be
bound by the result obtained with respect thereto by the Indemnified Party and (B) the Indemnified Party may consent to the entry of
any judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to the Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying
Party if such judgment or settlement would result in no liability to the Indemnifying Party pursuant to this Section 6.
(f) Determination of Amount of Adverse Consequences. The Adverse Consequences giving rise to any indemnification obligation
hereunder shall be limited to the actual loss suffered by the Indemnified Party (i.e., reduced by any insurance proceeds or other
payment or recoupment received, realized or retained by the Indemnified Party as a result of the events giving rise to the claim for
indemnification net of any expenses related to the receipt of such proceeds, payment or recoupment, including retrospective or
prospective premium adjustments, if any). The amount of the actual loss and the amount of the indemnity payment shall be computed
by taking into account the timing of the loss or payment, as applicable, using a 10 percent interest or discount rate, as appropriate.
Upon the request of the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnified Party shall provide the Indemnifying Party with information sufficient to
allow the Indemnifying Party to calculate the amount of the indemnity payment in accordance with this Section 6(f). An Indemnified
Party shall take reasonable steps to mitigate damages in respect of any claim for which it is seeking indemnification and shall use
reasonable efforts to avoid any costs or expenses associated with such claim and, if such costs and expenses cannot be avoided, to
minimize the amount thereof.
(g) Special Indemnification Provisions. Notwithstanding any terms and provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, from and
after the Closing, the Seller hereby covenants and
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agrees to protect, defend, indemnify and save the Buyer, its successors and assigns, harmless from and against any and all Adverse
Consequences incurred in connection with or arising out of all breaches, if any, by the Seller of its covenants to the Buyer under
Section 2(g) above, or otherwise relating to or arising from the Excluded Liabilities.
(h) BUYER AND SELLER (I) AGREE THAT ONLY ACTUAL DAMAGES SHALL BE RECOVERABLE UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT AND (II) HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO RECOVER SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR
EXEMPLARY DAMAGES EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT ANY SUCH PARTY SUFFERS SUCH DAMAGES TO AN UNAFFILIATED
THIRD-PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH A THIRD-PARTY CLAIM, IN WHICH EVENT SUCH DAMAGES SHALL BE RECOVERABLE
AS PROVIDED PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THIS SECTION 6.
(i) Liability of Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek under this Agreement, including this Section 6, is several and not joint.
7. Miscellaneous.
(a) Seller’s Representative. Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek hereby designate Blue Dolphin as the representative for the Seller
(collectively, the “Seller’s Representative”) to represent Blue Dolphin and Bitter Creek, as the Seller, from and after the date hereof in
all matters relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. The Seller’s Representative shall have the following
powers and duties: (i) to take the actions contemplated to be taken by the Seller’s Representative under this Agreement; (ii) to
compromise, modify, settle, waive, relinquish, exchange, liquidate or otherwise resolve the rights of the Seller in and to any amounts
that are or may be payable after the Closing Date by the Seller to the Buyer hereunder, which compromise, modification, settlement,
waiver, relinquishment, exchange, liquidation or resolution may include payment to the Buyer of cash, property or any combination
thereof; (iii) to compromise, modify, settle, waive, relinquish, exchange, liquidate or otherwise resolve the rights of the Seller in and to
any amounts that are or may be payable after the Closing Date by the Buyer to the Seller hereunder, which compromise,
modification, settlement, waiver, relinquishment, exchange, liquidation or resolution may include payment to the Seller of cash,
property or any combination thereof; (iv) to take all actions the Seller’s Representative deems necessary or advisable on behalf of the
Seller pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and (v) to take all actions which the Seller’s Representative deems necessary or
advisable in order to carry out the foregoing. The Seller’s Representative shall consult with Bitter Creek in performing actions under
this section. The Seller’s Representative shall serve without compensation, but shall be entitled to reimbursement from Bitter Creek
for 1/6th of its costs and expenses. The Seller’s Representative shall not be liable to Bitter Creek for the performance of any act or
failure to act in such capacity so long as it does not act (or fail to act) in bad faith. The Seller’s Representative shall be entitled to
indemnity from Bitter Creek from and against 1/6th of any and all damages which may at any time be imposed on, incurred by or
asserted against the Seller’s
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Representative in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any related agreement or instrument or any action taken or
omitted to be taken by the Seller’s Representative under or in connection therewith, unless such damages resulted from the bad faith
of the Seller’s Representative.
(b) Press Releases and Public Announcements. No Party shall issue any press release or make any public announcement
relating to the subject matter of this Agreement before the Closing without the prior written approval of the other Party, which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or denied; provided that any Party may make any public disclosure it believes in good
faith is required by applicable Law or any listing or trading agreement concerning its publicly traded securities (in which case the
disclosing Party will use its commercially reasonable efforts to advise the other Party before making the disclosure).
(c) No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall not confer any rights or remedies upon any Person other than the Parties
and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
(d) Succession and Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties named herein and
their respective successors and permitted assigns. No Party may assign either this Agreement or any of its rights, interests or
obligations hereunder without the prior written approval of the other Party; provided that Buyer may assign its interest in this
Agreement, in whole or in part, at or prior to Closing.
(e) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but which
together will constitute one and the same instrument. Facsimile or other electronic copies (such as .pdf files delivered by electronic
mail) of signatures shall constitute original signatures for all purposes of this Agreement and any enforcement hereof.
(f) Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any
way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
(g) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications hereunder will be in writing. Any notice, request,
demand, claim, or other communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given two Business Days after it is sent by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below:
24

If to the Buyer:
Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P.
One Fluor Daniel Drive, Bldg A, Level 3
Sugar Land, TX 77478
Attention: Vice President of Business Development
FAX: 877-501-4380
with a copy to counsel (which copy shall not constitute notice to the Buyer):
Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P.
1818 Market Street, Suite 1500
Philadelphia, PA 19103
Attention: General Counsel
Fax: (215) 977-3565
If to the Seller:
Blue Dolphin Pipe Line Company
801 Travis Street, Suite 2100
Houston, Texas 77002
Fax: (713) 227-7626
Attention: President
Bitter Creek Pipelines, LLC
1250 West Century Avenue
Bismarck, ND 58503
Fax: (701)530-1596
Attention: Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
If to the Seller’s Representative:
Blue Dolphin Pipeline Company
801 Travis Street, Suite 2100
Houston, Texas 77002
Fax: (713) 227-7626
Attention: President
Additionally, any Party may send any notice, request, demand, claim, or other communication hereunder to the intended
recipient at the addresses set forth above using any other means (including personal delivery, expedited courier, messenger service,
telecopy, ordinary mail, facsimile or electronic mail), and such notice, request, demand, claim, or other communication shall be
deemed to have been duly given when it actually is received by the intended recipient. Any Party may change the address to which
notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving the other Party notice in the
manner herein set forth.
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(h) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic Laws of the state of
Texas without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the state of Texas or any other jurisdiction)
that would cause the application of the Laws of any jurisdiction other than the state of Texas.
(i) Amendments and Waivers. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the same shall be in
writing and signed by the Buyer and the Seller. No waiver by any Party of any default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or
covenant hereunder, whether intentional or not, shall be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent default, misrepresentation, or
breach of warranty or covenant hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or subsequent such
occurrence.
(j) Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall
not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending
term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. The Parties furthermore agree to execute and deliver such
amendatory contractual provisions to accomplish lawfully as nearly as possible the goals and purposes of the provision so held to be
invalid or unenforceable.
(k) Transaction Expenses. Buyer and Seller shall each pay 50% of the costs of the survey of the Land by Topographic, including
the access road on Lot 107 and surveys of Seller’s other pipelines located on the Land. Buyer shall pay 100% of the costs to acquire
its title policy on the Land. Except as expressly otherwise set forth herein, each of the Buyer and the Seller will bear its own costs and
expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.
(l) Certain Taxes. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Seller will file all necessary Tax Returns and
other documentation with respect to all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other Taxes and fees in connection
with this Agreement, and, if required by applicable law, the Buyer will, and will cause its Affiliates to, join in the execution of any such
Tax Returns and other documentation. The Buyer will pay to the Seller, on or before the date such payments are due from the Seller,
any transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other Taxes and fees incurred in connection with this Agreement.
(m) Construction. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an
ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no
presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this
Agreement. Any reference to any federal, state, local, or foreign statute or Law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise. The word “including” shall mean including without
limitation.
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(n) Incorporation of Exhibits and Schedules. The Exhibits and Schedules identified in this Agreement are incorporated herein by
reference and made a part hereof.
(o) ENTIRE AGREEMENT. THIS AGREEMENT (INCLUDING THE DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO HEREIN) CONSTITUTES
THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES AND SUPERSEDES ANY PRIOR UNDERSTANDINGS, AGREEMENTS, OR
REPRESENTATIONS BY OR AMONG THE PARTIES, WRITTEN OR ORAL, TO THE EXTENT THEY HAVE RELATED IN ANY
WAY TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF.
*****
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
BUYER:
SUNOCO PARTNERS MARKETING & TERMINALS
L.P.
By: Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations GP LLC,
its general partner
By:
Name:
Title:
SELLER:
BLUE DOLPHIN PIPE LINE COMPANY
By:
Name:
Title:
BITTER CREEK PIPELINES, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:
[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement]

Exhibit 21.1
List of Subsidiaries of Blue Dolphin Energy Company (“Blue Dolphin”):
-

Lazarus Energy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company(1) (“LE”);

-

Blue Dolphin Exploration Company, a Delaware corporation;

-

Blue Dolphin Pipe Line Company, a Delaware corporation;

-

Blue Dolphin Services Co., a Texas corporation;

-

Blue Dolphin Petroleum Company, a Delaware corporation; and

-

Petroport, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
(1)

Blue Dolphin acquired one hundred percent (100%) of the issued and outstanding membership interests of LE
effective February 15, 2012.

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-134156, 333-38606 and
333-124908) of Blue Dolphin Energy Company of our report dated March 30, 2012, with respect to the consolidated financial
statements of Blue Dolphin Energy Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and for each of the years in the
two-year period ended December 31, 2011, which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2011.
/s/ UHY LLP
Houston, Texas
March 30, 2012

Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ENGINEERS
American Energy Advisors, Inc. (the “AEA”) hereby consents to the references to its firm in the form and context in which they appear
in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and any amendments thereto filed by Blue Dolphin
Energy Company. AEA hereby further consents to the use and incorporation by reference of information from its reports regarding
those quantities estimated by AEA of proved reserves of Blue Dolphin Energy Company and its subsidiaries, the future net revenues
from those reserves and their present value for the year ended December 31, 2011.
American Energy Advisors, Inc.
Irvine, CA
March 15, 2012
By: /s/ STEHEN A. LIEBERMAN
Stephen A. Lieberman
President

Exhibit 23.3

Consent of Richard R. Lonquist, P. E.
President
Lonquist & Co., LLC
I consent to the incorporation by reference of my report dated March 15, 2012, which appears in the December 31, 2011 annual
report on Form 10-K of Blue Dolphin Energy Company.
/s/ RICHARD R. LONQUIST, P.E.
Richard R. Lonquist, P.E.
March 5, 2012

Exhibit 31.1
I, Jonathan P. Carroll, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Blue Dolphin Energy Company (the “Registrant”).

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the periods covered by this annual report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this annual report;

4.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and we have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual
report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this annual report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of this annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the Registrant’s Board of Directors:
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2012
/s/ JONATHAN P. CARROLL
Jonathan P. Carroll
Chief Executive Officer, President, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
I, Tommy L. Byrd, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Blue Dolphin Energy Company (the “Registrant”).

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the periods covered by this annual report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this annual report;

4.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and we have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual
report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this annual report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of this annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the Registrant’s Board of Directors:
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2012
/s/ TOMMY L. BYRD
Tommy L. Byrd
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF
PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Blue Dolphin Energy Company (the “Blue Dolphin”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2011 (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Jonathan P. Carroll,
Chief Executive Officer, President, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary (Principal Executive Officer) of Blue Dolphin, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Blue Dolphin.
/s/ JONATHAN P. CARROLL
Jonathan P. Carroll
Chief Executive Officer, President, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)
March 30, 2012

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Blue Dolphin Energy Company (the “Blue Dolphin”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2011 (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Tommy L. Byrd,
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary (Principal Financial Officer) of Blue Dolphin, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Blue Dolphin.
/s/ TOMMY L. BYRD
Tommy L. Byrd
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)
March 30, 2012

Exhibit 99.1

March 14, 2012

Blue Dolphin Petroleum Company
Attention: Karen Evans
801 Travis Street, Suite 2100
Houston, TX 77002
Re:

Langsa Oilfield, Offshore Indonesia

An updated reserve analysis was performed for the Langsa “L” and “H” fields, located in TAC-Langsa Offshore Block, AcehNorth Sumatra, Indonesia, and contracted under a Technical Assistance Contract (“TAC”) from Indonesia’s State Oil Company
(Pertamina) by Blue Dolphin Petroleum Company (“BDP”). Projections of the reserves and future net revenue to the evaluated
interest were based on economic parameters and operating conditions applicable as of January 1, 2012. This report has been
prepared pursuant to the guidelines of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) by American Energy
Advisors, Inc.
The effective date of the evaluation is: January 1, 2012.
Reserves and future revenue net to BDP’s interest are estimated to be:
Blue Dolphin Petroleum Co.
2011 Average Oil Price

Estimated
Net Reserves

Effective
1/1/2012

Estimated
Future Net Revenue

Net to 7% WI and 5.20625% NRI (+ reversion)
Not
Gas
Discounted
Discounted @10%
(MMCF)
(M$)
(M$)

Reserve Category

Oil &
Condensate
(MBO)

Proved Developed Producing:
Proved Non-Producing:
Proved Undeveloped:

7.300
24.290
151.010

24.880
0.000
0.000

228.420
1,275.640
9,339.710

199.460
1,139.720
8,018.050

Total Proved:

182.600

24.880

10,843.770

9,357.230

Probable:
Possible:

0.000
8.980

0.000
0.000

0.000
43.150

0.000
10.100

Total Not Proved:

8.980

0.000

43.150

10.100

Field Abandonment:

0.000

0.000

(87.500)

(51.400)

191.580

24.880

Total All Reserve Categories:

10,799.420

9,315.930

Oil reserves are expressed in barrels, one of which is equivalent to 42 United States gallons. There are no gas reserves.
The reserves and future revenue estimated in this report are for all known potential reserve categories.
Pursuant to applicable SEC rules, the future net revenue is discounted at an annual rate of ten percent to determine the
discounted future net revenue. Revenue discounted at 10% is shown only to indicate the effect of time on the value of money and
should not be construed as being the fair market value of the properties.
15635 Alton Pkwy, Ste. 295 • Irvine, CA 92618 • Ph: 949-242-3636 • Fax: 949-242-3635
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Cash flow projections do not include any credits or liabilities associated with Indonesian federal income taxes. The working and
net revenue interest information was provided by BDP.
Following is a summary of the criteria used for this evaluation:
Field Summary—The Langsa TAC consists of two fields: the “L” field, and the “H” field. Both fields were discovered by Mobil in 1979
and 1980, respectively. To date four wells have been drilled in each field. All four wells in the “L” Field are currently shut in. In the “H”
Field two of the wells have been P&A’d, one is “preserved”, and one is currently producing. The wells are completed subsea in 325 ft
of water and produce via flexible pipelines to a Floating Production Storage and Offloading barge (“FPSO”).
All wells are completed in a highly-fractured dolomite named the “Malacca Formation” at approximately 5,400’ in the “L” Field, and
5,060’ in the “H” Field. The Malacca thickness ranges from +100’ to +290’, is normal pressured, and it is probable that reservoir
pressure is maintained below the bubble point and at near original reservoir pressure by a strong water drive. In fact, the drive is so
effective and the secondary fracturing so permeable that coning is a significant problem in the field. All wells flowed naturally, and
have been tested and/or produced at oil rates exceeding 3,500 BOPD with no water production. Average GOR ranges 500 to 800
SCF/STBO. Gas production is flared.
Cumulative oil production through December, 2011 is approximately 2,150,000 STBO from the “L” Field, and ~1,789,000 STBO from
the “H” Field. Oil gravity is +46º API.
Ownership—BDP owns 7% working interest and 5.20625% net revenue interest, and therefore pays this working interest
proportional share of all costs associated with producing and operating the TAC-Langsa Offshore Block. Under the TAC, BDP will be
paid 5.20625% of the oil sales until a current total “cost recovery pool” of approximately $59,300,000 (to 100% ownership) plus any
additional investments and ongoing operating costs after December, 2012 are recovered.
After the “cost recovery pool” is recovered, BDP’s share of oil sales reverts to 1.795%. Based on the reserve projections herein,
reversion is expected to occur during March, 2013.
100% of the ownership of the Langsa TAC reverts back to Pertamina in August, 2017.
Proved Developed Producing (PDP)—The “H” Field has one vertical producing well: #H-4. There are no wells currently producing
in the “L” Field. The H-4 well was initially produced at +1,600 BOPD, however due to a downhole problem it is “choked” back, and
currently produces an average +375 BOPD, 535 MCFD with no water. It is evident that this production rate is low enough to inhibit
coning in this field.
The H-4 has been declining hyperbolically since February, 2001 at a b = .57 exponent, and a current 29.3%/year decline. A
sudden increase in Gas-Oil ratio (“GOR”) occurred in January-February, 2011, which could be an indication that reservoir pressure
has declined to below the bubble point, or that the gas cap evident on logs has expanded or communicated through fractures to the
wellbore. However without current reservoir pressure data and until this GOR exceeds that ratio produced when it was known that the
reservoir pressure was below the bubble point (period 2004 thru 2010), a conclusion that the reservoir pressure is not being
maintained by a strong water drive can’t be made.
The current producing decline is therefore expected to continue until the water table rises to the bottom of the wellbore. When
the oil/water contact reaches the H-4 wellbore, the well will begin loading, and at that point production is projected to decline at
90% per year until the well dies. Currently there is no way to artificially lift wells in the Langsa Fields.
15635 Alton Pkwy., Ste. 295 ❑ Irvine, CA 92618 ❑ Phone (949) 242-3636 ❑ Fax (949) 242-3635
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It was determined that if the additional wells included herein as undeveloped locations in the “H” Field were drilled and placed
on production by September, 2012 as assumed by BDP, the oil/water contact would reach the H-4 wellbore by approximately April,
2013. It is projected to produce an additional 174,000 BO, and ultimately recover 1,960,000 BO.
Proved Developed Non-Producing (PDNP) –
“L” Field: The L-1 well was the discovery well for the Langsa Fields, and produced about 302,000 BO before being shut in
September, 2008 due to problems with the well’s subsea safety valve. It was flowing ~60 BOPD, 1260 BWPD at the time. The cost to
repair the faulty valve and restore production would currently be uneconomic, so no reserves were assigned to the L-1.
For this report it was assumed that the wellbore would be preserved and disconnected from the FPSO when a rig is contracted
for other well operations in the fields at a cost of $500,000. At which time the other producers in this area of the “L” Field deplete, this
vertical well should be re-entered and perforated in the Malacca gas cap, in order to drain any non-recovered “attic” (upstructure)
reserves that remain.
The L-4 well was drilled horizontally in the Malacca in early 2007. The lateral portion of the well was placed more than 150’
above the o/w contact, however upon testing it produced nearly 100% water. It is suspected that the well either crossed a fault or a
high-permeability fracture that was in communication with the water table. The vertical (or slanted) portion of the hole above the
lateral has about 55’ of open hole section.
For this report it was assumed that in December, 2012 the lateral portion of the well would be cemented back to the vertical
section and the well returned to production for an approximate cost of $6,320,000. The projected producing rate was restricted to
2,200 BOPD to inhibit coning, but declined at 48% per year to account for reservoir depletion and increasing water cut. The well is
estimated to ultimately recover 950,000 BO.
“H” Field: There are no “H” Field proved developed non-producing reserves.
Proved Undeveloped (PUD)—the following reserve calculations are by lease:
“H” Field: The H-3 vertical well was drilled in 1980 by Mobil and was successfully tested as a Malacca producer. At the time,
there were no production facilities, so the well was “preserved” for future use with strategically-placed cement plugs. It is located in
the northern end of the reservoir, outside of the area that could be drained by the H-4 well prior to the expiration of the Langsa TAC.
The H-3 could be re-entered and produced as a vertical well, but without the ability to artificially lift, the well would eventually load up
and leave significant up-structure reserves undrained. In addition, coning could be a problem.
This report therefore assumes that the H-3 would be re-entered and kicked-off horizontally near the top of the Malacca zone,
resulting in about a 750’ to 1,000’ horizontal well. The re-entry is scheduled for August, 2012, and the estimated cost is $6,320,000
including savings resulting from using the existing wellbore.
The projected producing rate was restricted to 3,000 BOPD, which declines hyperbolically at the same rate as the H-4 well.The
well is estimated to ultimately recover 2,653,000 BO.
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An additional well, the H-5, is necessary to drain the reserves located in the southern portion of the field. Recent re-examination
of the seismic data for this field indicates that there is probably a barrier between this proposed location and the H-4, which further
supports the need for an additional well to drain the “h” reservoir. The well would be located approximately 2,500’south and 500’ west
of the existing H-4 well, and drilled horizontally with a 750’ to 1,000’ lateral. The H-5 is planned to be drilled and placed on production
in September, 2012, for an estimated cost of $12, 650,000.
The projected producing rate was restricted to 3,000 BOPD, which declines hyperbolically at the same rate as the H-4 well.The
well is estimated to ultimately recover 1,626,000 BO.
“L” Field: The L-2 vertical well was the second well in the Langsa area, and produced about 472,000 BO before being shut in
October, 2002. It was producing 490 BOPD and 800 BWPD at the time, and may still be able to be produced. However the well is not
currently connected to the FPSO due to a limited number of existing FPSO connection points.
The well was drilled in a structurally lower position compared to the other wells in the field, and without a withdrawal point
upstructure in this portion of the reservoir, significant “attic” reserves would remain unrecovered at TAC termination. For this report it
was assumed that the L-2 would be re-entered in October, 2012, and a horizontal lateral drilled in a slightly more porous interval of
the Malacca, which terminates approximately 1000’ north of the existing wellbore location for an estimated cost of $6,320,000.
The projected producing rate was restricted to 700 BOPD to prevent coning, but declined at 22% per year to account for ongoing
skin damage and pressure depletion. The well is estimated to ultimately recover 650,000 BO.
The L-3 Horizontal well recovered 1,375,000 BO before being shut in due to a faulty subsea safety valve in April, 2007.
However water production began 8 months after it was placed on production in January, 2005. The lateral was located approximately
150’ above the o/w contact, but +140’ below the gas/oil contact. Water communication thru vertical fractures was suspected.
For this report it was assumed that the L-3 well would be re-entered, and a new lateral drilled to the southwest, close to the g/o
contact at -5,382’. This would recover most of the remaining “attic” (upstructure) oil trapped above the current lateral by the strong
water drive, as well as the reserves between the current L-3 lateral and the top of the L-4 open-hole section. The L-4 casing shoe is
approximately 89’ below the structurally highest location of the top of the Malacca dolomite in this area of the reservoir, and another
withdrawal point is needed upstructure to recover oil above this point.
The L-3 is assumed to be drilled in July, 2012, for approximately $1,725,000. The projected producing rate was restricted to 700
BOPD to prevent coning, but declined at 5% per year due to ongoing skin damage. The well is estimated to ultimately recover
1,000,000 BO.
Possible Undeveloped (POSS)—
“L” Field: A development location named the “L-2B” has been identified that is located 1,250’ northwest of the existing L-2
vertical wellbore. According to the 3D seismic interpretation of the “L” Field, this location is fault-separated from the developed portion
of the
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“L” Field, and structurally lower than the estimated current structural location of the o/w contact. However it is possible that if this
portion of the reservoir is not drained, it could ultimately produce 400,000 BO.
The L-2B is assumed to be drilled in January, 2013, for approximately $10,000,000. The projected producing rate was restricted
to 700 BOPD to prevent coning, but declined at 13% per year due to reservoir depletion and encroaching water production.
Product Prices: SEC regulations require future revenues for oil and gas properties to be projected on the basis of product prices
averaged over the 12 month period prior to the effective date of the report without escalation or reduction.
Oil Pricing – Oil sold from the TAC Langsa area is paid according to the “Indonesia Crude Price” (“ICP”). A review of the
previous 18 months of ICP pricing indicates that this index varies at about a 20.9% bonus to NYMEX commodity pricing for sweet,
light crude, which was applied to the pricing case used for this evaluation.
For this report AEA used the 12-month crude price average prior to January 1, 2012, which was $95.08/BO.
Gas Pricing – there are no gas sales from this project.
Taxes: There are no production taxes in Indonesia. However there is a 2% VAT tax on expenses paid, which was included for both
the fixed and variable costs described below.
Operating/Abandonment Costs: The following costs were applied for the TAC Langsa projections. All such costs were provided by
BDP:
Fixed costs – Operating the FPSO costs approximately 1,045,000 per month, which was allocated to the individual wells by a
proportion according to each well’s production rate per month. This cost applies as long as the FPSO is being utilized, and does not
depend on the number of producing wells. For example – if only one well is producing (which is the current status of the field), the one
well carries the entire fixed cost burden.
Variable costs – The operator of the FPSO is paid 3% of the gross revenue produced from the TAC-Langsa, which was
calculated and labeled a “transportation cost” in the report.
Operating costs include workover (stimulation, perforating, repairs, etc.) costs.
Abandonment cost – An abandonment cost of $1,250,000 per well was applied when each well depletes, but no later than
August, 2017, which is the date of TAC Langsa contract termination. Abandonment cost can be prepaid to be included in the Cost
Recovery Pool reversion calculation, which was assumed for this report.

Report Qualifications
The estimated revenues and present value of these revenues are not represented as market value.
Actual individual lease performance may vary from the projections, particularly in comparison to the total composite production from
all properties.
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Market prices for oil and gas production continue to be subject to a variety of seasonal and market influences resulting in substantial
variations in pricing levels. These variations in product prices may affect projections of economically recoverable reserves in some
cases.
American Energy Advisors, Inc. is completely independent of BDP and any of its officers or key personnel. Neither I nor anyone
closely associated with me or American Energy Advisors, Inc. have any relationship with or ownership of BDP interests that would
impair such independence.
If you require additional information or assistance, please do not hesitate to call.
Sincerely:
/s/ STEPHEN A. LIEBERMAN, PETROLEUM ENGINEER
Stephen A. Lieberman, Petroleum Engineer
15635 Alton Pkwy., Ste. 295 ❑ Irvine, CA 92618 ❑ Phone (949) 242-3636 ❑ Fax (949) 242-3635
email: aeasal@aol.com

Exhibit 99.2

March 15, 2012
Mr. Tommy Byrd
Blue Dolphin Energy Company
801 Travis Street, Suite 2100
Houston, Texas 77002
Re: Blue Dolphin Energy Company
Year End Reserve Report
Gulf of Mexico
as of December 31, 2011
SEC Guideline Case
Dear Mr. Tommy Byrd:
Pursuant to your request, Lonquist & Co., LLC (“L&Co”) has estimated the future oil and gas Reserves and projected the associated
future revenues net to the interests owned by Blue Dolphin Energy Company as of December 31, 2011. Assets located in the Gulf of
Mexico are included in this report. As shown in the following table, Proved Developed Producing (“PDP”) Reserves were evaluated in
this report.
Our conclusions, as of December 31, 2011, are summarized below:

SEC Pricing as of December 31, 2011

Estimated Future Net Oil/Condensate, bbl
Estimated Future Net Gas, MMcf
Estimated Future Net NGL, bbl

Proved Developed
Producing
Non-Producing

Net to Blue Dolphin Energy Company
Proved
Total
Total
Undeveloped
Proveda
Probable

Total
Possible

Grand
Totala

25.85
12.93
0.00

0
0
0

0
0
0

25.85
12.93
0.00

0
0
0

0
0
0

25.85
12.93
0.00

Total Future Gross Revenue, M$
Estimated Future Production Taxes, M$
Estimated Future Operating Expenses, M$
Estimated Future Capital Costs, M$
Estimated Future Net Revenue (“FNR”), M$
Discounted FNR at 10%, M$
Discounted FNR at 15%, M$

56.51
0.00
41.92
48.60
-34.01
-29.79
-27.98

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

56.51
0.00
41.92
48.60
-34.01
-29.79
-27.98

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

56.51
0.00
41.92
48.60
-34.01
-29.79
-27.98

Estimated Net Revenues by Year, M$
2012
2013
2014
Subtotal
Thereafter
Total

14.18
-48.19
0.00
-34.01
0
-34.01

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

14.18
-48.19
0.00
-34.01
0
-34.01

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

14.18
-48.19
0.00
-34.01
0
-34.01

0.06
30.79
0.00

0
0
0

0
0
0

0.06
30.79
0.00

0
0
0

0
0
0

0.06
30.79

Estimated Average Net Production Rate – 2012
Oil/Condensate, B/D
Gas, Mcf/D
NGL, B/D
a

Totals might not match detailed cash flows due to computer rounding
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Purpose of Report
This report has been prepared to provide the management of Blue Dolphin Energy Company with a projection of estimated remaining
Reserves and projected future net revenues as of December 31, 2011 to meet their Security and Exchange Commission SX reporting
requirements. These estimates have not been adjusted for risk.
Standards of Practice
This report has been prepared in accordance with our understanding of the Securities and Exchange Commission, SX Reg. § 210.410, dated November 18, 1981 as amended September 19, 1989, requiring adherence to definitions of “Proved” oil and gas Reserves.
Additionally, at the request of Blue Dolphin, and within the most recently adopted and accepted SEC guidelines (Modernization of Oil
and Gas Reporting; Final Rule; January 14, 2009), we have evaluated the Proved Reserves. The SEC oil and gas Reserve definitions
are attached hereto.
Liquid hydrocarbon volumes are expressed in standard 42-gallon barrels. All natural gas volumes are sales gas expressed at the
official pressure and temperature bases of the areas in which the gas Reserves are located.
All currencies in this report are expressed in U.S. dollars.
Reserve Estimates
Extrapolation of historical production data was utilized for those producing properties where sufficient data were available to suggest
decline trends. Reserves assigned to the remaining producing property were determined by performance trends.
As of December 31, 2011, the total PDP net remaining Reserves were estimated to be 26 barrels of oil/condensate and 12.93 MMcf
of gas. The net present value, discounted at 10%, of the PDP Reserves was ($29,790). This value is negative due to plug and
abandonment costs. The Reserve life index (“R/P”) for the PDP Reserves was estimated to be 1.2 years based on a 6:1 conversion
rate.
Product Prices and Differentials
The base product prices of $96.04 per barrel and $4.18 per MMbtu utilized herein are reported by the Energy Information
Administration for the closing Contract 1 NYMEX futures oil and gas prices on the first trading day of each month, averaged over the
2011 calendar year. NGL prices in this report were input as 100% of the oil price, and then an NGL price differential was applied on
an individual lease basis.
As required by SEC regulations, no price escalations are included in this report. Realized product prices in this report reflect
adjustments for heating content, premiums and basis differentials. Where applicable, transportation costs have been included.
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Operating Costs and Expenditures
Direct lease operating expenses were input as dollars per month into the economic models. These data were supplied by Blue
Dolphin Energy Company. Operating costs were not escalated in this report.
The individual well projections of oil and gas cease when the operating expenses exceed the gross revenues.
Values Not Considered
In all cases, we have attempted to account for all deductions from gross revenues except for the following:
•

Federal Income Taxes

•

Depreciation, depletion, and/or amortization, if any

•

Costs in excess of revenues of uneconomic leases

•

Environmental restoration costs, if any

•

Product price hedges, if any

No value has been assigned to non-producing acreage or to acreage held by production.
Report Qualifications
Estimates of future revenues were based on projections of recoverable hydrocarbons, rates of production, timing of recompletions
and drilling, proration by state and federal agencies, operating costs, direct taxes, and product prices. Any unusual combination of the
many factors, including weather, political risk or acts of terrorism could result in future receipts being considerably less or more than
those estimated herein.
THE REVENUES AND PRESENT WORTH OF FUTURE NET REVENUES ARE NOT REPRESENTED TO BE MARKET VALUES
EITHER FOR THE INDIVIDUAL PROPERTIES OR IN A TOTAL PROPERTY BASIS.
The Reserves and revenues for specific properties should be considered in context with the overall report.
Data Sources
Historical production data were obtained from Blue Dolphin Energy Company and public sources, such as DrillingInfo,com, HPDI,
LLC, Lasser Production Data Services, and IHS Energy Data Services. This production data was generally updated though
December 2011.
We retain in our files digital databases for all properties and certain other hard copy information that we believe pertinent. We have
not inspected the properties evaluated in this report, nor have we conducted independent well tests.
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Independent Evaluation
Neither Lonquist & Co., LLC nor any of its employees have any interest or ownership in the subject properties, and neither our
employment nor compensation is contingent on our findings herein.
Sincerely,
(SEAL)

LONQUIST & CO., LLC
Texas Registration No. F-8952
/s/ RICHARD R. LONQUIST, P.E.
Richard R. Lonquist, P.E.
Senior Petroleum Engineer
Texas License No. 73008
Date Signed: March 15, 2012
Austin, Texas

